MainBoss Advanced 4.0 Day-to-Day Operations

Copyright © 2016, Thinkage Ltd.

Permission granted to reproduce and/or translate all or part of this document provided that Thinkage's copyright notice is included in the result. No money may be charged for such documentation except to recover all or part of the cost of reproduction and/or translation.

Table of Contents

Welcome to MainBoss Advanced	1
Documentation conventions	1
MainBoss Concepts	2
The MainBoss Control Panel	8
Identification Codes and Descriptions	
Table Viewers	
Special Selection Actions	
Hiding the Details for a Selected Record	14
Active and All in Table Viewers	14
The Active Filter	
Table Filters	
Customized Table Settings	
Form Customization	
Selecting Multiple Table Entries	
Editors	
Drop-Down Lists (Pickers)	
Errors	
Reports	
Report Sections	
Report Buttons	
The Preview Window	
Select For Printing	
Paper Size and Margins	
Formatting in Columns	
Charts	
Interrelated Records	
Accounting Facilities	
Corrections	
Security Roles	
Cost-Related Security Roles	
Bar Code Support	
Assignments	
My Assignment Overview	
Online Help	
MainBoss Sessions	50
Maintenance Organizations	

Changing to a Different Maintenance Organization	51
Quitting MainBoss	51
Locations and Contacts	52
Locations	52
Postal Addresses	54
Sub Locations	57
Contacts	58
Requests	61
What is a Request?	61
Requestors	61
Codes Used in Requests	
Request States	
Creating a Request	63
Working with Requests	65
Typical Request Life Cycle	
Request Status Codes	67
Printing Requests	67
Request Reports	70
Requests and MainBoss Service	71
	70
work Orders	
Work Order States	73
Work Order States Creating a Work Order	
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order	
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information	
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources	
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order	73 73 75 75 78 80 81 85
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 80 81 81 85 88 88 94
Work Order States Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 94 94 97
Work Order States Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 88 94 94 97 98
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order Cancelling Draft Work Orders	73 73 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 94 94 97 98
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job. Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order Cancelling Draft Work Orders Printing Open Work Orders	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 88 94 94 97 97 98 100 101
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order Cancelling Draft Work Orders Printing Open Work Orders Closing a Work Order	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 88 94 94 97 97 98
Work Orders Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order Cancelling Draft Work Orders Printing Open Work Orders Closing a Work Order Correcting Work Order Information	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 94 94 97 97 98
Work OrderS Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job. Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order Cancelling Draft Work Orders Printing Open Work Orders Closing a Work Order Correcting Work Order Information Actual Labor and Material Expenses	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 88 94 94 97 97 98 100 101 105 106
Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order Cancelling Draft Work Orders Printing Open Work Orders Closing a Work Order Correcting Work Order Information Actual Labor and Material Expenses Chargebacks	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 94 94 97 97 98 100 101 105 106 106 108
Work Orders Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Orders Cancelling Draft Work Orders Printing Open Work Orders Closing a Work Order Correcting Work Order Information Actual Labor and Material Expenses Chargebacks Closing Information	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 88 94 94 97 97 98 100 101 101 105 106 106 106 108
Work Order S. Work Order States Creating a Work Order Starting a New Work Order Basic Work Order Information Work Order Resources Scheduling Labor Reserving Materials for a Work Order Temporary Storage for a Job Assigning People to a Work Order Modifying Draft Work Orders Opening a Work Order Cancelling Draft Work Orders Printing Open Work Orders Closing a Work Order Correcting Work Order Information Actual Labor and Material Expenses Chargebacks Closing Information Paying for Outside Labor with a Purchase Order	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 81 85 88 88 94 94 97 97 98 100 101 105 106 106 108 113
 Work Orders	73 73 75 75 75 78 80 81 85 88 94 97 98 100 101 105 106 108 113 115 118

Units	120
Meters	
Recording Meter Readings	
Meter Offsets	123
Planned Maintenance	125
Generating Planned Maintenance Work Orders	
Adjusting Planned Maintenance Work Orders	
Standard (Boilerplate) Work Orders	
Forecast Reports	
General Inventory Control	133
Inventory Details	133
Inventory Operations	134
Finding Which Storeroom Contains a Particular Item	135
Recording Price Quotes	135
Taking Physical Inventory	137
Other Inventory Operations	141
Restocking	
Purchasing and Receiving	143
The Purchasing/Receiving Process	144
Creating a New Purchase Order	146
Purchase Order Line Items	148
Printing One or More Purchase Orders	155
Issuing a Purchase Order	
Recording Item Receipts	
Recording the Receipt of Services.	
Closing a Purchase Order	
Appendix A: MainBoss Support from Thinkage Ltd.	

Introduction Welcome to MainBoss Advanced

Thank you for licensing MainBoss Advanced. You'll find it provides all the features you need for managing your organization's maintenance work.

This guide concentrates on day-to-day operations with MainBoss. It assumes that MainBoss has already been installed and configured for use on your computer.

For information on installing MainBoss, see the <u>Installation and Administration Guide</u>. For information on configuring MainBoss, see the <u>Configuration</u> guide.

Documentation conventions

This guide uses the following documentation conventions:

- □ Data-entry fields are shown in bold face, enclosed in double quotes: Fill in the "**Date**" field...
- Buttons are shown in bold face and underlined: Click the button.
- Keyboard keys are shown in bold face enclosed in <angle brackets>: Press the <Tab> key.

Using the Mouse: Whenever this guide tells you to click on a button, a menu item, or some other object on the screen, click with the left button of the mouse. When the guide says to *right-click* an object, click with the right button of the mouse.

MainBoss Concepts

This section explains a number of concepts that underlie MainBoss. It does not describe the fine details of using the software, but looks at how MainBoss is organized and how you can adapt that organization to the work you do.

Important: If you have not licensed a particular module, you will not see information related to that module. For example, if you have not licensed the **MainBoss Requests** module, you will not see various types of information related to requests.

Table:A table is a list of entries, each of which contains information about
something.

For example, the **Locations** table is a list of locations relevant to your maintenance work. The **Contacts** table is a list of records giving contact information for anyone you may wish to contact.

Each entry in a table must be given an **identifier code** to distinguish it from other entries in the table. Identifier codes don't have to be unique for example, your **Contacts** table might have entries for different people with the same name (e.g. two John Smiths)—but it's much less confusing if different records have different identifiers.

Unit: A unit is anything that might require maintenance.

This includes equipment, vehicles, and places. In a factory, for example, your units will mostly be pieces of manufacturing equipment. In a shopping mall, each store might be considered a separate unit, with additional units for washrooms, the parking lot, and so on.

Sub-Unit: A sub-unit is part of a unit.

For example, you might sub-divide complex equipment into smaller subunits so that you can track the maintenance record of each piece. Similarly, in a shopping mall, you might subdivide large areas into smaller ones (e.g. "Department store, north section", "Department store, east section", and so on) so that workers have a clearer idea of where to go when they're sent to fix a problem.

There's no hard-and-fast dividing line between what is a sub-unit and what is simply a spare part. For example, if a piece of equipment has a self-contained motor, do you treat the motor as a sub-unit or simply a spare part? The answer depends on whether or not you want to track the motor's maintenance independently from the containing equipment. If you're likely to move such motors from one unit to another and if you care about the motor's past maintenance history, then you should treat the motor as a sub-unit. Otherwise, there may be no point in treating the motor as a sub-unit.

Request: A request reports a problem or asks for work to be done (e.g. renovations).

Requests are often based on complaints from people outside the maintenance department. Requests provide preliminary information about the problem such as the location of the problem, the name of the person reporting it, the date/time the report was received, and a brief description of the problem itself.

Since problems may be reported by non-maintenance personnel, requests are designed to be simple enough that anybody can fill one out.

Work order: A work order is a detailed description of work to be done.

Work orders are designed to be filled out by maintenance personnel. In many organizations, work orders are written up by a supervisor or dispatcher, then issued to the people who'll do the actual work.

Work orders are more detailed than work requests. For example, a work order may specify the amount of time the job is expected to take, the materials to be used, and so on. Such details are not present in a work request.

General Principle: Requests describe problems while work orders describe solutions.

Items: Items are materials used in your maintenance work.

Items include spare parts, tools, lubricants, and anything else whose use you wish to track. MainBoss can report on your materials inventory, including how much of an item you have on hand, where particular items are stored, and when you need to re-order more stock.

When setting up inventory records, start with the most important items in your inventory, such as expensive or vital spare parts. Tracking simple items like nails or 60-watt light bulbs is often more trouble than it's worth...but if your operations depend on certain materials, those are the ones you should track.

Note that MainBoss's records depend on physical inventory control. If anyone can go into a storeroom and take out materials without recording the fact in MainBoss, then you can't expect MainBoss's data to be accurate.

Task:A description of work to be done during planned maintenance or in
some other standard maintenance job.

For example, you might have a task record describing a standard oil change and inspection on a vehicle. Task records often contain step-bystep instructions or check-lists of actions to be done during the work.

Unit Maintenance Plan: A complete description of a planned maintenance job. This includes the unit that should be serviced, the task that should be done, and the timing for doing that work.

For example, a unit maintenance plan might describe regular oil changes on a car. The unit is the car whose oil needs to be changed; the task might be a check-list of what should be done in each oil change; the timing might be "every three months or 3000 miles".

MainBoss uses your unit maintenance plans to create actual work orders. For example, when the time comes for an oil change on a particular vehicle, MainBoss will create a work order for the job using information from the unit maintenance plan record.

Maintenance Organization: A collection of data describing the operations of a single maintenance organization. Each maintenance organization you have corresponds to a separate database.

While many MainBoss customers will only have one maintenance organization database, some may have more. For example, consider a property management company that maintains properties for several different clients. The company may choose to keep each client's data separate from the others, or may decide to have a single database combining data from all clients.

You must have a separate set of license keys for each maintenance organization database you maintain.

Storeroom: A place where you store spare parts and other materials.

For each storeroom, you create *storeroom assignments* which specify what items the storeroom should contain and the maximum/minimum quantities for each item.

Note that a storeroom doesn't have to be a normal room. For example, if you have service trucks that each are supposed to contain standard work materials, you can treat each truck as a storeroom and can track the contents to make sure each truck has everything it needs.

Expense Category: A way to label costs on a work order.

For example, you might have separate categories for inside labor (your own personnel), outside labor (done by hired contractors), electrical supplies, plumbing supplies, spare parts, and so on. You assign an expense category to each cost on a work order so that you can track and categorize your expenses.

Expense Model: A list of what expense categories are allowed on a particular work order.

For example, a property management company may have a separate expense model for each tenant. This makes it possible to associate different expense categories with different tenants.

Cost Center: A way of associating MainBoss costs with your organization's actual accounting system.

Typically, each cost center corresponds to a single general ledger account in your accounting system. However, you can create multiple cost centers which are all associated with the same general ledger account, if you want to break down your costs in more detail than your ledger accounts allow.

Purchase Order: Information on materials or labor you wish to purchase from a specific supplier or contractor.

In addition to listing the materials or services you wish to purchase, a purchase order can specify where each item should be delivered, how goods should be shipped, when materials are needed, and much more. Purchase orders may contain *miscellaneous items*, which are expenses beyond goods and services (e.g. surcharges for quick delivery).

Receipt: A record that lists materials and labor received in response to a purchase order.

When all specified goods and services are received, the purchase order is closed.

Assignment: An indication that a work order, request or purchase order is of interest to a particular person.

You can assign work orders, requests or purchase orders to any number of people. If the assignees are MainBoss users, MainBoss makes it easy for them to find their assignments by listing them in the **My Assignment Overview** section of the control panel.

The workers who work on a job are automatically assigned to the work order. You might also assign a work order to whoever will supervise the work and anyone else with an interest in the work. You might assign a request to the requestor and to anyone else with an interest in seeing that the request is honored (e.g. the person at the help-desk who received the initial call). You might assign a purchase order to the person who created the purchase order, the person who authorized it, and the receiving clerk who's expected to receive the purchased goods.

Notifications: Email messages that MainBoss can send to people under various circumstances. (In order for notifications to occur, you must have

licensed the MainBoss Service module.)

Notifications may be sent in connection with requests, work orders, and/or purchase orders. In order to be notified, you must be assigned to the request/work order/purchase order; by default, all assignees receive any notifications sent out, but specific assignees can be set up so that they do not receive notifications.

Notifications are sent whenever a request, work order or purchase order changes state (e.g. when a work order goes from Draft to Open or from Open to Closed). They are also sent when someone adds a new comment to the request, work order or purchase order. This means that adding such a comment can be used to broadcast a message to all assignees.

Security Roles: Settings that determine what you can and can't do with MainBoss.

Your MainBoss administrator assigns security roles to you. These determine what operations you can perform inside MainBoss.

Licensed Module: A collection of related operations in MainBoss.

The operations that are available in MainBoss are determined by which modules your organization has licensed. If you don't have a particular license, you will not see various entries related to that module.

Important: Your licenses and your security roles determine what you can and can't see in MainBoss. For example, if you haven't licensed a particular module, information related to that module won't be displayed in MainBoss windows. If you do not have a particular set of security permissions, some types of information may be hidden from you and some operations may be disabled. Therefore, what you see on your screen may differ from the pictures displayed in this guide.

The MainBoss Control Panel

_ 🗆 🗙 My MainBoss - MainBoss Maintenance Manager Session View Actions Help View MainBoss Overview +-My Assignment Overview B Requests B Rork Orders B Unit Maintenance Plans D Units D Purchase Orders B Coding Definitions B Administration Last Backup Date Monday, February 9, 2015 2:02:54.93 PM Last Backup File Name backup.test In Progress New Requests 3 Unassigned 3 Number of In Progress Requests by In Progress Date Converted All Complete Count Count Count Unconverted Count 2/18/2015 2/20/2015 2/24/2015 2/26/2015 2/28/2015 3/4/2015 3/6/201 2/22/2015 In Progress Requests by Priority In Progress Requests by Status J: 1 WEEK F 0 1 New Open Overdue Work Orders 61 Unassigned 61 2 Number of Open Work Orders by Work End Date Requested CM Work Order Count Requested PM Work Order Count CM WorkOrder Count PM Work Order Count 7/1/2014 7/1/2013 10/1/2013 1/1/2014 4/1/2014 10/1/2014 1/1/2015 Open Work Orders by Priority Open Work Orders by Status G: 24ROVR 3 0 1 Draft Issued Purchase Orders 1 Unassigned 1 a User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Organization My MainBoss (MB35Test: Database 'MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQLEXPRESS') Active **@**Help

Here's a typical picture of MainBoss's main window:

On the left is the *control panel*. This provides access to all standard actions and information. At the bottom right, the **C** (**Refresh**) button updates the information displayed (in case other users have recently made changes to your organization's data).

General Principle: In MainBoss Advanced, you use the control panel (on the left) to go to a table, then you use the table's buttons (on the right) to do work.

This manual uses the notation **Entry** | **Subentry** to refer to items in the control panel. For example, **Work Orders** | **Reports** refers to **Reports** under the **Work Orders** entry in the control panel.

Whenever you select an entry in the control panel, the rest of the window changes to show information about what you selected. For example, if you click **Work Orders** in the panel, the right-hand part of the window changes to show information on work orders.

We recommend that you maximize the MainBoss window so that MainBoss has the most possible screen-space to display information.

Keyboard Shortcuts: MainBoss allows standard Windows keyboard shortcuts such as **Ctrl+C>** for copy and **Ctrl+V>** for paste.

You can also use **<Tab>** to move to the next field in a window. If you're filling out a form, you can just tab from one field to another rather than using the mouse. **<Shift+Tab>** moves backward to the previous field.

In any table viewer, the shortcut sequence $\langle Ctrl+F \rangle$ opens the search window. The search will be applied to whatever list of records you clicked most recently. For example, if you most recently clicked a list of unit records, $\langle Ctrl+F \rangle$ will let you search through units. However, if you were looking at a unit record and your most recent click was on the unit's list of service contracts, then $\langle Ctrl+F \rangle$ would search through service contracts. ($\langle Ctrl+F \rangle$ will not work if your most recent click was on the MainBoss control panel—it only works if your most recent click was in some sort of table viewer.)

If the search window is not open, the **<F3>** function key has the effect of **Find Next**, searching for whatever you searched for most recently. This means that pressing **<F3>** repeatedly will perform the same search over and over.

MainBoss buttons often allow keyboard shortcuts. To see the shortcuts in a window, press the <Alt> key. One letter of each button will be underlined, as in Save. Pressing <Alt> plus the underlined letter is equivalent to clicking the button, so that <Alt+S> is equivalent to clicking the Save button.

View Options: The **View** menu provides options that control how information is displayed:

- □ **Zoom in on View**: If you click this menu item, MainBoss will hide the control panel in this window. To bring back the control panel, click **Zoom in on View** again.
- □ **Open in New Window**: If you select this option, MainBoss opens a new window containing the same information as the current one. This is useful if you want to

compare information between tables: you can have two windows open, one showing one table and one showing the other.

- □ Change Active Filter: This item lets you change the definition of "active" requests, work orders and purchase orders. For example, you can specify that work orders should only be displayed in table viewers if they're less than three months old. Changes that you make through this menu item affect you but not other users.
- □ Show compact browsers: If this is checkmarked, table viewers will not show details from the currently selected record. This makes it possible for a table viewer to list many more records. If the entry is not checkmarked, table viewers will have an area showing the contents of the currectly selected record; this reduces the number of records that the window can show at any one time.
- □ **Form Customization**: Offers a submenu of actions related to customized table viewers, editors, and reports. The submenu contains:
 - □ Enable: If this is checkmarked, you can customize table viewers, editors and report windows, as described in "Form Customization" later in this document. If you remove the checkmark, you will not be able to make such customizations.
 - □ **Customize Main Menu**: Lets you choose which entries appear in the control panel.
 - Publish: This saves all your current form customizations as a single set of "preferred" customizations. You can make other customizations after publishing, but they will be forgotten when you quit MainBoss. Only published customizations are remembered from one session to the next.
 - □ **Restore from published**: Gets rid of any customizations you have made since you last clicked **Publish**. You will return to the preferred customizations you have already saved.
 - Clear all customization: Removes any and all form customizations you have created, restoring everything to MainBoss's default forms. This does *not* delete your published customizations; therefore, you can use **Restore from published** to return to your published customizations.
 - Export: This saves your current customizations in a file. (MainBoss will open a window so you can specify a file name and location.)
 Saving customizations in a file lets you pass your customizations along to someone else. It also keeps a record of your current customizations if you intend to publish a different set of customizations.

- □ **Replace from file**: Replaces all your current customizations with customizations from a file. The specified file should contain customizations previously saved with **Export**.
- □ Add from file: Adds customizations from a file to your current set of customizations. The customizations will be added to any customizations that already exist; however, if a customization in the file conflicts with one of your current customizations, the customization in the file will replace your current customization.
- □ Select View: Contains submenus that reproduce all the entries of the control panel. This is useful for people who would rather work with menus (especially menu shortcut keys) rather than using the mouse to click on the control panel.

Coding Definitions: The **Coding Definitions** part of the control panel deals with information that doesn't change very often. For example, MainBoss lets you assign a priority (urgency code) to every work order. Once you decide what priority codes your organization will use, you probably won't change them. Therefore, MainBoss puts the codes under **Coding Definitions**.

The <u>MainBoss Configuration</u> guide explains how to set up your Coding Definitions. This Day-to-Day Operations Guide assumes that your basic coding definitions are already set up.

Identification Codes and Descriptions

Every record has an identification code. This code has different names in different types of records—for example, work orders are identified by a "**Number**" while inventory items are identified by a "**Code**"—but the purpose of the identifier is always the same: to provide a label that distinguishes one record from another.

Most records also have a "**Description**" field. This is often used to expand on the ID code. For example, in a unit record for a water boiler, the "**Code**" might be Boiler NorthEast while the "**Description**" might specify what type of boiler it is.

The Importance of Consistency: Before you begin entering *any* information, you must establish a coding policy that will be followed by everyone who uses MainBoss. Then you must stick to that policy with absolute consistency, unless everybody agrees that the naming conventions should be changed.

For example, consider the names by which you identify your equipment. You might decide on names like this:

```
Air conditioner 1
Air conditioner 2
Air conditioner 3
```

If someone then uses the name

AC 4

it will throw off the consistency of your records. In a list of equipment sorted in alphabetical order, the inconsistent one won't be sorted with the other air conditioners. It will be harder to find the unit you want when you're visually searching the list; the unit may also slip between the cracks when you're printing off reports about your equipment.

The same applies to all other types of information in your database. **Names must be consistent: similar things should have similar names.** In particular, you should choose the format of names so that similar things appear together when sorted in alphabetical order.

You should decide on standard name formats *before* you start entering data. This decision affects how much benefit MainBoss can provide. A haphazard naming scheme reduces the software's ability to organize and analyze data in effective ways.

Table Viewers

A table is a list of entries, each of which contains information about something. For example, the **Vendors** table is a list of your suppliers.

Each entry in a table is called a record. For example, each entry in the **Vendors** table gives information about one of your suppliers.

A table viewer lists the records in a particular table. For example, the **Vendors** table viewer lists the entries in your **Vendors** table.

Table viewers usually have two sections:

- **View**: A list of normal records—this can be anything from work orders to information about spare parts.
- **Defaults**: Default values for creating new records. For example, the default values in the **Vendors** viewer will be used whenever you create a new vendor record.

E	My Ma	inBoss - MainBoss Maintenance N	lanager	- 🗆 🗙
Session View Actions Help)			
MainBoss Overview ⊕−My Assignment Overview ⊕−Requests	View Vendors			▼ 🚍 ▼
-Work Orders -Unit Maintenance Plans	View Defaults for Vendors	-		
t - Items	Code	Description		
E⊢Purchase Orders E⊢Coding Definitions Access Codes Contacts Cost Centers	AC STELLA BATTERIES BEARING CHEMICAL CHEMICAL	Stellar Air Conditioning Sullen Battery Supply Silvester Bearing R&R Resources		
t+⊢Items t+−Locations t+−Purchase Orders	Apply Filter	Ching & Churchin Inc		_
+-Requests	Details Item Pricing Hourly Outside	Per Job Outside Service Contracts Purc	hase Orders Purchase Order Templates Units	
Unit Maintenance Plans H	Code A/C STELLA			
Units of Measure	Description Stellar Air Condition	ning		
+-Vendors	Vendor Category A/C		F 3	
±-Administration	Name Salas Contrat A/C STELLA	Business Phone	Email freezer@stellar.com	
	Sales Contact AVC STELLA	555-506-5672	incozor gatanar.com	
	Bruchlas Castast			
	Payables Contact			
	Accounts Payable Cost Center Det	ault Accounts Payable Costs		
	Payment Term	TRE 209		
	Comments als	ernative contact is Jane Darlin	là	^
			•	
	New Vendor 🛛 👻 🗶 🖨			S
User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Or	ganization My MainBoss (MB35Test: Data	base 'MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQLE	XPRESS')	Active 🕜 Help

Special Selection Actions

If you right-click on the records listed in a table viewer, MainBoss opens a menu of actions that can help you select entries in the table. For example, in most tables, the menu will include a **Select all** action; clicking this action in the menu selects all the entries in the table.

As another example, some right-click menus have an action named **Select all editable**. This selects all the entries that can be edited from this particular table viewer. For example, the **Units** table displays both units and the locations that contain the units. Records for the units can be edited from this table; locations cannot be. Therefore, **Select all editable** will select all the unit records in the table but will leave locations unselected.

Tables with entries that can be expanded or contracted have a menu item named **Expand new entries**. This lets you determine whether the entries are fully expanded or fully contracted when you start up MainBoss.

Hiding the Details for a Selected Record

By default, when you select a record in a table, the table viewer displays information from that record. Typically, this is shown in a *details panel* beneath the list of records in the table.

If your computer has a small monitor screen, you may decide that the details panel takes up too much room on the screen. If so, you can tell MainBoss not to display the details panel; you do this by clicking the following button:



When you click this button, the details panel disappears. The list of records can then use the space that was previously occupied by the panel.

If you want to see the details panel again, click the same button.

Active and All in Table Viewers

In the bottom right hand corner of most table viewers and editor windows, you'll see either Active or All:

□ If the word is Active, lists of records displayed in the window only include *active* records. This means that the window only shows records that haven't been deleted. For requests, work orders, and purchase orders, it also means that it only shows records that are "recent". By default, a record is "recent" if it's less than 500 days old; your MainBoss administrator may change what counts as "recent."

	My MainBoss	 MainBoss Maintenance Mana 	ger		×
ssion View Actions Help nBoss Overview My Assignment Overview	View Vendors				F
Requests Work Orders Unit Maintenance Plans Units Items	View Defaults for Vendors Code	Description Stellar Air Coorditioning			
Contracts Codes - Access Codes - Contacts - Cost Centers - Beltems	BATTERIES BEARING CHEMICAL	Sullen Battery Supply Silvester Bearing R&R Resources			
	Details Item Pricing Hourly Outside Per J Code A/C STELLA Description Stellar Air Conditioning	lob Outside Service Contracts Purchase	e Orders Purchase Order Templates Units		
Ð-Units ─Units of Measure ₱ Vendors ₱-Work Orders dministration	Vendor Category A/C Name Sales Contact A/C STELLA	Business Phone 555-908-9872	Email <u>freezer@stellar.com</u>		
	Payables Contact Assemble Cost Costs Defent Ass	and Brackle Code			
	Accounts Payable Cost Center Default Acc Account Number 098 TRL 20 Payment Term	19			
	Comments alternat	rive contact is Jane Darling			
	New Vendor 🕅 🔹 🔀 民	• A •			
agardner (SQL Administrator) Orga	nization My MainBoss (MB35Test: Database 'MB35T	est' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQI EXPRESS'		Active	١

□ If the word is All, the viewer is showing *all* records, no matter how old, including those that have been deleted. Deleted records are marked with a red X on the left. (Note that if you have many old records, MainBoss may take a considerable time to obtain them all from the database.)

<u>_</u> ع	My Main	Boss - MainBoss Maintenance Manage	r		×
Session View Actions Help					
MainBoss Overview H My Assignment Overview	View Vendors				<u>-</u>
	View Defaults for Vendors				
the Units	Code	Description		Deleted on	
- Purchase Orders	A/C STELLA	Stellar Air Conditioning			^
Access Codes		Angular Metal Products Sullan Pattery Supply		12/10/2014 3:15:10.4	·
Contacts	BEARING	Silvester Bearing			v
	Apply Filter				
Purchase Orders Relationships	Details Item Pricing Hourly Outside F	Per Job Outside Service Contracts Purchase Order	s Purchase Order Templates Units		
⊕-Requests	Code A/C STELLA				
Durits	Description Stellar Air Conditioning				
Units of Measure	Vendor Category A/C				-1
	Name	Business Phone	Email freezer@stellar.com		
<u> </u>	Service Contact	555-508-2672			
	Pavables Contact				
	Accounts Pavable Cost Center, Default	Accounts Pavable Costs			
	Account Number 098 TR	L 209			
	Payment Term				
	Comments alter	native contact is Jane Darling			< >
	New Vendor 🛛 🗸 🎒				8
User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Org	anization My MainBoss (MB35Test: Database '	'MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQLEXPRESS')		All (2 Help

In most tables, MainBoss never completely erases deleted records. This makes it possible to maintain a complete audit trail of everything you do.

To switch from Active to All or vice versa, *double-click* the word. You'll see old and deleted records appear or disappear.

The **Restore** button lets you bring back a record that was previously deleted. MainBoss opens a window where you can examine the record to be restored and make changes if necessary. When you save the record and close the window (typically by using **Save & Close**), the record will be restored to the active list.

Records That Refer to Deleted Information: When you delete a record, it's possible that other records still refer to it. For example, suppose a worker leaves your organization so you delete that person from your **Employees** list. That worker's name will still appear in old records (e.g. work orders that the person worked on).

MainBoss indicates that data comes from a deleted record by striking out the data. For example, if you delete Joe Smith's employee record, all work orders that refer to that person will show the name as Joe Smith. This shows that the associated employee record has been deleted (and will reduce your confusion when you can't find Joe Smith's name in your list of Active employees).

The Active Filter

The *active filter* determines which work orders, requests, and purchase orders count as Active. In other words, it determines what a table will display when the word Active appears in the table's bottom right-hand corner.

Work orders, requests and purchase orders are always considered active until they are closed or voided. For example, if a work order is open, its age doesn't matter—it will be active until you close it.

To set your active filter, go to the **View** menu and click **Change Active Filter**. This opens a window that contains the following:

- Show only records less than this many days old: You can set this field's value to a number. If you do, work orders, requests, and purchase orders will only be considered Active if their most recent history record is less than the given number of days old. For example, if you set the value to 400, the only active work orders, requests and purchase orders will be ones whose histories have changed in the past 400 days. Typically, this means you won't see any work orders, requests and purchase orders that were closed more than 400 days ago.
- Show only records since: You can set this field's value to a date. If you do, work orders, requests and purchase orders will only be considered Active if their most recent history record was created after the specified date. For example, if you set the value to January 1, 2009, the only active work orders, requests and purchase orders will be ones which have had some activity since that date.

The options you set through the **View** menu only affect your own MainBoss sessions. For example, if you only want to see very recent records, you might set "**Show only records less than this many days old**" to 30. MainBoss would only show you work orders, requests and purchase orders less than 30 days old. You can change this number at any time.

You can use **Administration** | **Company Information** to set active filter defaults for everyone who uses the MainBoss database.

Table Filters

A *table filter* tells MainBoss to display a subset of all the records that are in a particular table. In other words, it "filters out" records that you don't want to see.

For example, suppose you want to see which jobs are scheduled to begin today. You could set up a filter on the **Work Orders** table saying that you only want to see work orders whose "**Work Start Date**" is today. MainBoss would then filter out any work

orders that started on some other day, so that the table viewer only displays work orders starting today.

As another example, suppose you only want to see information on units in your HVAC system. You could set up a filter on the **Units** table saying that you only want to see work orders whose "**System**" is HVAC. MainBoss would then filter out non-HVAC unit records, so that the table viewer only displays HVAC units.

You can specify a filter in any table viewer. To do so, click the filter set-up button beneath the table's list of records:

This opens a window similar to the one used to search for individual records. Use this window to specify which records you want to see. For example, suppose you're in the **Items** window and you specify

	Edit Items Filter		
Description	Starts with B		×
No additional condition		•	\times
	Apply Filter Disable Filter Close		

This indicates that you only want MainBoss to display item records whose

"Description" field starts with the letter B. Once you enter this information, click the **Apply Filter** button. You'll see that the table viewer changes so that it only shows records that match what you've specified. If you **Close** the filter window, the table

remains filtered. To return to the table's usual state, click the Abutton associated with the filter.

When you specify one condition, MainBoss gives you a new line where you can specify an additional condition. Each time you specify a condition, MainBoss gives you a new line for more.

If you specify multiple conditions, MainBoss only shows records that satisfy *all* the specified conditions. For example, suppose you're filtering the **Requests** table. One condition might specify that you only want to see requests on a particular unit. A second condition might specify that you only want to see requests with a particular priority code. MainBoss will then display all requests on that unit with the given priority code.

The filter set-up window contains the following:

 \mathbf{Y}

Fields, filter conditions, values: Select the records to be displayed. You specify your selections in the same way that you specifying search conditions when searching for a particular record.

- **Apply Filter**: If you click this button, MainBoss immediately filters the table using the given criteria. Note that the table does not get filtered until you click this button.
- **Disable Filter**: If you click this button, MainBoss stops filtering the table—you see all the records you normally would.
- **Close:** Closes the window where you specify filters. If you have not clicked **Apply Filter**, MainBoss will *not* filter the table. Furthermore, MainBoss will not record any filter conditions you've specified—the next time you open the filter window, you'll start from scratch again.

On every table viewer, there is a checkbox labeled **Apply Filter**. If this box is blank, the table is unfiltered—you see everything you'd usually see. If you checkmark the box, the table will be filtered using the filter that is currently defined. By blanking or checkmarking the box, you can switch back and forth between filtered and unfiltered displays.

Some filters let you specify patterns rather than specific character strings. For example,

Description Matches Pattern .*furnace.*

corresponds to any Description which contains the string "furnace" anywhere. (The .* pattern is a particularly useful one which stands for any string of zero or more characters.) Patterns are often called *regular expressions*, and MainBoss supports any regular expression as defined in the Microsoft .NET environment. For more information, see

http://www.codeproject.com/KB/dotnet/regextutorial.aspx

Request, work order and purchase order tables are also affected by the *active filter*. For more, see *The Active Filter* on page 17.

Customized Table Settings

Table viewers can be *customized*. The customization area is above the table, consisting of a drop-down list and a drop-down button:



A customized setting is name that stands for a particular set of table display options, especially filters (see *Table Filters* on page 17). For example, suppose your organization manages a lot of properties, but you yourself only work in Building A or Building B. You might create three customized settings for the **Units** table, named A, B, and A&B. If you choose the A setting, the **Units** table will only show you the units in Building A; similarly for the B and A&B settings. In this way, you only see the units that matter to you, not any units in other buildings.

Note: Settings that can be saved are indicated with blue lettering rather than black. For example, "**Apply Filter**" will appear in blue in table viewers, indicating that filter settings can be saved as a customized setting for the associated table.

To create a customized setting, you first set a filter that chooses only the records you want to see. For example, if you only want to see units in Building A, you could set a filter like

	Edit Units Filter		×
Containing Location Path	Starts with Building A		×
No additional condition		▼	\times
	Apply Filter Disable Filter Close		

You then click **Apply Filter** and then **Close**. You'll see that the table only shows the units whose containing location is Building A.

To give this table setting a name, click the drop-down arrow associated with the dropdown button in the customized setting area. In the resulting menu, click **Save As**. A window will appear letting you specify a name for the filter you've just set up:



In "Settings Name", enter a name for this setting (e.g. A to stand for Building A).

The scope of your settings may be **Personal** or **Global**. If you choose **Global**, then all people using your MainBoss database will see the name of this customization in the drop-down list of possible customizations. (Only people with the Administration security role may create **Global** customizations.) If you choose **Personal**, this name will appear in your own list of possible customizations, but not in anyone else's.

Note: You may wish to create a number of standard global customizations that can be used by anyone in your organization. This is particularly helpful if some of your users aren't knowledgeable enough about MainBoss to create customizations of their own.

Click **Save & Close** to save your setting and close the window. Once you've done this, you'll see the name of the customization appear in the accompanying drop-down list. Anytime you come to this table, you can quickly apply the setting by selecting the name from the list. Once you've chosen a customization, MainBoss uses it every time you

come back to this window until either you quit MainBoss or you choose a different customization or filter.

The drop-down button for customizations contains the following choices:

Save: Saves the current filter settings under an existing name. This is how you change the definition of an existing customization.

Save as: Saves the current filter settings under a new name.

X: Deletes the name that's currently selected in the customization drop-down list.

Set as Default: Specifies that the selected customization should be treated as the default for this table. In this case, you don't have to select the customization—whenever you start MainBoss, the customization is automatically applied. For example, if the default customization for your Units table only shows units in Building A, then the table is automatically filtered that way whenever you start MainBoss. You will never see units that are in other locations, unless you change the filter or choose a different customization.

Form Customization

MainBoss lets users with the Administration security role control what information is displayed in table viewers, editor windows, and report windows. This is done by means of *form customization*. Using form customization, you can reduce the amount of information being displayed; this may be useful if you don't care about some of the usual information, or if you're working on a small display screen. (Note that some information cannot be removed from a window, e.g. compulsory fields.)

It is possible to disable form customization. To do so, go to the **View** menu and click **Form Customization**. In the resulting menu, remove the checkmark on **Enable**.

If you are attempting to customize a window and it doesn't work, make sure that form customization is enabled (i.e. make sure that **Enable** has a checkmark beside it).

To customize a particular table viewer, editor window or report window, click the dropdown arrow beside the customization button:

F

(This button appears in the top right corner of table viewers and report windows, but the bottom right corner of editor windows.) After clicking the drop-down arrow, click **Customize Form** in the resulting menu.

MainBoss will display a window where you can use checkboxes to determine which information will appear in the associated form. Each table viewer, editor window and

report window has its own customization form. For example, here's the form for customizing the **Work Orders** table viewer:

MB		Cus	-		×	
Columns						
Number	Priority	Subject	Current State History User Contact			
✓	✓	✓	\checkmark			
Panel						
Customize	Work Orde	ers Panel	Editor			
Apply	Apply & Clo	Clos	e 🔻			
					Active	🕜 Help

There is a checkbox for each column that usually appears at the top of the table viewer. If you blank out a checkbox, the corresponding column will no longer appear in the table viewer.

The **Panel** button in the customization form lets you customize the panel that appears at the bottom of the table viewer (under the list of work orders). The **Editor** button lets you customize the standard work order editor. If you click either button, MainBoss will open another window where you can use checkboxes to specify which information will and won't appear in the corresponding location.

The customization form also has a button labeled **Customize Work Order Report Form**. This lets you customize the standard report for printing work orders (**Work Orders** | **Print**). It is included here so that the same window lets you customize the work orders table viewer, the work orders editor, and the work order report.

After you have specified any changes you want to make to a form, click **Apply** to save those changes. Click **Apply & Close** to save the changes and close the customization window, or click **Close** just to close the customization window.

Note: If you customize a form, it will no longer match the help files associated with the form. For example, if your customization leaves out certain fields, the help files will still describe those fields. This may confuse people who wonder why the help file doesn't match what they see on the screen.

Publishing Your Customizations: By default, any customizations you have made will be discarded when you quit MainBoss. If you want to keep your customizations from one MainBoss session to the next, you have to *publish* them.

To publish your customizations, go to the **View** menu, click **Form Customization**, and then click **Publish**. This saves *all* your current customizations. From this point onward, those customizations will be used every time MainBoss starts. If you make a new

customization, then want to go back to your old customizations, you can click **Restore from published** in the same menu.

You can use **Clear all customization** from the same menu to get rid of all the customizations you have made. However, you'll go back to your published customizations the next time you start MainBoss, unless you **Clear all customization** and then **Publish** (so that the "cleared" customizations are your "official" ones).

Exporting Customizations: You can save your current customizations in a file. This makes it easy to restore the customizations later if you wish, or to switch between different sets of customizations.

To save your current customizations, go to the **View** menu, click **Form Customization**, and then click **Export**. MainBoss will ask you to specify the name of a file to hold your customizations.

At a later date, you can use **Replace from file** in the same menu to get rid of any current customizations and instead use the ones you exported to the file. You can use **Add from file** in the same menu to add the saved customizations to any other customizations that are currently in effect. With **Add from file**, if a saved customization conflicts with one of your current customizations, the saved customization replaces your current one.

Selecting Multiple Table Entries

A table viewer lets you select multiple records from the table. To do this, you use the standard Windows conventions:

- □ If you hold down the <<u>Shift</u>> key, click on one record, then click on another, you will select both records and all the records in between.
- □ If you hold down the <**Ctrl**> key and click on a record, you select that record. If you hold down <**Ctrl**> and click a different record, you select that record and the first record stays selected. In this way, you can use <**Ctrl**+**Click**> to select any number of separate records.

After you select multiple records, you can perform the following operations:

X: Deletes the selected records. A window will open to ask if you really want to delete those records.

Opens the first selected record in an editor window. This window offers you all the features available in a normal editor window for this type of record. In addition, it has a Next button; if you click Next, MainBoss closes the current window and opens one where you can edit the next record that you selected from the table viewer. By repeatedly clicking Next, you can move through the records that you've selected, editing each one as you wish.

If you use the editor window to change the contents of a record, the **Next** button disappears until you click **Save** (to save your changes) or **Cancel** (to cancel the changes). You will not be able to go to the next record until you save or cancel your changes.

Next is a drop-down button with the following entries:

- **Previous**: Closes the current window and opens an editor window to edit the previous record from the list of selected records. By using **Next** and **Previous**, you can go forward and backward through the list of selected records.
- **Close:** Closes the current window and goes back to the table viewer. This says that you are finished using **Next** and **Previous** to edit the selected records.
- **Cancel**: Works like the usual **Cancel** button, canceling any changes you have made.
- Works exactly like except that you can only look at the contents of the selected records, not make changes. You can use Next and Previous buttons to go forward and backward through the list of selected records.
- **Restore**: Is only enabled if the records you have selected are all currently deleted. If so, MainBoss opens an editor window that works exactly like **2**. If you **Save** the current record, it will be restored. You can use **Next** and **Previous** to move forward and backward through the list of selected records.

Right-Clicking: When looking at a multi-selection list, you can right-click on the list to get a menu of useful actions that can be performed. For example, the menu gives you the option of checkmarking all the entries in the list or blanking them out. With long lists, we recommend that you click the "..." button to get a selection window, then right-click on the list in the window to select the entries you want.

Editors

An editor is a window where you can enter information. Most editor windows have a **Details** section where you can enter basic information; many editor windows have more sections for additional information.

□ Mandatory fields are marked with a red arrow until they're filled in. You can't save the record until you specify values for those fields. (In the picture below, "Subject" and "Unit" are mandatory.)

e,					Ν	lew Work C	Order				- 1	×	
Details	Assignment	s Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters Pu	urchase Orders	Chargeback	s Requests	State History				
Number				-								•	
Subject													
	Effective D	ate		State						Status			
Current													
PM Gen	eration Bat	ch									•	•• 🔻	
	Name			Bu	iness Phone	e		Email					
Request	or			▼ ▼									
	Unit										•	• • •	
Work Sta	art Date Fri	day, March 13, 2015										•	
Work E	nd Date Fri	day, March 13, 2015										•	
C	uration 1												
Work C	ategory		11.5								 •	•• 🔻	
		Use Access Code to	om Unit										
Acces	Riority												
		Use Expense Model	from Unit										
Expense	e Model	Default Expense Mod	el		Default	Expense Mode	1				•	•• 🔻	
	Project										•	•• 🔻	
Des	cription											^	
Co	nments											۲.	
												\sim	
Do	wntime											_	
Clos	e Code										•	•• 🔻	
	-	Select for Printing											
Save & N	lew Sa	ve & <u>P</u> rint <u>S</u> ave	▼ Save 8	Close Open	• Canc <u>e</u> l	▼ Add W	ork Order Cor	nment					
											 ▼ Act	ive 🔞 H	elp

- Read-only fields can't be changed. They can be recognized because they are *not* surrounded by a black border line. In the picture above, several fields are read-only. For example, the fields in the "Current" line and "Business Phone" are all read-only.
- □ Some fields can only be edited at certain times. For example, some fields on a purchase order can't be changed once the purchase order is issued—issuing the purchase order implies that the purchase order is ready to be sent to the supplier, at which point, some information is considered "unchangeable". (Actually, some information *can* be changed, but you have to withdraw the purchase order before you're allowed to make the change.)

MainBoss also prevents you from changing information that has already generated accounting records—for the sake of security, accounting records can't be changed or deleted. For example, when you record the use of materials in connection with a work order, MainBoss generates accounting records indicating the cost of those materials. You can't directly edit this information once the accounting records have been written; if necessary, you must create a *correction*, which will generate a *new* accounting record to correct any mistakes in an old one.

As shown above, editor windows have several buttons containing the word Save:
 Save: Just saves information you've entered.

Save & Close: Saves the information and closes the window.

- Save & New: Saves the information and starts a new record. This lets you create one record after another; for example, if you're recording contact information for people, you can Save & New after each person, which saves what you've just entered and starts a record for someone else. (Fields in the new record are initialized with default values as set in the Defaults section of the appropriate table viewer.)
- Save & Print: Saves the information and opens a window that will let you print the record you've just created.

General Tip: When you're filling out a record, if you don't know what value a field should have, leave it blank. Filling in dubious values will cause confusion; finding values that need to be changed can be difficult. If MainBoss really needs a field to be filled in, it uses the red arrow to mark the field as mandatory.

Drop-Down Lists (Pickers)

Editor windows often specify information using *drop-down lists*, also known as *pickers*. For example, the "**Requestor**" field in a work request editor is a drop-down list:

Requestor	▼	 -	İ
			а

As shown above, a drop-down list ends with three symbols:

□ The left-most arrow displays a list of available values for the field. In the case of "**Requestor**" this will be a list of the people whom you've authorized to submit work requests.

Requestor			
	Name 🔺	Business Phone	
	Alex Miraculacci	555-839-0289	
	Allison Matrix	555-098-9872	
	Andrew Alberts	555-972-9873	
	Coach Charlie	555-783-9872	
	Floyd Pump	555-893-9830	
	Gary Neller	555-783-9723	
	George Jasper	555-039-9087	= -
	Henry Tallboat	555-987-9723	
	Holly Happy	555-902-8723	
	Jackie James	555-098-2789	
	Jackie Newlywed	555-892-9728	
	Jane Leighbold	555-789-9872	
	Janice Freidelburg	555-980-9873	
	Jean Martin		
	John Livingston	555-238-9872	
	Jonny Spot	555-893-9872	
	Karen Krystal	555-972-9287	
	Marylee Chef		
	Mike Mitchell	555-890-9728	
	Nancy-Jean Beltree	555-897-2987	-

□ The "…" opens a window showing the complete table. For example, if you click the "…" for "**Requestor**", you get the **Requestors** table. Click an entry in the table, then click **Select** to fill in the original field.

	Select Requestor	- 🗆 ×
Contact	Contact Business Phone	Contact Mobile Phone
Alex Miraculacci Allison Matrix Andrew Alberts Coach Charlie Floyd J. Pump Gary Neller George Jasper Hency Tallboat	555-839-0289 555-098-9872 555-972-9873 555-783-9872 555-893-9830 555-783-9723 555-039-9087 555-987-9723	555-835-5411
Holly Happy Jackie James	555-902-8723 555-098-2789	555-902-4511 🗸
The Apply Filter		
New Requestor	Clear 🙀 🗸 💈 Select	Canc <u>e</u> l
		▼ 🛃 ▼ Active 😢 Help

□ The right-most arrow of the drop-down list opens a menu that gives you a number of options. For example, if you click this arrow for the "**Requestor**" field, you'll see the following:

	Name			Business Phon
Requestor		▼	···· v	
	Unit		··· Brow	se
	Work Start Date	January-09-2015	New F	Requestor
	Work End Date	January-09-2015	MEGIC Wriew	Ē
	Duration	1	R Expor	t [
	Work Category		Impor	t [
		Use access code from ur	Save	XML Schema
	Access Code		Clear	

Browse lets you look at the existing **Requestors** table, just like the "..." button. **New Requestor** lets you create a new requestor record; if you do this, the requestor will be filled into the original "**Requestor**" field once you save and close the new record. This makes it easy to create new records as needed if you don't already have an appropriate record. **Edit** lets you edit the selected requestor record, while **View** lets you look at the record (but not change it). **Export**, **Import**, and **Save XML Schema** are related to importing and exporting data; for more information, see the <u>MainBoss</u> <u>Configuration</u> guide. **Clear** deletes the current contents of the field (if any).

Errors

MainBoss puts a marker beside data fields that contain invalid data. The error marker is a red circle containing a white exclamation point. This is shown below, where the "Effective Date" field should contain a date, but instead contains meaningless text:

" Ø		New Item Pricing	3	- 🗆 🗙
Effective Date	ааа			.
ltem	100W	LIGHT	•	••• 🔻
Vendor				▼ … ▼ 🔶
	Quantity	Unit Cost	Cost	
Quoted Pricing		•		•
Order Line Tex	t			
Save & <u>N</u> ew	<u>S</u> ave ▼	Save & C <u>l</u> ose Canc <u>e</u> l ▼		
				💌 🛒 🔻 Active 🔞 Help

If you try to save a record when it contains an invalid field, MainBoss will display an error message and won't save the record.

To find out why a data value is invalid, move your cursor to the error marker. MainBoss will display a tooltip with a message explaining why the current value can't be accepted. This is shown below:

a Ø		New Item Pri	icing			×	
Effective Date	ааа				•	0	
Item	🔁 100W	LI	IGHT		•••• 🔻		
Vendor					▼ … ▼	i 🗲 🍱	ne date is not in a recognized format
	Quantity	Unit Cost		Cost			
Quoted Pricing	1	•] 🗲 📘	
Order Line Tex	ct]	
Save & <u>N</u> ew	Save - Save	e & C <u>l</u> ose Canc <u>e</u> l ▼					
				▼ 🛃	▼ Active	Help	

Concurrency Errors: In the rare case that two people try to edit the same record at the same time, MainBoss will report a *concurrency error*.

For example, suppose you start editing a **Units** table record and before you're done, someone else tries to edit the same record. The first person to save the record will succeed. The second person to save the record will receive an error message indicating that the record has changed while you were making your changes:

🚟 Update Error	ALC PROOF	and the second s			
Database update failed with a concurrency error					
	Browse Conflicts Pre	vious Conflict Next Conflict			
Column	Original Value	Current Database Value	Proposed Change		
Unit Contact Make Model Serial Number Usage Category System Drawing Access Code Work Order Expense Mod	0c7311cd-0029-49a0-a2e3-9e5 STELLAR OLYMPIA 12 a0c139e6-c6e4-49e6-9ac7-2d1 19c53f19-0029-4da6-a0eb-dd8 4 a3ca06e-0029-436c-a517-4bb 7b0b598e-0029-4c02-91a7-eee el	Ocea9d51-0029-4aa1-8a28-6b42e STELLAR OLYMPIA 12 a0c139e6-c6e4-49e6-9ac7-2d194 14b9d028-0029-44f0-987a-d285e 4a3ca06e-0029-446c-a517-4bbda 7b0b598e-0029-4c02-91a7-eeea5	■ 9dfbcd09-0029-42e4-b8b7-2abc ▲ STELLAR OLYMPIA 12 ■ a0c139e6-c6e4-49e6-9ac7-2d19 □ 19c53f19-0029-4da6-a0eb-dd85f ■ f6aed485-0029-426d-bf03-9d00 ④ 7b0b598e-0029-4c02-91a7-eeea		
Do	An Update you want to overwrite the current databas	error has occurred: se record with the proposed changes	s? Yes No		

MainBoss is asking you to resolve conflicts between the changes that were just made. The error message lists the fields in the record. For each field, there are three columns:

- □ The first column shows the record's values at the time you began editing
- □ The second column shows what the values are now (the ones that the other person saved)
- \Box The third column shows the new values you've specified yourself

Where the values are different, you can see fields where your values differed from the other person's. The **Next Conflict** and **Previous Conflict** buttons jump to fields where the values conflict.

In many records, some field values will look like nonsense strings of characters. These strings are actually links to other tables. For example, the "**Category**" field refers to an entry in the **Unit Categories** list. The field's value is a meaningless string that serves as a pointer. You can see if two pointers have the same value, but you can't tell anything about the record they point to.

When conflicts occur, it's best to click the **No** button on every conflict; this basically says, "Ignore what I just did.") Then just go back and start editing the record again. This time you'll see the values that the other person put in. You can then decide which of these you want to change.

Reports

Reports can display and analyze your maintenance information. Many sections in the control panel have subsections that offer reports; for example, **Work Orders** | **Reports** offers you a number of reports dealing with work orders.

When you choose the control panel entry for a report, you get a window that lets you specify options for the report:



Report Sections

The window associated with a report organizes options into sections.

Grouping and **Sorting**: Let you control how the report is organized. For example, suppose you're printing information on work orders. The **Grouping** options will divide the report into sections. For example, you might group your work orders by the location where the work will take place. Inside each group, you can

specify subgroups if you wish.

The **Sorting** options tell how to sort records each each group and subgroup. For example, if you are grouping work orders by location, you might sort each group section by the date the work orders are supposed to begin. You can specify additional sorting options as well. For example, if you are sorting group sections by starting date, within each such date, you might choose to sort by expected duration; in this way, shorter jobs would be listed before longer ones.

For both **Grouping** and **Sorting**, you can specify either ascending or descending order. For example, if you sort records by date, you can go from earliest to latest or vice versa.

Each grouping/sorting option is followed by three buttons:



These let you change the position of the option within the list of options or delete the option entirely.

Grouping options break a report into sections. Each section has headings to indicate the start of the section, and may have footers as well. If a section has more than five entries, the total number of entries will be shown in parentheses after the group heading. *Sorting* options sort information within each section; they do not result in headings.

If a particular group has no elements, the group will not appear in the report. For example, suppose you're printing information about inventory items, grouped by item category. If a particular category has no items in it, that category will be omitted from the report.

- **Filters**: A *report filter* lets you select which records you do and don't want in the report. For example, you might want to restrict a report about units to units in a particular category or range of unit IDs. Filter sections let you specify such restrictions.
- **Field Selection**: Lets you specify what information should be included in the report. The section lists all the pieces of information that *may* be included in the report. Each possibility has a checkbox beside it; if you checkmark the checkbox, the information will appear in the report. Otherwise, it won't.

The first time you go to a print window during a MainBoss session, a default set of checkboxes will be checkmarked. If you change any of these, MainBoss will remember your changes throughout the rest of the session. However, when you quit MainBoss, everything gets set back to the defaults.

For some reports, the **Field Selection** window may have special checkboxes. For example, some reports have a **Suppress Costs** checkbox; if you checkmark this

checkbox, any money amounts that would otherwise be printed will be omitted from the report.

Some print windows will have a number of checkboxes at the bottom of the page under the heading **Show Child Records**. These checkboxes let you choose extra optional information that may be included in the report.

The columns in a report are made wider or narrower, depending on how many pieces of information you've asked for. Asking for many different data fields will shrink the width of each column and may make the report difficult to read. Printing a report in landscape format rather than portrait may improve readability. Another option is to export the report to Microsoft Excel; if you do that, you can avoid the problems that arise from trying to cram a lot of information onto a limited piece of paper. One other solution is to use the "**Report width in pages**" option discussed below.

Advanced: Lets you specify a title for the report when it is printed, the fonts to be used, and additional information.

In some reports, **Advanced** options let you obtain *summaries*. A summary typically gives totals and sub-totals of monetary amounts for the groups and subgroups of the report. In some cases, the summary may also give you averages (e.g. the average lifespan of a particular kind of equipment). If you do not specify **Grouping** section options, summaries may not give you much information.

Report width in pages: By default, reports are one page wide (where the page width is dictated by your current printer settings). If a report contains many fields, you can set the value of this field to a number higher than 1; for example, if you set the field to 2, each line in the report will be two pages wide. This allows more space for the information you want to see.

When a report is more than one page wide, the effects vary depending on whether you look at the report on your monitor screen or whether you actually print it out. In a screen preview, you can simply use the usual scroll bars to look at lines that are too wide to fit on the screen. In a printed report, each line of the report will be the given number of pages wide. For example, if the report width is 2 pages, each line will be two printed pages wide. You could then tape pages together to get a more readable report.

In general, "**Report width in pages**" should be set to 1, unless you actually need wider lines. If you specify a large page-width when you don't need it, the report will look worse than if you use the default width. In addition, a large page-width is likely inappropriate when you're printing single work orders for workers or purchase orders for vendors—the results will probably be harder to read than the default format.
Preview: Displays a preview of the report—a version of what you'd see if you actually printed the report on paper. Preparing such a preview may take some time, since MainBoss may have to process a lot of data; therefore, you might have to wait while MainBoss creates the preview.

The **Preview** section has buttons that let you specify which printer you want to use, the size of page margins, and other printing details. Another button lets you export data from the report (e.g. to Microsoft Excel). Finally, the **Preview** section has a button that will actually print the report.

Depending on the contents of your database, certain combinations of options in **Grouping**, **Sorting**, **Filters**, **Field Selection** and **Advanced** may result in a report with little or no useful information. You are encouraged to experiment with the options to find combinations that are particularly helpful to your work.

Filtering on Locations and Units: Various reports let you filter by locations and/or units. In general, if you use a filter to select one or more locations, the report does *not* cover sublocations (unless you select the sublocations too). Similarly, if you use a filter to select one or more units, the report does *not* cover sub-units (unless you select the sub-units too).

However, when you filter on locations, the filter window offers you the option **Location** and all sublocations. If you select this option, MainBoss lets you specify a single location; the associated report will cover that location and all sublocations within the location. Similarly, when you filter on units, the filter window offers you the option **Unit and all subunits**. If you select this option, MainBoss lets you specify a single unit; the associated report will cover that unit and all subunits within the unit.

Report Buttons

Every window for printing a report contains a number of buttons at the bottom:

- Immediately prints the report, using whatever sorting and filtering options you have specified. You can use this button if you don't want to preview it first. You can cancel printing with the Cancel button.
- **Export Data**: Exports the report's data in XML format. The result is primarily intended to serve as input for user-written programs which process the data in some way. This contrasts with the **Preview** export facilities (discussed below), which are most useful for embedding in Microsoft Word documents and other "unprocessed" contexts.
- **Clear Select for Printing**: If you click this button, MainBoss removes the checkmark from all **Select for Printing** boxes on all work orders. Typically, you do this after printing work orders that have been marked **Select for Printing**.

Cancel: Cancels the preparation and printing of a report. This button is enabled only when MainBoss is preparing a report, i.e. gathering the data and formatting it. Once the report is ready to print, MainBoss hands off the result to the Microsoft Windows printing facilities; after the report has been handed off to Windows, MainBoss has no more control over the print-out and the **Cancel** button won't work. (If you want to cancel the print-out after that, you must use the standard Windows printer control facilities.)

Depending on the configuration of Windows and the Microsoft Report Viewer, canceling a report may result in a diagnostic message. Typically, you can just ignore this message.

- **Close**: Closes the window. (This button is only present if you opened a separate window to print the report.)
- C: Goes to the **Preview** section of the window and creates a preview of the report. Preparing such a preview may take some time.

The Preview Window

The **Preview** section of a print window contains a control bar like this:

🕅 🖣 1 of 46 🕨 🔰 | 🖨 🛞 | 🌐 🛄 🛄 🖳 💐 🛛 100% 🛛 🗸 Find | Next

This bar contains the following (from left to right):

If you click an entry in the left-hand panel of the preview, the preview changes to show you that entry.

- First Page button: Goes to the start of the document.
- Previous Page button: Goes to the previous page of the document.
- 1 of 4 Gives the number of the page that is currently being displayed and the total number of pages in the report. You can go to a specific page by typing the appropriate page number into the box. (The number of the last page is not finalized until the entire report has been generated. This means that the number may not appear when a preview begins, and the number may also change as report generation continues.)
- Next Page button: Goes to the next page of the document.
- H Last Page button: Goes to the last page of the document.

 Parent Report button: Only applies when a report contains sub-reports, and this feature is not currently used.

Stop button: Stops MainBoss processing the report. You might click this if MainBoss is preparing a lengthy report and you decide you don't want to see the report after all.

Print button: This is the button that actually prints the report.

0

₩.

Print Layout button: Switches the format of the preview display.

By default, the left side of the display contains an index of the information in the report. Clicking an entry in the index will move to the corresponding information. The mouse wheel can move forward or backward through the report but it doesn't necessarily move backward or forward by a whole number of pages.

If you switch to the alternate format, you see a scaled-down version of the page as it will actually print. The mouse wheel will move from one page to the next.

Page Setup button: Opens a window where you can specify paper size, margin size, and other printing information.

Page Setup information specified within MainBoss always overrides any default options associated with your printer, even if you specify printer options at the time you print the report. For example, suppose you specify a page setup of Landscape orientation, but when you go to print the report, you specify Portrait. The Landscape overrides Portrait because the "page setup" in MainBoss overrides anything you specify directly with the printer.

Page Setup options specified for one MainBoss report do not affect options for different MainBoss reports. For example, if you set options when printing work orders, those options will not affect the Page Setup for printing any other MainBoss report. The options will also be forgotten when you quit MainBoss.

Export button: Exports information from the report into a file. If you click the down-arrow associated with this button, you'll see a list of available export formats. The formats currently supported include Microsoft Excel, Microsoft Word and Acrobat PDF.

Once you specify what type of output you want, MainBoss opens a window asking you to specify where the exported data should be stored. Loosely speaking, MainBoss exports the data in a format similar to what's displayed in the preview. For example, if you export data in Excel format, the result can be read into Excel (or embedded in a Microsoft Word document) to produce something that looks like the original report. If, on the other hand, you want to export data for processing by some user-written program, it's better to use the **Export Data** button (discussed previously).

Note: When you export data in PDF format, MainBoss uses the margin sizes and paper size as specified in the report's current **Page Setup** settings.

Scale: Controls the scale of information displayed in the preview window. For example, if you set the scale to 200%, you'll see the information at twice its normal size. If you set the scale to 50%, you'll see it at half its normal size.
 Find I Next
 Find I Next
 Searching: To search for information in the report, type the text you want to find in the box, then click "Find". For example, if you're looking at a full Units report and want information on a particular unit, type the unit name in the box and click "Find". Clicking the associated "Next" button

goes to the next occurrence of the same text.

Select For Printing

Work orders, requests, and purchase orders have a checkbox labeled **Select for Printing**. The purpose of this is to simplify the task of printing a number of newly created records in a single print run.

For example, suppose you create several work orders every day. By default, **Select for Printing** is checkmarked in every new work order. To print all the new ones, go to **Work Orders** | **Print**, go to the **Filters** section, and checkmark **Select for Printing** in the "**Work Older Filters**" options. (Click **Enable Filter** in the resulting window.)

This tells MainBoss that you want to print all work orders where **Select for Printing** is checkmarked. Once you've printed all those work orders, you can click the **Clear Select for Printing** button (at the bottom of the window for printing). This removes the checkmark from **Select for Printing** in *all* work orders. The next time you ask to print **Select for Printing** requests, you'll only print work orders created *after* you clicked **Clear Select for Printing**.

You might decide to print off work orders at the end of each day. During the day, work orders are created, with **Select for Printing** checkmarked. At the end of the day, you print all work orders with **Select for Printing** checkmarked, then **Clear Select for Printing** on all work orders. In this way, you only have to make one print-run per day.

The same principle applies to requests and purchase orders. When a new one is created, **Select for Printing** is checkmarked. Once you've printed work orders or purchase

orders, you can use **Clear Select for Printing** to remove the checkmarks and start over again with no records waiting to be printed.

Note: Suppose you use **Work Orders** | **Print** to prepare a report of all work orders that have **Select for Printing** turned on. Then suppose that you spend some time previewing the report before you print it out. Finally, you click **Clear Select for Printing**. This turns off **Select for Printing** on *all* work orders, including any that were created while you were previewing the report. The report won't include those new work orders (because they were created after the report was prepared), but you'll turn off **Select for Printing** anyway.

This demonstrates that you shouldn't leave a long gap between the time you create a "select for printing" report and the time you **Clear Select for Printing**. The same principle applies for requests and purchase orders.

Paper Size and Margins

When you start MainBoss, it sets the margin sizes for any report to default values, and sets the paper size to the default size associated with your default printer. You can change both the margins and the paper size by clicking the **Page Setup** button in the **Preview** section of any window that prints reports.

Note: Any change in margin size or paper size only affects the current printing window. Different reports will still have the default margin size and paper size. Also, if you close a report window then open it again, the margin size and paper size for that report will be set back to the defaults.

When you export data in PDF format, MainBoss uses the margin sizes and paper size associated with your current **Page Setup**. This means that you might use **Page Setup** to specify a paper size and/or margin sizes that your printer can't actually handle, if you intend to export the report in PDF format.

Formatting in Columns

Many reports have a **Show Report in Columns** option in the **Advanced** section. This organizes a report so that there is a single "line" for each record in the report, with the fields of each line broken up into separate columns. This format can be useful if you only want to see a few pieces of information from each record (as dictated by the **Show** checkboxes). However, it becomes unreadable if you try to cram too many pieces of information on a single line.

Note that if you print out the report in *landscape* format rather than *portrait*, you can put more on a line without losing readability. To change the format, use the "Page Setup" button near the top of the **Preview** section.

The column format is particularly useful if you intend to export the report's data to Microsoft Excel. In this case, it doesn't matter if the columns don't fit well on a piece of paper—in Excel, you can expand the columns so that they're readable on your computer screen.

Charts

A chart is special type of report that shows information in a graphical way. A chart report consists of one or more bar charts running either vertically or horizontally.

Some charts use different colors to distinguish different types of data on the same chart. For example, preventive maintenance work orders may be shown in a different color than corrective work orders.

Often the **Grouping** section of a chart report window will determine how chart information is organized. For example, the **Costs by Grouping** chart shows work order costs organized by whatever option(s) you specify in the **Grouping** section. If you choose **Work Category**, costs are broken down by work category; if you choose **Unit Location**, costs are broken down by location; and so on.

Some data and option selections may lead to charts that are difficult to read. In such cases, we recommend using the **Filters** section to reduce the amount of data you're trying to show in a single chart. Breaking your data into multiple charts may make the final results easier to understand.

Interrelated Records

MainBoss records are often linked to each other. For example, a record describing a piece of equipment might have a link to a service contract record, indicating that the equipment is covered by the service contract. This link is roughly analogous to a link on a web page: it's a pointer that MainBoss can follow in order to find related information.

If record A links to record B, record B often links back to record A. For example, just as an equipment record can link to a service contract, each service contract record has links to all the units covered by the contract. This makes it possible for MainBoss to go from equipment to service contracts or vice versa.

Now suppose you're creating a new unit record and you go to the **Service** section. If you haven't yet saved the unit record, you'll see that the **New Unit Service Contract** button in the **Service Contracts** section is disabled. Why? Because the unit record doesn't exist until you save it. If you tried to create a new service contract record before the unit record was saved, there'd be nothing to link the service contract back to.

For this reason, the **New Unit Service Contract** button for service contracts stays disabled until you save the unit record. After that, the **New Unit Service Contract** button is enabled and you can use it to create a new service contract.

Note that if you hold the cursor on a disabled **New** button, a tooltip will explain the situation.

If this seems confusing, just remember this rule: If you're in the middle of creating a new record, MainBoss may not let you create a connected record until you save the first record.

If you find that a **New** button is deactivated, saving the current record will usually activate the button.

Accounting Facilities

MainBoss lets you keep track of various types of costs: the amount you pay for equipment, materials, outside contractors, etc., and the amount you charge for your maintenance department's work.

Note: MainBoss is not a full-fledged accounting package. However, it does keep track of the transactions needed by such a package. This information can be exported for use with an accounting package.

MainBoss's accounting facilities are intended to simplify day-to-day operations, so that workers using MainBoss don't have to know which ledger account is used for which expenses. In order to make this possible, someone familiar with your organization's accounting practices must set up a number of definitions that workers can then use.

For a complete description of how to set up MainBoss's accounting facilities, see the <u>Configuration</u> guide. The description here is only an overview of the basic concepts.

MainBoss's accounting facilities generate a reliable audit trail of accounting records based on your general ledger accounts. However, there is currently no direct method for using these records in conjunction with any accounting software package. You will have to export the information from MainBoss and process it into a format acceptable to your accounting package.

The Accounting Module: If you have licensed the MainBoss **Accounting** module, you will have access to various special facilities for tracking accounting information:

□ *Cost Centers*: If you have licensed the MainBoss **Accounting** module, you will be able to define cost centers. Most organizations will set up a single cost center for each general ledger account used by the maintenance department. However, it is possible to set up multiple cost centers all corresponding to a single general ledger account. This makes it possible to have detailed cost breakdowns for your

department's purposes, even if such detailed breakdowns aren't required by your organization as a whole.

For example, suppose you only use a single ledger account for material expenses. You can create a single cost center named Materials for that ledger account. However, you might decide to create multiple cost centers like Electrical Materials, Plumbing Materials, Mechanical Materials, and so on, all corresponding to the same single ledger account. This lets MainBoss give you a more detailed breakdown of your materials expenses, even though your actual accounting system doesn't subdivide expenses in this way.

If you have not licensed the MainBoss **Accounting** module, MainBoss hides all references to cost centers. Therefore, you won't define any cost centers and you won't see them used anywhere in the software.

□ *Expense Models:* An expense model is a type of MainBoss record that describes how you're going to "cost out" a particular work order. For example, on jobs that you do for Client X, you might be required to categorize expenses in one way; on jobs for Client Y, you may have to use a different system of classification. As another example, organizations that receive government grants may have to write up expenses in different ways on grant projects than on other types of work.

When you create a work order, you choose the appropriate expense model for the job. You should have a separate expense model for all the different expense-reporting formats that you may have to use.

Expense Categories: Each expense model has a set of associated expense categories. These are the categories that must be used to classify expenses in this particular situation. You might have categories like

```
Spare parts
Work materials
Labor from outside contractors
```

When you prepare a work order, you look at each expense and ask, "What *type* of expense is this?" You choose the expense category from the list of available categories associated with the expense model.

If you have licensed the **Accounting** module, each expense category within an expense model has an associated cost center. This indicates the general ledger account that should be used for that expense category within that expense model. Linking an expense category to a cost center is called an *expense mapping*.

As an example, suppose that a property management company creates two separate general ledger accounts for each tenant: one for labor expenses and one for material expenses. This might lead you to set up the following cost centers:

Cost Centers Ledger Account TenantA Labor 00001

TenantA	Materials	00002
TenantB	Labor	00003
TenantB	Materials	00004
TenantC	Labor	00005
TenantC	Materials	00006

For each tenant, you create an expense model: TenantA Model, TenantB Model, TenantC Model. The TenantA Model would contain the following expense categories:

Category	Associated	Cost Center
Labor	TenantA	Labor
Materials	TenantB	Materials

TenantB Model and TenantC Model would be similar.

Whenever you create a work order, you have to assign it an expense model. Suppose you're doing a job for Tenant A. You look at your list of expense models and see that there is one especially associated with Tenant A; you therefore assign that expense model to the work order.

Next you have to assign an expense category to each expense on the work order. When you look at the list of categories associated with TenantA Model, you see there are only two: Labor and Materials. Therefore, you just have to assign one of those two categories to each expense on the work order. If you have the **Accounting** module, this also associates a cost center with each expense, and therefore a general ledger account. Note, however, that when you fill out the work order, you only have to make two types of decisions:

- □ Which model do we use (what general approach will we use to "cost out" this job)?
- □ For each expense on the work order, which available expense category does it belong to?

Expense categories may be restricted to certain uses. For example, you might specify that an expense category can be used for labor expenses but not for inventory items or for miscellaneous expenses. This prevents expense categories being used for inappropriate entries.

Default Accounts: The MainBoss accounting facilities let you separate out expenses in a sophisticated way (e.g. if you keep separate accounts for each tenant). If your needs are more simple, MainBoss has default expense models and expense categories that you can use, with or without modification.

If you don't need accounting at all, just use the default expense model for all work orders. Choose the default expense categories for every item on the work order.

Whenever you create a work order, you *must* specify an expense model. If you haven't set up your own expense models, use the default model.

Similarly, whenever you add an item to a work order, you *must* specify an expense category. If you haven't set up your own categories, use the default ones.

Displaying Accounting Records: To display the accounting records that MainBoss creates, you use **Administration** | **Accounting**.

Corrections

Some editors have a **Correct** button. **Correct** is used to make corrections to information that has already generated accounting transactions (e.g. records of actual costs on work orders). To maintain an accurate audit trail, MainBoss doesn't let you change or delete existing accounting records. Instead, you have to create new *correction* records which add or subtract from previous monetary values.

On a similar principle, *physical count* records resulting from taking inventory can't have their numbers altered once the record is saved. Instead, you have to *void* (cancel) a physical count, then record a new count. Again, the point is to prevent numbers from being fudged—you always leave an audit trail.

Security Roles

In order to use MainBoss, users need to be assigned one or more security roles. The available roles are listed in **Administration** | **Security Role**. The comments provided in each role record indicate what permissions that role provides.

Security roles affect what a user sees: if a user doesn't have permission to see a particular type of information, that information will be blanked out or missing entirely from MainBoss windows. Security roles also affect what a user can do; for example, if a user has permission to view work orders (WorkOrderView) but not to close them, the **Close Work Order** button will be disabled for that user.

Important: When information is blank because you don't have appropriate permissions, move the cursor to the blank; MainBoss will tell you what security roles will give you permission to see that information. Similarly, if a button is disabled, move the cursor to the button; MainBoss will tell you what security roles will allow you to use that button. Note, however, that in some cases, information will disappear entirely (e.g. sections of records just won't be displayed); in this case, you may not even know that something is missing.

To assign security roles to a user, you use the **Security Roles** section of a user record (**Administration** | **Users**). In order to decide what roles an individual user should be

granted, you must consider what that user is expected to do in his/her job. For example, consider someone working on a help-desk and receiving problem reports from clients outside the maintenance department. What does that person need to do?

- □ He or she will need to create work requests describing problems; that requires Request permission.
- □ Help-desk personnel also need a small amount of information on work orders (so that they can tell a client, "Your work has been scheduled for Thursday"). This suggests the WorkOrderSummary security role.
- □ The UnitSummary role might also be useful. It gives help-desk personnel enough information about units to make sure they understand which unit the client is talking about.

Other roles may also be appropriate, depending on what help-desk personnel are expected to do, and on your organization's policies.

The <u>Configuration</u> guide offers suggestions on which security roles are appropriate for various duties within a maintenance organization.

Related Security Roles: Security roles tend to come in related groupings; for example, WorkOrder, WorkOrderView, WorkOrderFulfillment and WorkOrderSummary are all roles related to work orders.

In such a grouping, some roles automatically include others. For example:

- □ WorkOrder automatically includes all the other roles in the grouping.
- □ WorkOrderView automatically includes WorkOrderSummary.

For this reason, there's no point in giving someone both WorkOrder and WorkOrderView (for example), because WorkOrder automatically includes all the permissions of WorkOrderView.

In general, a View role automatically includes the related Summary role and a role with a simple name automatically includes roles of the same name with extra words (e.g. PurchaseOrder automatically includes PurchaseOrderView, PurchaseOrderSummary, and PurchaseOrderReceive).

Cost-Related Security Roles

Only a few security roles allow users to see monetary values. For example, the AccountingWorkOrder role lets a user see the actual costs of materials (but not labor) on a work order.

Someone with the WorkOrder security role but not AccountingWorkOrder will be able to create work orders but will not be able to see or specify material costs on the work order. For example, you'll be able to record that you used a particular spare part

on a job but you won't know how much the part cost. You'll only be able to see material costs if you have the AccountingWorkOrder role (or some other accounting-related role). Furthermore, AccountingWorkOrder isn't sufficient to see labor costs; for that, you need Accounting or AccountingView.

If you don't have an appropriate accounting security role, you can't directly enter monetary values. However, MainBoss can enter monetary values for you. Loosely speaking, if you record that Joe Smith worked five hours, MainBoss can calculate the cost of that work based on Joe's salary, even if MainBoss doesn't tell you what that cost is.

More specifically, when someone creates a demand for labor or materials on a work order, the person creating the demand has a choice of three options related to the actual cost of the labor or materials:

Current value calculation: If you choose this option, you tell MainBoss to calculate costs based on the current value of labor and materials.

For materials, MainBoss checks its inventory records and determines the historic cost of the materials used; it uses this cost as the actual cost of the materials. For example, if you specify that a particular job uses a quart of oil, MainBoss determines the cost of a quart of oil from its inventory records. That cost is then used as the actual cost of the oil used.

For labor, MainBoss checks its labor cost records (hourly inside, per job inside, hourly outside, per job outside) and uses the costs specified in those records. For example, if you specify that employee Joe Smith worked five hours, MainBoss checks its hourly inside records to determine Joe's hourly wage. MainBoss then uses that hourly wage to determine the actual cost of five hours of Joe's time.

Demanded: This is similar to **Current value calculation** except that it uses costs as they were at the time of the original demand rather than the time the actual materials and labor were recorded. This makes a difference, for example, if a worker's hourly wage changes between the time of the demand and the time that actual hours are recorded.

Current value calculation and Demanded are useful in situations where costs can be specified by the person who creates the original demand, but not by the person who eventually records actual labor and material usage. This might happen when work orders are created by a dispatcher who has the roles WorkOrder and AccountingWorkOrder, but then the work orders are closed off by workers who only have the WorkOrderFulfillment role.

Manual entry: When this option is specified, the person who records actual costs must have AccountingWorkOrder or some other accounting role that allows costs to be entered directly. In this case, the "actualizer" may either choose the

same calculations as **Current value calculation** or **Demanded**, or may manually enter some different cost.

Note that these options specify *defaults* to be used in situations where the person who records actual labor and material usage doesn't have permission to specify costs. If the person recording actual usage has cost permissions, that person can override the defaults if and when desired.

Costs on Reports: In every report window, the **Advanced** section has a **Suppress Costs** option. This tells MainBoss not to print any costs that would normally appear in the report. This option is always in effect if you don't have an appropriate accountingrelated security role.

Bar Code Support

MainBoss Advanced can add bar codes to various printed reports including work orders, requests, purchase orders, storeroom assignments, and unit records. This provides a level of support for the use of bar codes in your operations.

To print bar codes on a report, go to the **Advanced** section of the report. On the line labeled **Bar Code Symbology**, choose the type of bar coding you wish to use. (There are numerous systems for representing data as bar codes, so you have to tell MainBoss which one you use.) Once you have specified a format, MainBoss will include a suitable bar code for each record in the print-out.

The bar code represents different information depending on the type of records being printed:

- □ For work orders, the bar code represents the work order's number (e.g. ₩0 00000001)
- □ For requests, the bar code represents the request's number (e.g. WR 0000001)
- □ For purchase orders, the bar code represents the purchase order's number (e.g. PO 00000001)
- □ For storeroom and storeroom assignment records, the bar code represents the value of the record's "External Tag" field; this field appears in the Details section of the associated record
- □ For unit, the bar code represents the value of the record's "**Unit Tag**" field; this field appears in the **Details** section of the associated record

When you read a bar code into MainBoss, MainBoss will open an editor for the entity associated with that bar code. For example, suppose you want information about a unit. If you read the bar code on the unit, MainBoss will immediately open the appropriate unit record in an editor window; this lets you obtain all the usual information from the unit record.

Important: Make sure that a window containing MainBoss's control panel is the active window at the time you read the bar code. If any other type of window is active (e.g. a window for editing a record or for printing a report), reading the bar code will not have an effect.

Default Bar Code Encoding: You can set your organization's default bar coding by going to Administration | Company Information and clicking \square . This opens a window where you can specify which type of bar coding you most often use. From this point on, that type of bar coding will always be set as the default in any report that can print out bar codes.

As with all default values, you can specify a different value in any specific situation. For example, if you don't want a particular report to include bar codes, you can set **Bar Code Symbology** to None when you print that particular report.

Drawbacks to Bar Codes: Many would-be bar code users think they can simply use the standard "universal" UPC bar codes that appear on most products (such as the codes that appear on grocery items in the supermarket). However, these usually aren't satisfactory.

For example, consider standard D cell batteries. To most maintenance departments, these are all the same. However, each brand of battery comes with a different UPC code; also different packages from the same manufacturer have different codes, so a two-battery package is different from a four-battery package. You might like a single "D cell" code for all such batteries, but you can't use the standard UPC code for that purpose.

A second problem is that manufacturers recycle UPC codes. Rubbermaid is well-known for this practice. When they discontinue a product, they re-use the old code for something new. They also use the same code for products with minor differences, e.g. similar products with different colors. This may or may not make a difference to your operations.

Similar problems apply if you use anyone else's bar codes, e.g. bar codes linked to a particular supplier's catalog numbers. If you use bar codes that come from anyone else, you may be caught by surprise changes or inconsistencies. For reasons like this, you will probably have to create your own bar codes for anything you want to identify. This can take a great deal of work, and must be planned carefully.

Note: MainBoss Advanced includes Barcode software developed by Neodynamic SRL (http://www.neodynamic.com/). All rights reserved.

Assignments

Requests, work orders, and purchase orders can be assigned to people. Someone assigned to a record is called an *assignee*.

Typically, you assign someone to a request if that person has some interest in the request. People who might be assigned to a request include:

- \Box The requestor
- □ The person who received the request from the requestor (e.g. help-desk personnel)
- □ Whoever is responsible for seeing that the request is handled satisfactorily (e.g. a maintenance supervisor)

Similarly, you assign someone to a work order if that person has some interest in the job. People who might be assigned to a work order include:

- \Box The requestor
- \Box The dispatcher who created the work order
- □ Whoever is responsible for seeing that the work is done (e.g. a maintenance supervisor)
- □ A bookkeeper or accountant who has to keep track of work expenses

Any worker who appears in a labor demand (inside or outside, hourly or per job) is automatically an assignee for the associated work order (provided that the worker is on the list of recognized Work Order Assignees). You don't have to create an assignment explicitly in the work order's **Assignees** section.

You assign someone to a purchase order if that person has some interest in the purchase. People who might be assigned to a purchase order include:

- \Box The vendor
- \Box Whoever created the purchase order
- □ Whoever will receive materials specified on the purchase order
- □ A bookkeeper or accountant who has to keep track of purchase expenses

Different organizations will have different policies for who is and isn't assigned to a record. For example, an organization might choose to assign requestors to requests but not to work orders. Similarly, help-desk personnel might be assigned to requests but not to work orders associated with those requests.

Your Assignments: When you run MainBoss, you'll see that the control panel has an entry labeled **My Assignment Overview**. If you expand this entry, you'll see

□ In Progress Requests

Open Work Orders

□ Issued Purchase Orders

These tables list active requests, work orders, and purchase orders to which you've been assigned. In other words, **My Assignment Overview** lists the requests, work orders and purchase orders that you're most likely to care about.

My Assignment Overview

The **My Assignment Overview** entry of the MainBoss control panel displays information on requests, work orders and purchase orders assigned to you.

- □ For requests, the window displays the number of new requests and the number of inprogress requests assigned to you.
- □ For work orders, the window displays the number of draft work orders and open work orders assigned to you.
- □ For purchase orders, the window displays the number of draft purchase orders and issued purchase orders assigned to you.

The \bigcirc button in this window updates the numbers to reflect any recent changes made by other people.

Online Help

While you are using MainBoss, you can obtain help in a number of ways:

- 1. If you point the cursor to a data field and leave it there for a moment, MainBoss will display a *tooltip* (a small yellow box) explaining what the data field is for.
- If you click the Help button at the bottom of the MainBoss window, or you press the <F1> key, MainBoss provides full documentation about the window you're looking at.
- 3. The MainBoss Help menu provides access to MainBoss's help files.
 - □ Help → Help gives you information about the screen you are currently looking at. For example, if you are looking at a table viewer, Help will provide information about the table and about what various buttons mean.
 - $\Box \quad \text{Help} \rightarrow \text{Table of Contents gives you the table of contents for the help files.}$
 - \Box Help \rightarrow Help Index gives you an index of important terms.
 - □ Help → Get Technical Support is useful if you currently have an Internet connection. It takes you to a web page that makes it easy to get help from MainBoss Support personnel.
 - □ Help → Start Support Connection can be used when you are talking on the phone with MainBoss Support personnel. They will explain how the entry can be used to help deal with any problems you might be having.
 - \Box Help \rightarrow About tells you which version of MainBoss you're using.

Online help is displayed using your web browser (for example, Internet Explorer or Firefox). If you want a print-out of any online help page, just use the print facilities of your browser.

MainBoss Sessions

A MainBoss *session* begins when you start the MainBoss program and ends when you quit the program. MainBoss sessions are controlled through the **Session** menu.

Maintenance Organizations

When you first begin using MainBoss, you may be asked to specify your maintenance organization:

W		View Organiza	ations						×
Session <u>H</u> elp									
Organization Name	Database Server	Database Name	DB Version	Access	Hide Panels	Preferred Mode	Status		
									-
Apply Filter									
Start Add Existing Organization	Remove from list Up	grade 💌 Set Default 💌 🆓 🕶	3						Exit
								Active	Help

If you have no existing maintenance organizations (i.e. if you just installed MainBoss), see the <u>Installation and Administration Guide</u> for information on creating a maintenance organization. Otherwise, click **Add Existing Organization**. This opens a window where you can specify what organization you want to use:

W	New Organization 🚽 🗖 🗙
Database Server Database Name	···· •
Organization Name	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Preferred Mode	 Make browsers smaller by not showing details for selected record by default MainBoss MainBoss Assignments MainBoss Requests Administration View Sessions
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save	ve Save & Close ▼
	Active 🕢 Help

During the MainBoss installation process, your MainBoss administrator will have created an appropriate database on a server computer. Ask your administrator for the data you need to fill in the above window. Click **OK** when finished.

When you add an organization to your list, the new addition is automatically made your default organization. Whenever you start MainBoss in future, the program will automatically open this maintenance organization. Therefore, most users will never have to specify a maintenance organization in future.

Changing to a Different Maintenance Organization

Some companies may create multiple maintenance organizations. For example, a property management company with multiple clients may create a separate database for each client. As a result, workers in such a company may need to switch from one maintenance organization to another while using MainBoss.

To do this, open the **Session** menu and click **Change Maintenance Organization**. This opens a window that lists all the maintenance organizations known to you. Choose an organization from this list, then click **Start**. MainBoss will open the corresponding database and you can begin working with the associated data.

Quitting MainBoss

To quit MainBoss, simply close all the MainBoss windows that you have open.

Note that you can close a main MainBoss window and still have other windows open. MainBoss continues to run on your computer until you close the last window.

Locations and Contacts

This chapter discusses the most important tables in MainBoss: Locations table and Contacts. You use these tables in almost every aspect of your work with MainBoss.

The <u>Configuration</u> guide describes how to set up your <u>Locations</u> and <u>Contacts</u> when you first install MainBoss. After initial set-up, some organizations may not add new locations or contacts very often. However, other organizations may add locations and contacts frequently, so this guide provides full details about working with these tables.

Locations

The **Locations** table lists all locations that are of interest to your work. Examples include:

- □ The building sites where you perform maintenance operations
- □ Home addresses of your personnel
- □ Business addresses of your suppliers
- □ Any other addresses or places you want to record

In other words, the **Locations** table is like an address book, containing any geographical information you consider useful.

At a minimum, your **Locations** should list all the buildings covered by your maintenance operations. Almost everything you do with MainBoss requires an associated location. When someone submits a problem report, you have to specify where the problem is; when you create a work order, you have to tell workers where they should go; when you track spare parts, you have to tell where the parts are stored.

Here's a simple **Locations** table:

" MainBoss Examples - MainBoss Maintena	nce Manager 🛛 🗕 🔍			
Session View Actions Help				
View Locations				
Code	Description			
MainBoss College Arts Building Gymnasium Science Building Services Building MainBoss Fleet Depot	College Demonstration Charles C. Jones Hall for the Arts John C. Smith Physical Activities C Mary C. Lamieux Science Researc Physical Services Building and Ga			
Garage	~			
Apply Filter Details Contacts Units Storemome Temporary Storage and	d tame			
Image: Contacts Units Storerooms Temporary Storage and Items Record Type Postal Address Code MainBoss College Description College Demonstration Address1 Address2 City Anyville Territory Country Postal Code GIS Location 43.40339' North, 80.47662' West				
New Postal Address New Sub Location 📝 👻 Sho	w on map 🗙 🎒 🚧 👻 🕄			
User MainBoss User (SQL Administrator) Organization MainBoss Exa	mples (Database 'MainBos: Active 🔞 Help			

This table has two types of locations:

□ *Postal addresses* specifying a single building (or a set of buildings that all have the same postal address, as in a college campus). When you create a postal address record, you specify all the usual address information (street address, city, state or province, etc.).

□ *Sub Locations* which are locations inside other locations. When you create a sub location record, you specify the location that contains the sub location. (The containing location must already have a record in your **Locations** table.)

Sub locations can have sub locations of their own. In the preceding picture, Room 100 is a sub location of Floor 1 which is a sub location of OurBuilding. You can organize your locations and sub locations in any way you like.

Notice that MainBoss depicts locations using a *tree* picture similar to the way that Windows Explorers shows folders, subfolders, and files. This makes it easy to see which locations contain which sub locations.

Postal Addresses

Here's a typical example of a postal address record:

a [⊕]				New Postal A	Address		- 🗆 🗙
Details C	Contacts	s Units	Storerooms	Temporary Storage and	Items		
C	ode O	ur Building					
Descript	Description Headquarters						
Addres	ss1 12	23 Any Stre	eet				
Addres	ss2						
(City A	nyville					
Territ	tory						
Cou	ntry						
Postal C	ode						
GIS Locat	tion 43	3.40343° N	lorth, 80.4766	7° West			
Comme	ents						~
							Y
Save & <u>N</u> e	ew	<u>S</u> ave 🔻	Save & Cl	ose Canc <u>el</u> 🔻	Show on map		
						T	Active 🚷 Help

As shown, it contains a brief identifier code, a longer description of the location, and standard address information.

□ To create a postal address record:

1. In the control panel, click **Locations**. This opens the **Locations** table viewer.

" MainBoss Examples - MainBoss Mainte	enance Manager 🛛 🗖 🗙
Session View Actions Help	
View Locations	▼ 🗐 ▼
Code	
MainBoss College Arts Building Gymnasium Science Building Services Building Gymnasis Fleet Depot	College Demonstration Charles C. Jones Hall for the Arts John C. Smith Physical Activities C Mary C. Lamieux Science Researc Physical Services Building and Ga
- Garage - Main Office	~
Apply Filter	
Details Contacts Units Storerooms Temporary Storage and Items	
Record Type Sub Location	
Code Food court	
Description	
GIS Location	
Containing Location Floor 2 @ MainBoss Mall	
Comments	
New Postal Address New Sub Location Verticiation Show on ma	ap 🗙 🎒 🚧 🗸 🕄
User MainBoss User (SQL Administrator) Organization MainBoss Examples (E	Database 'MainBossFullDemc Active 🕢 Help

2. In the **View** section of the table viewer, click **New Postal Address ①**. This opens a window where you can enter information about the location.

θ _a	New Postal Address		×
Details Conta	cts Units Storerooms Temporary Storage and Items		
Code	0		•
Description	6		
Address1			
Address2			
City			
Territory			
Country			
Postal Code			
GIS Location			
Comments			^
	Δ		Υ
Save & <u>N</u> ew	Save V Save & Close V Show on map		
		 Active 	a 🕜 Help

- 3. In "Code" **2**, enter a short identification code for this location.
- 4. In "**Description**" **(5)**, enter a longer description of the location.
- 5. In the other fields of the record, enter address information for the location.
- 6. Click **Save & Close 4** to save the information and close the window.

If you're typing in a lot of postal addresses at once, you can use **Save & New** to save the information you've just typed, then set up a new empty record so you can record another address.

A postal address record contains a "**Comments**" field. You can use this field to record any information that isn't covered by the other fields. For example, you might provide driving directions from your headquarters to the address if your personnel would find such information useful.

The **Contacts** area of the postal address record lists people you know at the given location. These are people from your **Contacts** list (discussed later in this chapter). When you first start setting up MainBoss, this area will be blank. It's filled in automatically when you begin recording contact information.

As a special feature, MainBoss makes it easy for you to use Google Maps to specify "Map Coordinates". First, use Google Maps to find the location's geographic position. Then, right-click on the location in the Google Maps display and click Center map here in the resulting menu. Next, click the button in the left-hand panel with the link icon on it (a section of chain). Finally, copy the given URL (beginning with http:) and paste it into the "Map Coordinates" field in MainBoss. MainBoss will extract the longitude and latitude from the Google Maps URL.

Sub Locations

A sub location is contained in another location. Sub locations can contain their own sub locations.

□ To create a new sub location record:

1. In the **View** section of the **Locations** table viewer, click **New Sub Location**. This opens a window where you can enter information about the sub location:

Rew Sub Location	-		×
Details Contacts Units Storerooms Temporary Storage and Items			
Code D			•
Description 2			
GIS Location			
Containing Location 合 MainBoss College 🚯	*	•••	•
Comments			^
			~
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save & Close ▼ Show on map			
	▼ A	ctive	🕜 Help

2. In "Code" **O**, enter a short identification code for this location.

- 3. In "Description" 2, enter a longer description of the location.
- 4. In "Containing Location" ⁽⁶⁾, specify the location that contains this sub location.
- 5. Click Save & Close 4 to save the information and close the window.

Note that "**Contained Within**" is a drop-down list. You usually fill in the value by clicking the first arrow, which displays your current locations. However, you can also click the "…" (which displays your full **Locations** table) or by clicking the last arrow (which offers you a menu of options for filling in the field).

Contacts

The **Contacts** table contains contact information for every person who's relevant to your maintenance work. This includes maintenance workers, other personnel in the company, outside contractors, suppliers, clients, customers, and anyone else whom you may wish to contact.

When you record information about a contact, you may specify a location for that person. You do this by specifying a record in your **Locations** table. This is often a postal address: the contact person's mailing address. However, for people inside your company, you might specify a sub location within one of your buildings. For example, in a shopping mall, you might have a contact person associated with each store; the location associated with each such contact is the store itself.

You can create an appropriate location record before you start creating a contact record. Alternatively, you can create a location record as needed in the middle of creating the contact record.

□ To create contact records:

1. In the control panel, go to **Contacts**. This opens the **Contacts** table viewer.

🐨 🛛 MainBoss Exar	nples - MainBoss Maint	enance Manager 💦 –	□ ×
Session View Actions	Help		
View Contacts			
Code	Business Phone	Mobile Phone	
John Falstaff	555-384-2094	555-934-3940	^
Josephine Bonaparte	555-389-9834	555-493-7773	_
Julius Caesar	555-8395	EEE 204 0007	
MainBoss User	000-332-4633	000-354-5567	~
Apply Filter			
Details Contact Functions	Contact Relations		
Code Julius	Caesar		
Business Phone 555-8	395		
Email icaes	ar@rome.it		
Home Phone			
Pager Phone			
Mobile Phone			
Wab LIRI			
Location			
Location Description			
User Name			
Preferred Language			··· 🔻
Comments			~
			×
New Contact	X 🖪 🗈 🗸 Create	e from Directory Service	• 3
User MainBoss User (SQL Adm	inistrator) Organization MainBoss	Examples (Database 'MainBossF	Active 🕜 Help

2. In the **View** section of the **Contacts** table viewer, click **New Contact ①**. This opens a window where you can enter contact information:

MB	New Contact – 🗖	×
Details Contact Fu	Inctions Contact Relations	
Cod		é
Business Phon		
Ema	ál	
Home Phon		
Pager Phon		
Mobile Phon		
Fax Phon	ie	
Web UR	IL	
Locatio		
User Nam		
Preferred Languag	je 🔽 🖂	
Comment	.8	
Save & <u>N</u> ew Sa	ave Save & Close Initialize from Directory Service	
	Active 💡	Help

- 3. In "Code" 2, enter the person's name.
- 5. Fill in any of the other fields for which you have appropriate information.
- 6. Click **Save & Close 4** to save your data and close the window.

Requests

This chapter is only relevant if you have licensed the **MainBoss Requests** module. If you do not have a license key for this module, the control panel will not contain entries related to requests.

This chapter outlines the usual sequence of events in dealing with a problem report received from outside the maintenance department. Such a problem report is called a *request* or *work request*.

What is a Request?

A request is a description of a *problem*. Here are some situations that might initiate a request:

- \Box An office is too hot
- \Box A tap is dripping
- □ A piece of equipment has stopped working
- □ A piece of equipment is squeaking
- \Box A parking lot has a pothole

Often, such problems are reported by someone outside the maintenance department. Problem reports usually come in by phone or email.

Requests vs. Work Orders: A request specifies a *problem*; a work order specifies a *solution*. Roughly speaking, a request might state, "The light has burned out in the atrium", while a work order might state, "Chris, get a 1000-watt bulb from Storeroom 101 and replace the burnt-out bulb in the entrance atrium."

Requestors

The person who submits a request is called the *requestor*. Some maintenance departments only accept requests from *authorized* requestors; others will accept requests from anybody.

If you only accept requests from authorized requestors, the names of such requestors should be listed in your **Requestors** table (**Coding Definitions** | **Requests** | **Requestors**). The <u>Configuration</u> guide explains how to set up this table. In day-to-day operations, you just have to select an existing requestor from the table whenever you create a request.

When Your Requestor Base is Huge: Your MainBoss license may limit the number of entries you may have in your Requestors table. In some cases, however, your maintenance department may accept requests from huge numbers of people; for example, a city's road-maintenance department could conceivably receive complaints about potholes from anyone in the city. In this case, your best solution might be to create a requestor record in the name of Other, or General Citizen, or something like that. When a request comes in from someone who is unlikely to submit many requests, you can record their request using this general requestor record, possibly using the request's "Comments" field to record the requestor's actual name and contact information.

Codes Used in Requests

Requests use codes to provide information. For example, a *request priority code* can indicate how urgent a particular request is. The codes include:

Request priority codes

These can indicate how urgent the request is. Specifying a priority code is useful if a request is more urgent than usual (or if it's considerably less urgent than usual).

Access codes

These indicate any restrictions on access to the work area or when the job can be performed. For example, if a location is only accessible during normal work hours or if a piece of equipment should only be serviced on weekends, the restriction may be specified using an access code.

These codes are set up using **Coding Definitions** | **Requests** | **Request Priorities** and **Coding Definitions** | **Access Codes**. For more information, see the <u>Configuration</u> guide.

Request States

A request can be in one of the following states:

New: The request has been created and is waiting for attention.

- In Progress: Maintenance personnel have marked the request as being in progress. This is often used when requests have been submitted by email using the MainBoss Service module (*Requests and MainBoss Service* on page 71). When you label a request as "in progress", you send a message to the requestor saying that the request has been received and is being processed.
- **Closed**: Typically, this means that the work is finished and the problem has been solved. However, requests are also marked as closed if they're *voided*—if maintenance personnel have decided to reject or cancel the request.

Each of these states has its own table viewer. For example, **Requests** | **New Request** lists new requests—ones that are waiting for attention. This table is particularly useful if you're running the **MainBoss Service** module, which automatically creates new requests based on incoming email. **Requests** | **New Request** shows you new requests created by this automatic process (as well as other requests created by hand).

Since the main **Requests** table shows *all* of your requests, it's usually easier to find a specific request if you go to one of the single-state tables.

Creating a Request

To create a new request, you begin at the control panel entry for **Requests**.

ه My MainBoss - Mai	nBoss Maintenance Manager 🛛 🗕 💌
Session View Actions Help	
View Requests	
Number Requestor	Subject
WR 0000001 Holly Happy	Test
WR 0000002 Jackie James WR 0000002 Jackie James	Test 2
	lest 3
Apply Filter	
Details Assignments Email Request Work Orders State History	
Number WR 00000001	
Subject Test	
Effective Date State State	s Estimated Completion Date
Name Publication Provinces	Email
Requestor Holly Happy 555-902-8723	holly@honeymoon_holidays.com
Unit	
Access Code	
Priority J: 1 WEEK	
Description	A 1
	× .
Comments	^ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Select for Printing	×
New Request V 🛃 Close Request V	Link Work Orders New Work Order New Requestor Comment
User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Organization My MainBoss (MB35Te	st: Database 'MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQLEXPRESS') Active 🔞 Help

□ To create a new work request:

1. In the View section of the **Requests** table, click **New Request ①**. This opens a window where you can create a new request.

Q _n	New Reque	st	- 🗆 🗙		
Details Assignments Email Request Wor	k Orders State History				
Number WR 00000001					
Subject 2					
Effective Date	State	Status	Estimated Completion Date		
Current					
Name Requestor	Business Phone	Email			
Use Access Code from U	Init				
Access Code			▼ … ▼		
Priority D					
Description			^		
Ũ					
			~		
Comments			~		
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Select for Printing					
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save & <u>P</u> rint <u>S</u> ave ▼	Save & Close In Progress Cance	Link Work Orders New	Work Order New Requestor Comment		
			💌 🛒 🔻 Active 🔞 Hel		

- 2. In "Subject" 2 type a brief description of the problem.
- Set "Requestor" ● to the name of the person who submitted the request. ("Requestor" comes from your Requestors table. If your company only accepts requests from authorized requestors, the submitter should already be in the list. Otherwise, you can create records for new requestors by clicking "…" ④.)
- 4. Set "**Unit**" **S** to the unit where the problem occurred.
- 5. If there are restrictions on access to the unit, set "Access Code" ^(G) to a code that describes those restrictions.
- 6. If this job has a greater or lower priority than normal, see "**Request Priority**" **②** to an appropriate priority code.
- 7. In "Description" ⁽³⁾ describe the problem in as much detail as you like.
- 8. Click **Save & Close** to save the information you've entered. MainBoss will close the window when the information has been saved.

Working with Requests

The **Requests** table viewer has a number of buttons at the bottom of the **View** section. These include:

- **G**: Lets you print one or more requests. See *Printing Requests* on page 67.

State change button: This is a drop-down button that offers a number of actions for changing the state of the selected request. The actions available for the drop-down button are determined by what kind of request is selected.

Operations that change the state of a request often open a window where you can record comments about your action. For example, if you **Void** (i.e. cancel) a request, MainBoss opens a window where you can record why you're canceling the request. If you have the **MainBoss Service** module, any comments that you enter are automatically sent back to the person who submitted the request.

The state change buttons include:

Close Request: Closes an open request.

- **Close Request (With Comment):** Closes the selected request, and also opens a window where you can record a comment about what you're doing.
- **Reopen:** Reopens a request that has been closed or voided. MainBoss will also open a window where you may record a comment explaining why you're reopening the request.
- In Progress (With Comment): Marks an open request as in progress. Using this button is particularly useful in connection with MainBoss Service: it's a way to send the requestor an email update about the request.

For example, suppose a piece of equipment breaks down. You make a quick temporary repair but won't be able to make a long-term fix until the weekend. By using **In Progress**, you can record what's going on. This note gets saved in your records; if you have **MainBoss Service**, it also gets emailed to the requestor (unless you've set an option that says this requestor shouldn't be sent such acknowledgements). You therefore keep the requestor informed, and also record useful information about exactly what happened on the job.

In Progress: Same as **In Progress**, but it doesn't ask you to enter a comment. Requestors will still receive an email acknowledgement indicating that the request is now considered "in progress", but the acknowledgement is basically just a form letter.

- **Void**: Cancels an open request. You might do this when the request first comes in (effectively rejecting the request) or at any point before the request is closed.
- **New Requestor Comment**: Sends a note to the requestor associated with the selected request, provided that you have the **MainBoss Service** module and that you haven't set the option that prevents requestors from being sent acknowledgements. This is similar to **In Progress (With Comment)**, but can be used any time—even if the request has been closed or voided.

Typical Request Life Cycle

To illustrate how requests are processed, here's one possible life cycle for a request:

- 1. Someone phones your service help-desk to report a problem. Help-desk personnel go to **Requests** in the MainBoss control panel and click **New Request** to create a new request.
- 2. Help-desk personnel record information about the problem in the new request record. Then they click **Save & Close** to save the request and close the window.
- 3. Sometime later, a maintenance department dispatcher goes to **Requests** | **New Request** in the MainBoss control panel. This lists all new requests, including the one that the help-desk just made.
- 4. The dispatcher selects the new request in the table viewer list. Information from the request is displayed in the table viewer. The dispatcher examines the request and determines what ought to be done.
 - □ If the request is acceptable, the dispatcher clicks **In Progress**, indicating that the request has been seen and accepted. MainBoss opens a window where the dispatcher can record any comments about the request.
 - □ Otherwise, the dispatcher drops the arrow beside the **In Progress** button and clicks **Void**. This rejects the request. MainBoss opens a window where the dispatcher can enter a reason for rejecting the request.

The dispatcher typically repeats the above process for every request in the new request list.

5. The dispatcher next goes to **Requests** | **In Progress Requests** to review the requests there. This table viewer shows requests that have been accepted and marked as in progress. The dispatcher goes through the list and decides which are ready to be turned into work orders. (If necessary, the dispatcher may phone the requestor to obtain more information about the problem.)

To turn a request into a work order, the dispatcher clicks on the request in the table viewer, then clicks **New Work Order**. (This is discussed in the next chapter.) Creating a work order from a request puts the request in **Requests** | **In Progress Requests with linked Work Order**, although the request also remains listed in **Requests** | **In Progress Requests**.

- 6. The dispatcher assigns the work order to maintenance personnel who then do the work as specified.
- 7. When the job is finished, the work order is closed. Once the work order is closed, the dispatcher must close the request too.
- 8. The dispatcher goes to **Requests** | **In Progress Requests** | **In Progress Requests** with linked Work Order in the control panel. This lists open requests that have been used to make work orders.
- 9. The dispatcher finds the appropriate request in the list. The dispatcher selects this request, then clicks **Close Request**.

Request Status Codes

A request may be assigned a *status code*. Typically, such a code indicates that the request requires attention from someone, or that it is unusual in some way.

For example, in some sectors it is common to put requests on hold until someone from the maintenance department has gone out to verify that a problem actually exists. In this case, you might give the request a status like Waiting for verification. This status indicates that the request requires personal action from someone (whoever is assigned to verify the problem). Once this action has been taken, the status code can be removed and the request can continue with normal processing.

Your organization can create any type of status codes that make sense for the way you work. To see what codes have been defined by your organization, see **Coding Definitions** | **Requests** | **Request Statuses**.

You assign status codes to a request by clicking **New Requestor Comment** in a request table viewer or in a request record. This opens a window where you can specify a status. You use the same process to remove an existing status.

Printing Requests

You can print requests from any of the **Requests** table viewers (**Requests** | **New Request**, **Requests** | **In Progress Requests**, etc.). However, the easiest way to print a request is from the request record.

□ To print a specific request:

1. In any **Requests** table viewer, select the request you want to print.

"D My MainBoss - MainBoss Maintenance Manager -				
Session View Actions Help				
View Requests				
Number Requestor	Subject			
WR 00000003 Mike Mitchell10000	Water damage to back wall			
WR 00000004 Gary Neller	Fuses keep blowing			
WR 00000005 George Jasper	Urgent!			
Apply Filter				
Details Assignments Email Request Work Orders State History				
Number WR 0000003				
Subject Water damage to back wall				
Effective Date State Status	Estimated Completion Date			
Current Thursday, October 30, 2014 3:34:25.92 PI Closed				
Name Business Phone	Email			
Requestor Mike Mitchell10000 555-890-9728	mike@the_mechanice.com			
Unit A/C PIZZA @ ECODEEST				
Access Code				
Priority K: 2 WEEKS				
Description Water damage due to recent plumbing a	problems			
Description water damage due to recent prombing p				
	× .			
Comments	~			
	×			
 Select for Printing 				
New Request 🛛 🗸 🥑 Keopen 💌 🖓 👻 Link	Work Orders New Work Order New Requestor Comment			
User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Organization My MainBoss (MB35Test: Database 'MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQLEXPRESS') 🛛 Active 👔 Help				
2. Click $\square \bullet$. This opens the request record.

Q _n	Ed	it Request : WI	R 0000003			-	×		
Details Assignments Email Request	Work Orders	State History							
Number WR 0000003									
Subject Water damage to back wall									
Effective Date	State		Status		Estimated Completi	on Dat	e		
Current Thursday, October 30, 20	Closed								
Name		Business Phone		Email					
Requestor Mike Mitchell10000	▼ … ▼	555-890-9728		<u>mike@</u>	the mechanice.com				
Unit 😭 A/C PIZZA @ FO(DDFEST					▼ [•••• 🔻		
Use Access Code	Use Access Code from Unit								
Access Code						-	•••• ▼		
Priority K: 2 WEEKS		2 WEEKS				-	••• 🔻		
Description Water damage due	e to recent	plumbing prob	lems				^		
Comments							- X		
Comments							Q		
Select for Printing									
Print Save Print & Close	Re <u>o</u> pen 👻 (Close - Link	Work Orders	New Worl	k Order New Red	questor	Comment		
					▼ 🦉	✓ Ac	tive 🕜 Help		

3. Click **Print 2**. This opens a window where you can specify options for the printout.

Print Requests	- 🗆	×
Sorting Filters Field Selection Advanced Preview		
No Sorting) 100	<
Export Data Clear Select for Printing Cancel Close		
	2 📴 🔻	Help

4. Click 🗳 🖲. You'll see a preview of the request print-out:



5. Click the printer icon **4** to print the request.

To print a batch of new requests, you can use the **Select for Printing** feature—for more details, see *Select For Printing* on page 36.

Request Reports

Request reports provide information about your requests:

□ The *Request History Report* (**Requests** | **Reports** | **Request History**) prints out information about your requests. For example, suppose you want a building-by-building breakdown for your requests, to see which buildings have the most problems. In the **Grouping** section of the report window, you'd expand the **Unit** node then choose **Containing Location**. The resulting report would have a section for each location you maintain.

The Request State History Summary (Requests | Reports | Request State History Summary) provides information about the state and status of requests. For example, suppose you want information on your open requests. In the Filters section, filter by State, then drop the arrow on the associated value field. This lets you specify which states should be included in the report:



Once you checkmark which states you want to see, you can go to the **Preview** section to see the actual report.

□ The Average Request Duration Per Grouping chart (Requests | Charts | Average Request Duration By Grouping) shows how long requests take from start to finish (on average). You use the Grouping section to organize the report. For example, if you group by priority, the chart will show the average duration of requests in each priority class.

Requests and MainBoss Service

If your organization has licensed the **MainBoss Service** module, users can submit requests by email to an automated processing system. This system offers several benefits:

□ Requests from the web or email messages are automatically placed into your database files. Your personnel don't have to enter the requests by hand.

Many organizations with MainBoss Service have found a dramatic decrease in phone calls to the maintenance department. When people can report problems by the web or email, they don't use the phone. This frees up phone-answering personnel for other work.

- □ In order to keep the requestor informed, MainBoss Service sends email acknowledgements to the requestor at various points in the request process. This happens automatically when requests are created, when they're marked "in progress", when they're closed, and whenever someone uses **New Requestor Comment**. Requestors are happy because they're kept informed, and maintenance personnel are happy because they don't have to deal with people phoning in to ask what's happening with their request.
- □ MainBoss Service lets you specify whose email requests will be accepted. You list the email addresses from which the automatic processing program should accept requests. Requests sent from other addresses will not be accepted.

The <u>Installation and Administration Guide</u> explains how to set up MainBoss Service when you begin using MainBoss.

Keeping Requestors Informed: MainBoss Service automatically sends email acknowledgements to requestors when there's a change in the state of their requests. This happens when the automatic processing program places the request in the database and whenever you change the state of the request.

For example, when you click the **In Progress** button to indicate that a new request has been accepted, MainBoss opens a window where you can enter comments. Any information you enter will be emailed to the requestor. The same happens if you use **Void** to cancel the request, **New Work Order** to turn the request into a work order, **Close** to close the request, or **Reopen** to reopen the request again.

If you don't enter any specific comments at these points, the automatic request processor sends out email messages anyway. For example, when you create a work order from a request, the processor automatically creates an email message to tell the requestor about the work order. In many cases, the standard message is all that's necessary—you only have to add extra details if something requires special comments.

Work Orders

As noted in the previous chapter, a request describes a *problem* while a work order describes a *solution*.

To use the features discussed in this chapter, your version of MainBoss must have the **MainBoss** module.

A work order may contain any or all of the following information:

- \Box priority of the job
- \Box date/time the job should be done
- personnel assigned to do the job (possibly including labor costs based on the workers' wages)
- $\hfill\square$ length of time the job is expected to take
- \Box materials expected to be needed for the job
- \Box a detailed description of the work to be performed

Work orders aren't just useful for describing what should be done on a job—they also preserve a history of what got done. After a job is finished, it's important to record the parts and labor used, as well as any other information that might be useful to remember.

Work Order States

A work order can be in one of the following states:

- **Draft**: The work order has been created and saved, but is still considered easy to change. You may be waiting for additional information or some sort of approval before the work order can be finalized.
- **Open**: The work order contains all the information you want and has received any approvals it might need. It's ready to be issued to workers. The work order will remain in the open state until the job is actually finished.
- **Closed**: The job is finished and all information about the work has been recorded. A work order can't be changed when it's in the closed state. However, you can reopen a closed work order, make changes, then close it again.

Void: The work order was created but it was canceled before it became **Open**.

Each of these states has its own table viewer. For example, **Work Orders** | **Open Work Orders** lists open work orders. In addition, there is a combined **Work Orders** table that lists all work orders in all states. (Since this can be a lengthy list, it's usually easier to find work orders in one of the other work order lists.)

MainBoss has various buttons for changing the state of work orders. These are summarized below:

- □ Void: Changes Draft to Void, and also opens a window where you may record a comment about why you decided to cancel the work order
- □ **Re-Draft**: Changes **Void** to **Draft**, and also opens a window where you may record a comment about why you decided to reactivate the canceled work
- **Open:** Changes **Draft** to **Open**
- □ **Open Work Order (With Comment)**: Changes **Draft** to **Open**, and also opens a window where you may record a comment about what you're doing
- □ **Suspend**: Changes **Open** to **Draft**, and also opens a window where you may record a comment explaining why you suspended the work order
- **Close Work Order:** Changes **Open** to **Closed**
- □ **Close Work Order (With Comment)**: Changes **Open** to **Closed**, and also opens a window where you can record a comment about what you're doing
- □ **Reopen**: Changes **Closed** to **Open**, and also opens a window where you can record a comment explaining why you're reopening the work order

An open work order can also be **Overdue**. When you create a work order, you can specify dates for when the work should start and end. A work order is considered overdue if it's still open past its specified end date. **Work Orders** | **Overdue Work Orders** lists any work orders that are overdue.

If a work order has no specified end date, it will never be overdue. Therefore, you should usually specify an end date whenever you create a work order.

Work Order Status Codes: Work orders may be assigned status codes. Typically, a status code indicates that the work order needs someone's personal attention. For example, your organization may have status codes like

Waiting for management approval Waiting for parts Waiting for customer sign-off

Once the issue has been resolved, the status code may be removed and the work order may resume normal processing.

You can create any type of status codes that make sense for the way you work. To see what codes have been defined by your organization, see **Coding Definitions** | **Work Orders** | **Work Order Statuses**.

Note that status codes can be a useful form of communication between users. For example, suppose that a worker has the WorkOrderFulfillment security role (meaning that the worker can record actual labor and material usage) but does not have

the WorkOrderClose security role (which is needed to close a work order). The worker could give the work order a status like Ready to Close, indicating that all appropriate information has been recorded. A supervisor with WorkOrderClose permission could regularly check all open work orders to see if any are Ready to Close; if so, the supervisor can review those work orders and close them as appropriate (removing the status code in the process).

Remember that a status code is intended to bring a work order to someone's attention. You can therefore use status codes as signals for other users.

You assign status codes to a work order by clicking Add Work Order Comment in a work order or in a work order table viewer. This opens a window where you can specify a status. You use the same process to remove an existing status. Any existing status code is also removed when you open or close the work order.

Creating a Work Order

The sections that follow describe how to create a complete work order. You may or may not decide to follow all the steps. For example, you may not be using MainBoss's inventory facilities to keep track of work materials. If so, you can skip allocating materials for the job.

Before and After: When you first create a work order, you often supply estimates for various types of information. For example, you might specify when you expect the job to start and when you expect it to end. Once the job is finished, you can go back and put in the actual start and finish times.

The same applies to materials. Before a job, you can predict what materials you might need and record those materials in the work order. After a job, you can record what materials you actually used.

Emergencies: In emergencies, you may not have time to write up a work order before the job. However, you should write up the work order *after* the job, recording all relevant information. Work orders aren't just instructions for what to do on the job, they're a record of the work you do. This means it's *especially* important to record what you did during an emergency, since such work is often more high profile than run-of-the-mill maintenance.

Starting a New Work Order

There are several ways to create a new work order. Two common ones are starting from an existing work request and making the work order from scratch.

□ To turn a request into a work order:

1. Open a **Requests** table viewer that shows the request. This might be **Requests** | **New Request** (if the request is brand new) or **Requests** | **In Progress Requests** (if the request has been marked as in progress).

"D My MainBoss - MainBoss Maintenance Manager – 🗖							
Session View Actions Help							
View Requests		•					
Number Requestor	Subject						
WR 00000005 George Jasper	Urgent!						
WR 00000006 Allison Matrix WB 00000007 Gapy Neller	Dripping tap in women's washroom						
	V	_					
Apply Filter							
Details Assignments Email Request Work Orders State History	7						
Number WR 0000006		יך					
Subject Dripping tap in women's washroom							
Effective Date State Status	Estimated Completion Date						
Current Wednesday, December 10, 2014 3:30:08 New	E1						
Name Business Phone Requestor Alison Matrix 555.092.9872	Email allison@policycentre.com						
Init W/PLDY 28 @ BOA							
Access Code							
Priority							
Description Tap has been dripping all day	^						
Comments							
New Request	Link Work Order New Requestor Comment	<u> </u>					
User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Organization My MainBoss (MB35Te	st: Database 'MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQLEXPRESS') Active 🔞 He	alp					

2. Select the request in the table, then click **New Work Order •**. MainBoss opens a window where you can begin creating the work order.

If you create a work order from a request, MainBoss fills in some of the fields of the work order, using information from the request.

□ To create a new work order without starting from a request:

1. In the control panel, open the **Work Orders** viewer.

🥵 My MainBoss - MainBoss Maintenance Manager – 🗖 🗙								×					
Session	View Acti	ons Help											
Vie	w Work (Orders					Г				[- 6	
			_		_	-	-						
Number	^	Priority			Subject	Subject							
	00000001	I: 5 DAYS			CHANGE LIGHT IN ELEVATOR								~
	0000002	G: 24 HOUR			CHANC	GE LIG	HTS - Delis	ioso Restaruan	t area				11
(a) ₩0 (0000003	J: 1 WEEK			CHECK AND CHANGE LIGHTS AS NECESSARY IN PARKING								
	0000004	H: 48 HOUR			CHECK OUTSIDE LIGHTS							~	
		Eilher			CUECU	20114		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
		Filter											
Details	Assignments	Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters	Purch	nase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History			
Number	WO 000000)1											
Subject	CHANGE LIG	HT IN ELEVATOR											
	Effective Dat	te			Stat	te	Status						
Current	Wednesday,	November 19, 2014	3:35:22.83 PI	M	Ope	n							
		End Date			Er	ntry Da	ate						
PM Ger	neration Batch	Monday, April 22, 2	013		Mo	nday,	April 15, 201	3 3:11:50.63 PM	1				
	Name			Business Phone			Ema	ail					
Reques	tor												
	Linit ELE												
Work S	tart Date Mon	dav April 15, 2013											-1
Work F	End Date Mon	day, April 15, 2013											
Work (Category ENG	i											-1
Acce	ss Code PER	MISSION											
	Priority I: 5 [DAYS											
Expens	se Model Defa	ult Expense Model											
	Project												
De	scription REP	LACE BURN OUT	LIGHT IN	ELEVATOR									\sim
													\sim
Co	omments												~
													\sim
D	owntime 0:00												
Clo	se Code PM												
	V 9	Select for Printing											
Newbel	rk Order	New Work Order Fr	m Taak	New Taals from Mart	k Order			Suppord -	AA .	Add Mark Ord	or Comment	1 /	a
New Wo	ork Order	New Work Order Fr	om Task	New Lask from Wor	k Order	4	- 3	Suspena V	999	Add Work Ord	er Comment		ø
User jagaro	dner (SQL Adm	inistrator) Organizatio	n My MainBo	ss (MB35Test: Datab	ase 'MB3	5Test'	on server 'SC	CRINIUM\SQLE	XPRESS')		Acti	/e 🔞	Help

2. Click **New Work Order •**. MainBoss opens a window where you can begin creating the work order.

Saving the Work Order: As you will see, work orders can contain a lot of information. As you enter this information, you should save the work order from time to time by clicking the work order's **Save** button. This ensures that information isn't lost if something goes wrong (e.g. the power goes out). The sections that follow don't explicitly tell you to **Save** your information while you're writing up the work order, but you should make a point of doing so once in a while.

Basic Work Order Information

Once you've opened a window for editing work order information, you can start filling it in.

If you created the work order from a work request, some fields of the work order will be filled in with information from the original request. You can change this information, if necessary.

The instructions that follow assume that you have already opened a work order window (as discussed in the previous section).

$\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{n}}$	New Work Order – 🗖 🗙								
Details Assignments Service Contracts Reso	urces Temporary Storage	Meters Purchase Orders	Chargebacks Re	quests State History					
Number WO 00000067									
Subject 1						•			
Effective Date	State			Status					
Current									
PM Generation Batch					•••	•			
Name	Business	Phone	Email						
Requestor	• •								
Unit					<u> </u>				
Work Start Date Friday, March 13, 2015					L				
Duration 1					L				
Work Category					• •••	-			
Use Access Code from Uni	Use Access Code from Unit								
Access Code					▼ …	•			
Priority	1.5				▼ …	•			
Use Expense Model from U	Jnit	Default Expanse Medel				_			
Project		Jeiauri Expense Model			 ▼ …	• •			
Description						~			
4									
						ž I			
Comments						V			
Downtime									
Close Code					• •••	•			
Select for Printing									
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save & <u>P</u> rint <u>S</u> ave ▼	Save & Close Open	Close Add Wor	k Order Comment						
					Active	Help			

□ To fill in basic work order information:

- 1. In "Subject" **O**, enter a description of the work to be done.
- 2. In "**Requestor**" **2**, specify the **Contacts** table record for the person who requested the work (if any). (Once you've specified the requestor, the person's phone number

and email address will be displayed in "**Phone**" and "**Email**". This information is obtained from the person's **Contacts** record.)

- 3. In "Unit" ⁽¹⁾, specify the unit where the work should be performed.
- 4. In "Work Description" ④, enter a complete description of the work that should be done. This can take any form, but check-lists and/or step-by-step instructions are often the best approach.

The remaining fields in the **Details** section aren't mandatory, but they can provide useful information about the job. You can fill them out in any order, but most people start at the top and work down:

- **Work Start Date**: When you first create a work order, you can fill this in with the date and time when you want the work to start. After the job is done, you should change this (if necessary) to the actual date/time when the work began.
- Work End Date: When you first create a work order, you can fill this in with the date and time you expect the work to be completed. After the job is done, you should change this (if necessary) to the actual date/time when the work was finished.
- **Duration**: This is the expected duration of the job, in days. Every fraction of a day is rounded up to the next full day. For example, if a job is expected to take an hour, "**Duration**" becomes 1 day. If a job is expected to take 25 hours, "**Duration**" becomes 2 days.

Typically, you don't fill in "**Duration**". Instead, you fill in "**Work Start Date**" and "**Work End Date**". MainBoss then calculates "**Duration**" automatically. By default, "**Work Start Date**" and "**Work End Date**" are set to the current date.

Work Category: The type of work involved. Look at your list of categories and select the appropriate one.

Use Access Code from Unit and Access Code: An access code specifies any restrictions on when a job can be done (e.g. only on weekends or after hours). Every unit may have its own default access code. If you checkmark Use Access Code from Unit, MainBoss will set "Access Code" to the unit's normal access code; otherwise, you can set "Access Code" to any appropriate code. (You might override the unit's normal access code in case of an emergency.)

Priority: May indicate how urgent the job is.

Use Expense Model from Unit and Expense Model: An expense model specifies the set of expense categories that will be allowed for materials and labor expenses on a work order. Every unit may have its own default expense model. If you checkmark Use Expense Model from Unit, MainBoss will set "Expense **Model**" to the unit's normal expense model; otherwise, you can set "**Expense Model**" to any appropriate model. (For more about expense models, see *Accounting Facilities* on page 39.)

- **Project**: May be used to indicate that this job is part of a larger project. For example, suppose your maintenance department is taking part in a series of jobs that are all part of one big renovation. You can create a project code that you attach to every job in the renovation. This makes it easy to track the costs of the renovation separately from the costs of other work.
- Select for Printing: Makes it easy to print a number of new work orders in a single batch. For details, see *Select For Printing* on page 36.

MainBoss automatically fills in some of these fields when the work order is first created. For example, "Work Start Date" and "Work End Date" are both set to the current date and time. "Expense Model" is set to the default expense model. Other fields may also be set to default values if your organization has set up customized defaults.

You don't have to fill in every field. For example, we recommend that you leave "**Work Order Priority**" blank unless the job really does have an unusually high or low priority. If you get used to using a blank to mean an ordinary job, then a non-blank value has more impact when you need to emphasize a point.

Work Order Resources

The **Resources** section of work order lets you record labor and materials for a job. This section uses the following terminology:

Demand

A demand is made *before* the job begins.

- □ A demand for labor means assigning someone to do the job. This could include *inside* workers (your own personnel) and/or *outside* workers (hired contractors).
- □ A demand for materials means reserving materials for the job, so that the items will be available when they're needed.

There must be a demand for every labor and material expense associated with the work order.

Actual

An "actual" record is made *after* a resource is used. It records what labor and materials were actually used.

Actual records are created by *actualizing* an existing demand: indicating the labor or materials that were actually used in response to a demand. (Remember, there

must be a demand for every labor and material expense...even ones you didn't expect in advance.)

Scheduling Labor

The **Resources** section of a work order can record the following types of labor expenses:

- Hourly Inside: Work done by your own personnel and charged for by the hour.
- *Per Job Inside*: Work done by your own personnel and charged for on a flat fee basis (e.g. a vehicle oil change which has a fixed price no matter how long it actually takes).
- Hourly Outside: Work done by an outside contractor and charged for by the hour.
- *Per Job Outside*: Work done by an outside contractor and charged for on a flat fee basis.

During MainBoss set-up, you create records for each type of expense. For example, an Hourly Inside record specifies a worker and that worker's cost per hour. It might say that Chris Smith gets paid \$20 an hour.

The <u>Configuration</u> guide explains how to set up Hourly Inside, Per Job Inside, Hourly Outside, and Per Job Outside records.

To assign an inside worker to a job, you select an Hourly Inside or Per Job Inside record that names the worker and how much the worker is paid for such work. Similarly, to record that an outside contractor is going to do a job, you select an Hourly Outside or Per Job Outside record that names the contractor and how much the contractor will be paid.

Same Person, Different Charges: It's possible to have several records for the same worker, inside or outside. For example, if Chris Smith gets paid extra for overtime, you might have one Hourly Inside record for Chris's normal rate and another Hourly Inside record for overtime. When assigning personnel to a job or recording labor expenses, you should make sure to choose the correct record.

When recording the cost of a specific job, you can always write in a different cost than the one in your records. Therefore, it's easy to handle one-time-only variations from standard labor charges.

- □ To assign your own personnel to a work order (Hourly Inside):
 - 1. In the **Resources** section of the work order, go to the **Inside** subsection.



2. Click New Demand Hourly Inside 2. MainBoss opens a window where you can assign a worker to the job.

Rew Demand Hourly Inside	- 🗆 ×						
Details Actuals							
Work Order (a) WO 00000067 Standard inspection of fans	••• ▼						
Hourly Inside 🚯 💌 🐨 🗲							
Hourly Rate							
Hours Hourly Rate	Cost						
Demanded 4							
Already used 0:00	\$0.00						
Remaining 0:00							
Calculated Cost							
Use calculated cost							
Demanded Cost	6						
O Manual entry							
Actual Cost Default Current value calculation							
Expense Category Default Expense Category Default Expense Category							
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save & Close Close							
	💌 🛒 🔻 Active 🕜 Help						

- 3. In "**Hourly Inside**" **③**, select an Hourly Inside record that names the person you want to assign and the hourly cost of that person.
- 4. In "Demanded" ④, enter the number of hours and minutes that the person is expected to work. The format is *hh:mm*. For example, an hour and a half is 1:30. The value that you enter should be the *total* time expected on the job; for example, if the person is expected to work three eight-hour days, you should enter the value 24:00.
- If you wish, you can fill in "Demanded Cost"
 with an estimated cost of the worker's time, or click Use Calculated Cost
 to have MainBoss calculate the cost based on the worker's hourly rate and the time given in "Demanded".
- 6. Click Save & Close 🕑 to save the information and close the window.

The options for "Actual Default" (shown above) let you tell MainBoss how to calculate the actual cost of this work later on. This is useful if the work order may eventually be closed by someone who doesn't have appropriate security permissions to enter labor costs. The options are:

□ **Manual entry**: You expect that the person who closes the work order will enter the actual cost, whatever it is.

- □ **Current value calculation**: You expect that the actual cost will be calculated from the hourly rate given in the "**Labor Inside**" record, as of the time that the actual time is recorded. The actual hours spent on this job may be greater or less than the time specified in "**Demanded**" but the hourly cost will be the rate expected.
- □ **Demanded**: This is similar to **Current value calculation**, except that MainBoss uses the hourly rate that applied at the time of the demand rather than the time of the actualization.

In all cases, someone with appropriate permissions may override the "Actual Cost **Default**" you specify. However, if the person closing the work order does *not* have sufficient permissions, the actual cost of the work will be calculated using "Actual Cost **Default**".

After Filling Out the Hourly Inside Demand: When you return to the work order window, you'll see that an estimate has been added to the **Resources** list.

Note that the "**Demanded Cost**" line has two columns: "**Hourly Rate**" for the cost per hour and "**Cost**" for the total cost. If you fill in one, MainBoss automatically fills in the other one with a value calculated from "**Demanded**".

"**Demanded Cost**" lets you enter a special hourly rate for the worker, instead of the rate given in the Hourly Inside record. For example, suppose that the job has to be done on a holiday, when the worker is paid double the usual wage; you could enter this special wage into the "Hourly Rate" column of "Demanded Cost" so that the work order records the correct expense.

If you want to assign more than one person to a job, repeat the above process for each person. If a worker is expected to spend more than a day on the job, you can create a separate demand for each day or a single demand for the entire demand (e.g. a single demand for 24 hours might mean three 8-hour workdays).

Per Job Inside: You use a similar process to add demands for Per Job Inside labor expenses, with these exceptions:

- □ Click New Demand Per Job Inside.
- □ Select a Per Job Inside record specifying the person and cost of the job.
- □ For "**Demanded**", specify the number of jobs involved. For example, suppose the work order is for piecework like cleaning windows and the worker is paid by the window. The "**Demanded**" would be the number of windows to be washed.
- □ If this job is charged at a special rate, you can enter the rate in "Demanded Cost".

Outside Contractors: You use a similar process to add demands for Hourly Outside and Per Job Outside expenses. You begin this process in the **Outside** subsection of the **Resources** section. Just choose an appropriate Hourly Outside or Per Job Outside record that specifies the contractor and the expense rate. (If you don't know the expense rate in advance, you can leave it blank when you fill out the demand. You can record the rate after the job is done when you record Actual information.)

In order to pay for outside labor, you can create a purchase order that is "linked" to the work order. For more details, see *Paying for Outside Labor with a Purchase Order* on page 115.

Miscellaneous Expenses: Work orders may have expenses that aren't directly related to labor or inventoried materials. For example, a worker might have to pay for parking at a job site. For this kind of expense, you use the **Miscellaneous** subsection of the **Resources** section. Click **New Demand Miscellaneous Cost** to record details of the expense.

Any worker who appears in a labor demand (inside or outside, hourly or per job) is automatically an assignee for the associated work order (provided that the worker is on the list of recognized Work Order Assignees). You don't have to create an assignment explicitly. The worker will therefore appear in the work order's **Assignees** section.

Reserving Materials for a Work Order

When you assign materials to a work order before the work is done, you estimate what materials you believe the work is likely to require. MainBoss then puts these materials *on reserve*. For example, if a job on a forklift truck will replace two tires, you can put an appropriate number of tires on reserve when you make up the work order.

When materials are put on reserve, MainBoss removes them from counts of stock available. For example, if you currently have six tires in a storeroom but two of those tires have already been put on reserve, MainBoss says you have four tires available.

When you reserve an item, you tell MainBoss the storeroom where you'll obtain that item. For example, if a particular item is found in three different storerooms, you tell MainBoss which storeroom you'll go to. (MainBoss makes it easy to find out which storerooms contain a particular item and how much each storeroom contains.) By reserving items from a particular storeroom, you make sure that the items will be there when you want them.

You only need to reserve items if you track their use. For example, if you don't track the use of common items like tape, glue, etc., then you don't need to reserve them on work orders—you probably have plenty in stock, and you can easily buy more if you run out. On the other hand, the work order should list any items whose use you *do* track.

You reserve materials by creating demands in the **Items** subsection of a work order's **Resources** section. You do so by specifying a *demand item* record. This record specifies the materials you want and the storeroom where you'll get them.

- □ To reserve materials for a work order:
 - 1. In the Items subsection of the **Resources** section of the work order, click **New Demand Item 1**.

e	a [⊙] Edit Work Order : WO 0000067 – □ ×											
Det	ails Assignments	Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary S	torage M	Neters P	urchase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History		
	Demand						Actual					
Tot	al \$0.00						\$0.00					
lter	ms Inside Ou	tside Miscellaneous	Expenses								 	
	Code	Dema.	Demande	d Actual	Actual Co	ost						
		lter										
	New Demand Ite	m <u>A</u> ctualize	Vie Vie	ew Storage As	signment	\times	#4 -				0	
Nev	w <u>P</u> rint Sa	ave 👻 Print & Cl	ose Oper	n 🔻 Clos	e 🔻 🛛	Add Work	c Order Comme	nt				
											Antium	Que-
										•	Active	🕑 неір

2. MainBoss opens a window where you can reserve an item.

a ^{gi}	New Demand Item	- 🗆 ×						
Details Actuals								
Work Order (a) WO 00000067	Standard inspection of fans	••• ▼						
Storage Assignment								
	 Only include Items on the Parts list Show all Items 							
Show Storage Assignments for	0							
	§ • •							
Available		_						
Quantity	Unit Cost	Cost						
On Hand								
Available 4								
via purchase	-							
Manually Enter Quantity O I	Jse On Hand Quantity 🔘 Use Available Quantity							
Quantity	Unit Cost	Cost						
Demanded 5								
Already used 0		\$0.00						
Remaining 0								
Demand from on hand								
Demand via purchase								
Calculated Cost	-levileted event							
✓ Use ca	aculated cost							
Demanded Cost								
O Manual er Actual Cost Default O Current va O Demande	ntry alue calculation d							
Expense Category Default Ex	pense Category Default Expense Category	▼ … ▼						
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save	© re & C <u>l</u> ose ▼							
		💌 🛒 🔻 Active 🔞 Help						

- In "Show Storage Assignments for" ②, specify the item for which you are creating a demand. (If the item is on the unit's spare parts list, you can click Only include Items on the Parts list; this will shorten the length of the drop-down list. Otherwise, click Show all Items, and the drop-down list will show everything in your Items table.)
- 4. Once you select an item, drop-down the arrow on the next line ⁽⁵⁾ to select a storage assignment for the selected item. A storage assignment specifies a storeroom that contains the item you want.

Once you select a storage assignment, MainBoss will fill in the "Quantity" column of "Available" ④ with the quantity of the item in the selected storeroom. (Note that "On Hand" shows the quantity that's currently in the storeroom, but "Available" shows the quantity that's available for use. The difference is the quantity that's been put on reserve for other jobs.)

If the storeroom doesn't contain the quantity you want, you can go back to the storage assignment drop-down list and select another entry. By checking all your storeroom assignments, you can see if any storeroom contains the quantity you want to reserve.

If no single storeroom contains enough of the item, you can create multiple reservations: reserve quantities from several different storerooms until you have enough to do the job. You'll have to do this in several stages. Make one reservation according to these instructions, then make another reservation, and so on.

Another approach is to transfer items from various storerooms to a temporary storage location associated with the job. For more on temporary storage, see the next section.

- 5. In "**Demanded**" **S**, enter the quantity of the item that you want to reserve in the selected storeroom.
- 6. Click **Save & Close** to save the information and close the window.

Temporary Storage for a Job

You may designate a temporary storage area for the job's materials. For example, if you're doing a large renovation, you may set aside one or more rooms where you can store lumber, paint, etc. for the job. To avoid confusion, it's useful to record which materials are stored in this temporary storage and which are stored in your regular storerooms—otherwise, you may waste time searching for materials in the wrong place.

We recommend the following approach to reserving and using items:

- □ Before a job, you create demands for any important items you expect you'll need. This puts the items on reserve. (There's no need to reserve simple items that you always have lots of, e.g. masking tape.)
- □ When you're ready to do a job, you remove reserved items from your storerooms and record that they've been transferred to temporary storage. Typically, you use the unit being repaired as the temporary storage location; this says, "I've taken the parts to the site of the unit."
- □ After you've actually used an item, you create an "actual" record for the usage. We recommend that you don't create this "actual" record until you've actually used the item. Creating an "actual" record generates an accounting transaction that can't

simply be deleted if you find out you didn't need the item after all. (If you want to undo an accounting transaction, you have to create a formal correction record. MainBoss demands this formality in order to preserve an accurate audit trail.)

□ If you use an item and you don't already have an existing demand for that item, you have to create a demand record first, then create a corresponding "actual" record.

If you use temporary storage for a job, you record this on the job's work order. Using the temporary storage is a two-stage process:

- □ Specify the location(s) you're using for temporary storage (e.g. "We'll be using Room 101 to hold materials for this job").
- □ Record which materials have been transferred from your regular storerooms to the temporary storage location (or which materials have been delivered direct from the supplier to the temporary storage)

Although MainBoss lets you specify a regular storeroom as a temporary storage location, we recommend against this practice—distinguishing between what's in a storeroom temporarily and what's there permanently is bound to be confusing. If materials will be stored in a storeroom, just write it up as if they can *always* be stored in that storeroom.

As noted above, you can use the unit itself as a temporary storage location. This is often the best approach, especially if you just intend to keep materials close at hand while you work on the unit. The only time you'd use someplace else as a temporary storage location would be if you have a lengthy job and a lot of materials that will be stored in a special place over the course of the work.

- □ To designate a location as temporary storage:
 - 1. In a work order, go to the Temporary Storage section.



2. Click **New Temporary Storage ①**. MainBoss opens a window where you can designate a new temporary storage location for this work order.

a ^{CD} a			New Tempor	rary Storag	e		-		x
Details	Temporary St	orage Assignmer	its						
	Work Order	WO 0000067	Standard inspection	on of fans				••• •	•
Contai	ning Location	0				[*	•••• •	•
	Description	ß							
	Comments								
									/
Save &	<u>N</u> ew <u>S</u> ave	e ▼ Save &	Close Close	•					
						- 📄 -	Ac	tive	2 Help

- 3. In "Location" 2, specify the location you intend to use for temporary storage.
- 4. In "**Description**" **⑤**, specify an identification code for this temporary storage location.
- 5. Click **Save & Close** I to save the information and close the window.

Once you return to the work order, you'll see that the temporary storage location now appears in the list. Underneath the location, you'll see the identification number of the work order that's using the location for temporary storage.

Temporary Storage Assignments: Once you have designated temporary storage for work order materials, you can specify *temporary storage assignments*. Temporary storage assignment records tell what kind of items may be stored in a temporary storage location.

en				Edit Wor	rk Order	: WO 00	00000	57			-	□ ×
Detai	ls Assignments	Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters	Purchase	Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History		
Co	de â	Storage Ass	ignm Stor	age Assignm	Re	cord Type /ork Order	Tempo WO 000	rary Storage 000067				
Ð	- C BUA - C BASEM	ENT			Containin	g Location	BASEM	ENT @ BOA				
	Ē				D	escription						
						Commenta						
7	Apply Filt	er	•									~
N	ew Temporary S	torage New Ter	nporary Stora	ige Assignment	New Dem	nand Item	2	• × M	•			8
New	New Print Save Print & Close Open Close Add Work Order Comment											
										T) 📻 🔻 A	ctive 🔞 Hel

□ To create a temporary storage assignment:

 In a work order's Temporary Storage section, click New Temporary Storage Assignment ①. MainBoss opens a window where you can create a temporary storage assignment:

ea		New Tempora	iry Storage Assignme	nt	-	□ ×
Details Item	Activity					
Work Order	WO 0000067	Standard inspection o	fans		[•••• ▼
ltem	2				•	
Location	😭 WO 0000067 @ BA	SEMENT @ BOA			*	••• ▼
Item Price					•	••• ▼
	Quantity	Unit Cost		Cost		
On Hand	0			\$0.00		
On Order	0					
On Reserve	0					
Available						
Cost Center	Default Non Stock Iter	n Holding Costs De	ault Non Stock Item Holding	Costs	•	•••• 🔻
Save & <u>N</u> ew	<u>S</u> ave ▼ Save &	Close Volume Volume				
				•	- A	ctive 🔞 Help

- 2. In "Item" **2**, specify an item that you intend to keep in the temporary storage location.
- 3. Click **Save & Close** Ito save the information and close the window.

Once you've specified temporary storage assignments for a work order, you can record the transfer of materials from a regular storeroom to temporary storage. Note that you must choose a temporary storage assignment for the type of materials you'll be transferring. For example, if a temporary storage assignment describes light bulbs in a temporary storage location, you cannot use that assignment for transferring paint. You must have a temporary storage assignment for each type of item that will be kept in the temporary storage location.

□ To transfer materials to temporary storage:

- 1. In a work order's **Temporary Storage** section, select a temporary storage assignment entry for the materials and location you wish to transfer.
- 2. Click \square to edit the temporary storage assignment record.

3. In the **Item Activity** section of the temporary storage assignment record, drop the arrow on **New Item Issue** and click **New Item Transfer From**. MainBoss opens a window where you can record the transfer of items from a normal storeroom to the temporary storage location:



- 4. In "Source Storage Assignment" **①**, specify an existing storeroom assignment record that gives an item of the correct type and a storeroom that contains items of that type.
- 5. In "Quantity" 2, enter the quantity being transferred.
- 6. You must now specify the value of the item(s) being transferred. You can tell MainBoss to calculate from the value associated with the "from" storeroom (by clicking Use calculated source Assignment On Hand cost) or to calculate it from the value associated with the "to" storeroom (by clicking Use calculated destination Assignment On Hand cost). Alternatively, you can click Manually Enter Cost ③ and enter the value directly in "This Entry" ④.
- 7. Click Save & Close S to save the information and close the window.

If you want to transfer items to a regular storeroom from a temporary storage location, you use a similar process and the button **Item Transfer To**.

Assigning People to a Work Order

Assigning someone to a work order indicates that the person has some interest in the work order. For example, you might assign the work order's requestor or the workers who will eventually do the job. You might also assign some supervisor who's responsible for seeing that the work gets done, or an inventory clerk who's responsible for seeing that needed inventory items are ready by the time the job begins.

In order for someone to be assigned to a work order, the person must be on the list of authorized work order assignees: **Coding Definitions** | **Work Orders** | **Work Order Assignees**.

In MainBoss terminology, assigning someone to a work order is different than scheduling someone to work on the job:

- □ You assign someone to a work order when you want to draw that work order to the person's attention. You make this assignment in the work order's **Assignees** section.
- □ You schedule a worker to work on a job in the work order's **Resources** section.

If you schedule a worker to work on a job, the worker is automatically considered assigned to the job (provided the worker is properly authorized in **Coding Definitions** | **Work Orders** | **Work Order Assignees**). All such workers will automatically appear in the work order's **Assignments** section.

If a MainBoss user is assigned to a work order, the work order will be displayed in **My Assignment Overview** | **Open Work Orders** whenever that person uses MainBoss. Since this table only shows *open* work orders, the work order will not displayed when it's just in the draft stage, nor will it be shown after the work order is closed.

□ To assign someone to a work order:

1. Open the work order window and go to the Assignments **0** section:



2. Click New Work Order Assignment 2. MainBoss opens the following window:

MB TV	New Work Order Assignment -							
Work Order 🕘 WC	0 00000 Standard inspection of fans							
 Show prospects for Work Order Assignee for this Work Order Show all Work Order Assignees not currently assigned to this Work Order 								
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save	ve ▼ Save & Close ▼							
		📲 🔻 Active 🕢 Help						

- If the person is already associated with this work order in some way (e.g. the person is the requestor or the person is a worker who's been assigned to the job), click Show prospects for Work Order Assignee for this Work Order ^⑤. Otherwise, click Show all Work Order Assignees not currently assigned to this Work Order ^⑦.
- 4. In the drop-down list **G**, select the person whom you want to assign to this work order.
- 5. Click **Save & Close** I to save this assignment and close the window.

Modifying Draft Work Orders

After you have created a work order, you may need to make changes. For example, you may schedule the job for a particular day but then you're forced to reschedule.

Work orders are easy to modify when they're in the draft state. Once you've opened a work order, much of the information is "locked in" and can't easily be changed.

□ To modify a draft work order:

1. Select **Work Orders** | **Draft Work Orders** from the control panel. MainBoss displays all draft work orders:

" My MainBoss - MainBoss Maintenance Manager -	□ ×
Session View Actions Help	
View Draft Work Orders	• 📴 •
Number Priority Subject	
WO 0000063 G: 24 HOUR SERVICE PUMP WO 0000064 G: 24 HOUR SERVICE VESTIBLE HEATERS WO 0000065 G: 24 HOUR SERVICE VESTIBLE HEATERS WO 0000066 G: 24 HOUR SERVICE VESTIBLE HEATERS WO 0000066 G: 24 HOUR SERVICE VESTIBLE HEATERS	^
Standard Inspection of tans	~
Details Assignments Service Contracts Resources Temporary Storage Meters Purchase Orders Chargebacks Requests State History	
Demand Actual	
Total \$0.00 \$0.00	
Items Inside Outside Miscellaneous Expenses	
Code Deman Demanded C Actual Cost	
New Work Order New Task from Work Order	8
User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Organization My MainBoss (MB35Test: Database 'MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQLEXPRESS') Ac	tive 🕜 Help

- 2. In the list of work orders **1**, find the work order you want to change. Click that work order to select it.
- 3. Either double-click the work order where it appears in the list, or click $2 \circ$.
- 4. MainBoss will open a window showing all the information you have previously recorded about the work order. Make any changes you want, then click **Save & Close**. This saves the new information and then closes the work order window.

Opening a Work Order

Once you've filled in all necessary information on a draft work order (and once you've received any necessary approvals from management), you can *open* the work order.

When you open a work order, you're saying it's ready to be printed off and handed to workers.

□ To open a draft work order:

1. Select Work Orders | Draft Work Orders from the control panel. MainBoss displays all draft work orders:

•		My MainBoss - N	/lainBoss M	aintenance	e Manager				×
Session View Act	ons Help								
View Draft V	Vork Orders								-
	B								
Number	Phonty		Subject						_
WO 0000063 WO 0000064	G: 24 HOUR G: 24 HOUR		SERVICE PUT	MP STIBLE HEAT	ERS				^
WO 00000065 WO 00000066	G: 24 HOUR G: 24 HOUR		SERVICE VES	STIBLE HEAT STIBLE HEAT	ERS ERS				- 11
WO 00000067	0.21110011		Standard insp	ection of fans					~
Apply	Filter								
Details Assignments	Service Contracts Resou	rces Temporary Storage	Meters Pure	chase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History		
Number WO 000000	65					-			
Subject SERVICE VE	STIBLE HEATERS								
Effective Da	te		State	Status					
Current Wednesday,	January 21, 2015 3:44:30.63	PM	Draft						_
	End Date		Entry D)ate					
PM Generation Batch	Wednesday, January 28, 2	015	Wednes	sday, January	21, 2015 3:39:5	1.69 PM			_
Name		Business Phone		Ema	lie				
Requestor									
Unit CON	IMON XP 4 @ MAXMALL								
Work Start Date Wee	nesday, January 21, 2015								_
Work End Date Thur	sday, July 23, 2015								
Work Category ELE	C								
Access Code NIG	HT								
Priority G: 2	4 HOUR								_
Expense Model Dera	iuit Expense Model								-
Description SEP	VICE VESTIBULE HEAT	ERS							^
Comments									
									\sim
Downtime 0:00									
Close Code PM									
✓ \$	Select for Printing								
New Work Order	New Task from Work Order		en 👻 🏟	✓ Add W	ork Order Com	ment			Ø
User jagardner (SQL Adm	inistrator) Organization My M	ainBoss (MB35Test: Data	base 'MB35Test	on server 'S	CRINIUM\SQLE	XPRESS')		Active	🕜 Help

2. Click **Open 0**.

As an alternative, you can drop-down the arrow on **Open** and use **Open Work Order** (With Comment) to open the work order and also record a comment.

Cancelling Draft Work Orders

You can cancel a draft work order. To do so, go to **Work Orders** | **Draft Work Orders** in the control panel. This opens the work order table viewer.

•• ••		Μ	y MainBoss - M	lainBoss	s Maintenar	nce Manager				×
Session View Act	ions Help									
View Draft V	Nork Orders								-	- 🗑
		_		_						
Number	Priority			Subject						
WO 0000063	G: 24 HOUR			SERVICE	PUMP					~
WO 0000064 WO 0000065	G: 24 HOUR G: 24 HOUR			SERVICE	VESTIBLE HE	ATERS ATERS				
WO 0000066	G: 24 HOUR			SERVICE	VESTIBLE HE	ATERS				
WO 0000067				Standard	inspection of fa	ans				\checkmark
Apply	Filter									
Details Assignments	Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters	Purchase Orde	ers Chargebacks	Requests	State History		
Number WO 000000	66									
Subject SERVICE VE	ESTIBLE HEATERS									
Effective Da	te			Stat	e Status					
Current Wednesday,	January 21, 2015 3:4	4:30.68 PM		Draft	t					_
	End Date			En	try Date					
PM Generation Batch	h Wednesday, Janua	ry 28, 2015		We	ednesday, Janua	ary 21, 2015 3:39:5	1.69 PM			
Name			Business Phone		E	-mail				
Requestor										
Unit COM	MMON XP 3 @ MAXN	IALL								
Work Start Date Wee	nesday, January 21,	2015								_
Work Category ENG	Suay, July 23, 2013									
Access Code NIG	, HT									
Priority G: 2	4 HOUR									
Expense Model Defa	ault Expense Model									
Project										
Description SEP	VICE VESTIBULE	HEATERS								^
										× .
Comments										0
Downtime 0:00)									Ť
Close Code PM										
	Select for Printing			•						
New Work Order	New Task from Work	c Order [✓ < 3 Op	en 🗸 (Add	Work Order Com	nent			đ
User jagardner (SQL Adm	ninistrator) Organizatio	n My MainBo	oss (MB35Test: Datab	ase 'MB35	Test' on server	'SCRINIUM\SQLE	XPRESS')		Active	Help

In the list of work orders, click the work order you want to cancel, click the arrow beside **Open O**, then click **Void**. When you void (cancel) a work order, the work order disappears from **Work Orders** | **Draft Work Orders** and appears in **Work Orders** | **Void Work Orders**.

Important: You cannot use **Void** on an open work order. You must first **Suspend** the work order (changing it from *open* back to *draft*), and then you can use **Void**. **Suspend** is on the same drop-down button as **Void**.

MainBoss only lets you void work orders if they have no expenses associated with them (i.e. if all the actuals have a value of zero). If a work order already has actual expenses associated with it, you can't void it until you **Correct** all the expenses to zero.

Voiding a work order gets rid of any demands associated with it.

Printing Open Work Orders

Once you have opened a work order, you typically print it and give it to the people who will actually do the job.

You can print a single work order as soon as you open it. You can also print a batch of work orders at once; for example, you might open a number of work orders, then print them all off together.

As explained in *Select For Printing* on page 36, new work orders are typically created with the **Select for Printing** box checkmarked. This simplifies the job of printing a batch of work orders that haven't been printed yet.

□ To print work orders which are marked "Select for Printing":

1. In Work Orders | Open Work Orders, click 🗐 **0**.

Θ _n			M	y MainBoss - M	ainBoss M	aintenanc	e Manager				×
Session	View	Actions Help									
Vie	w Op	en Work Orders								•	F
			_		_						
Number		Priority		Current State Histo	ry Status		Subject				
WO 0000	0001	I: 5 DAYS					CHANGE LIC	GHT IN ELE	VATOR		
WO 0000	0024 0057	G: 24 HOUR G: 24 HOUR					SERVICE AL SERVICE AL	L FANS AN L FANS AN	D FAN MOTORS		
		Apply Filter									
Details	Assignm	nents Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters Pur	chase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History		
Number	WO 00	000024									
Subject	SERVI	CE ALL FANS AND FAN M	OTORS								
	Effectiv	ve Date			State	Status					
Current	Wedne	sday, March 25, 2015 3:53	:29.88 PM		Open						_
		End Date			Entry [Date					
PM Ger	neration	Batch Wednesday, July 3	1, 2013		Wedne	sday, July 24,	2013 3:48:26.76	5 PM			_
	Nan	ne		Business Phone		Em	ail				
Request	tor										
	Unit	t FAN SUP FOOD @ MAX	MALL								
Work St	art Date	Wednesday, July 24, 201	3								
Work E	End Date	e Wednesday, July 24, 201	3								
Work C	ategory	ENG									
Acce	ss Code	B FULL									
Europe	Priority	/ G: 24 HOUR									_
Expens	Project	Default Expense Model									-
Des	scription	SERVICE ALL FANS	AND MOTOR	s							^
											~
Co	mments	3									~
											\sim
De	owntime	0:00									
Clos	se Code	PM									
		Select for Printing	A								
New Tas	sk from	Work Order		e Work Order 💌	🙀 🗕 🗛	dd Work Orde	er Comment				2
User jagard	Iner (SQ	L Administrator) Organizatio	n My MainBo	ss (MB35Test: Datab	ase 'MB35Tes	t' on server 'S	CRINIUM\SQLE	XPRESS')		Active	Help

2. MainBoss opens the following window for specifying which work order(s) you want to print:

MB					Print Work Orders	-		x
Sorting	Filters	Field Selection	Advanced	Preview				
Incl	ude Inact	tive records						
Work C)rder Sel	ect for Printing			📃 Is true 💌 🔀 😢			
No add	itional co	ondition						
B	3 Ev	roort Data	ear Select fo	r Printing	Cancel Close			
			ear Select to	rrnnung				-
						- 5	-	Help

- 3. In the Filters section, choose to see all work orders where Select for Printing is true (as shown in ②).
- 4. Click the preview button ③. MainBoss displays a preview of the work orders to be printed:



- 5. Click ≤ 4 to print the work orders.
- 6. Once the work orders have been printed, click **Clear Select for Printing ③**. This blanks out the **Select for Printing** checkbox on all the work orders, because they have now been printed.

Using **Select for Printing** is the easiest way to print any work orders that haven't been printed before. However, you can also select one or more work orders to be printed, whether they have or haven't been printed before.

□ To print one or more selected work orders:

1. In Work Orders | Open Work Orders, click 🚭 **0**.

•			My MainBoss -	MainB	loss Ma	intena	nce Manage	er		-		×
Session View Acti	ons Help											
View Work C	Orders										•	F
				_	_	_						
Number	Priority			Sub	ject							
🕤 WO 0000001	I: 5 DAYS			CHA	NGE LIG	HT IN EL	EVATOR					~
WO 0000002	G: 24 HOUR			CHA	NGE LIG	HTS - De	elisioso Restaru	iant area				
(a) WO 0000003	J: 1 WEEK			CHE	CK AND		E LIGHTS AS N	ECESSARY	IN PARKING			
A WO 0000004	H: 48 HOUR H: 48 HOUR			CHE	CKOUTS	SIDE LIG	HIS					
(a) IVO 00000006	11.40110011			REN	IOVATE C	FFICE						
(a) WO 0000007	I: 5 DAYS			CHA	NGE LIG	HT IN EL	EVATOR					×
Apply	Filter											
Details Assignments	Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters	Purchase	e Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History			
Number WO 000000	6											
Subject RENOVATE	OFFICE											
Effective Dat	e			:	State	Status						
Current Monday, April	13, 2015 2:30:33.84	4 PM		[Draft							
	End Date				Entry Da	te						
PM Generation Batch												
Name			Business Phone			E	mail					
Requestor												
Unit FAN	SUP BOA 3 @ BOA											
Work Start Date Tues	day, July 23, 2013											
Work End Date Tues	day, July 23, 2013											
Work Category												
Access Code												
Expense Model Defa	ult Expense Model											
Project												
Description												~
												~
Comments												~
												\sim
Downtime												
Close Code	alaat far Drintin-											
√ 5	elect for Printing					0						
New Work Order	New Work Order Fre	om Task	New Task from Work	Order	-	4	<u>O</u> pen ▼ (10 - I	Add Work Order Co	omment		ø
User jagardner (SQL Admi	inistrator) Organizatio	on My MainBo	oss (MB35Test: Databa	ase 'MB3	5Test' on	server 'S(CRINIUM\SQLE	XPRESS')			Active	Help

- 2. MainBoss opens the following window for specifying which work order(s) you want to print.
- 3. Go the **Filters** section of the "Print Work Orders" window. Choose "Work Order" for the first field and "is one of" for the second field.
| | | | Print Work Orders | | | × |
|--------------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------|-------------------|--|-------|------|
| Sorting Filters Field Selectio | n Advanced Preview | Is one of | Print Work Orders | Subject CHANGE LIGHT IN ELEVATOR CHANGE LIGHTS - Delisioso Restaurant area CHECK AND CHANGE LIGHTS AS NECESSARY L. CHECK AND CHANGE LIGHTS CHECK OUTSIDE LIGHTS CHECK OUTSIDE LIGHTS CHANGE LIGHT IN ELEVATOR CHANGE LIGHTS - Delisioso Restaruant area CHECK AND CHANGE LIGHTS AS NECESSARY L. CHANGE LIGHT IN ELEVATOR CHANGE LIGHTS - Delisioso Restaruant area CHECK OUTSIDE LIGHTS CHECK OUTSIDE LIGHTS CHECK OUTSIDE LIGHTS CHECK OUTSIDE LIGHTS COMPLETE SERVICE OF SYSTEM UNIT COMPLETE SERVICE OF SYSTEM UNIT LIGHT CHECK lobbies and stairs SERVICE AIR COMPRESSORS | | × |
| 🛕 🦪 Export Data | Clear Select for Printing | Canc <u>el</u> Close | | | | |
| | | | | | - 🔄 🔽 | Help |

As shown, you can use the checkboxes to select the work orders you want to print.

The print window also lets you print work orders according to a number of criteria. For example, you can print all work orders (past and present) on a particular unit or in a specified location. You can print all overdue work orders that have a given priority. You can print all work orders that were closed in the past month. By combining options, you can get detailed reports or summaries about the state of work orders, open or closed.

Closing a Work Order

After a job is finished, you should close the associated work order. This means that you record final information about the job; for example, you record the actual labor and material costs (as opposed to any estimates you made when creating the original work order).

You begin to close the work order in the same way that you begin editing a work order (as described in *Modifying Draft Work Orders* on page 97). Select the work order in

Work Orders | Open Work Orders, then click 2. After you've done this, go through the steps described in the next sections of this chapter.

Correcting Work Order Information

The first step in closing a work order is to review the work order's information and make any corrections that might be necessary. For example, when you create a work order, you specify dates when the job is supposed to start and end. When you close a work order, you should record when the job *actually* started and ended.

□ To correct simple work order information:

- 1. In the **Details** section of the work order, review the details to make sure the job started and ended on the dates originally scheduled.
- 2. In the **Resources** section of the work order, create demands for labor or materials that were used on the job but aren't already on the work order.

Actual Labor and Material Expenses

The **Resources** section of a work order should state all the labor and materials expenses associated with the job. Before the work is done, you set up *demands* that reserve materials and assign workers to the job; after the work is done, you record what you actually spent on labor and materials.

If a job used labor or materials that weren't expected before the job began, you must create demands for them after the fact. Every expense must have a demand.

Once you have demands for all your expenses, you can record the actual labor and materials used:

□ To make Actual expense records from demands:

1. In the **Resources** section of a work order, click on a demand **O**. This can be a demand for labor or materials.

••		Edit	Work Order : \	VO 00000001	1		- 🗆 ×
Details Assignments Service Contracts	Resources Temporary	Storage Meter	s Purchase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests State History		
Demand	0			Actual			
Total \$163.40	-			\$23.00			
Items Inside Outside Miscellaneous E	Expenses						
Code	Demand Demanded (ost Actual	Actual Cost	Record Type D	Demand Item		
F- C BEARING				Entry Date V	Vednesday, February 4, 2015 2:	25:51.86 PM	
F-REPAIR @ FOODFE	3 \$13	7.40 0	\$0.00	Work Order			
				Number WO 0	0000001		
				Unit ELEV	CTR @ MAXMALL		
				Storage Assign Code BEARIN	ment G @ F-REPAIR @ FOODFEST		
				Der	mand	Actual	
				Quantity 3		0	
				Total Cost \$13	7.40	\$0.00	
				Actual Cost De	fault Current value calculation	n	
Apply Filter				Expense Cate	gory Default Expense Category		
New Demand Item Actualize	View Storage A	ssignment	× ₩ -				2
Print Save Print & Close Susp	end 💌 Close 💌	Add Work Ord	ler Comment				
						•	🔄 🔻 Active ဈ Hel

2. Click Actualize 2. MainBoss opens a window where you can enter actual details about the labor or material expense.

There is a separate window for each type of expense: Item, Hourly Inside, Per Job Inside, Hourly Outside, and Per Job Outside. Each of these windows displays information from the original demand and has fields letting you specify any differences. For example, if an original Hourly Inside record specified that a job was expected to take an hour but it actually took an hour and a half, you can fill in the "Quantity" field with the time that the job actually took.

Each window also has a checkbox which use can use if your original estimate was correct. For example, the Actual Hourly Inside window has a checkbox labeled "Use all remaining demand". If you checkmark this box, you're saying the original time demanded was correct.

Cumulative Records: On lengthy jobs, it's useful to record actual expenses as you go along rather than waiting until the job is finished. For example, if a renovation takes several weeks, you might record labor and materials used at the end of each workday; that way, you have a more accurate picture of your day-to-day expenses. It's also easier to remember what you did during a single day than to recall all the materials and labor you used over a number of weeks.

To record expenses cumulatively, you use the same process described earlier in this section. For example, suppose that worker X is scheduled to spend three 8-hour days on a job, for a total of 24 hours. You've created a demand stating this expectation.

- □ At the end of the first day, select that demand and click Actualize.
- □ MainBoss opens a window where you can record the actual time that worker spent on the job during the day. You enter this time in the "Quantity" field (e.g. 8 hours).
- □ At the end of the second day, do the same thing. When MainBoss opens the Actual Hourly Inside window, you'll see that it says you've already recorded 8 hours for this worker. Record another 8 hours.
- \Box Repeat this process as often as necessary.

The same applies to material costs. If, for example, you have a demand for 100 gallons of paint over the course of a renovation, you can start with the demand and use **Actualize** to record how many gallons you used on a particular day. (On the other hand, you may decide you don't need to track materials on this level of detail. It's up to you whether you record materials day-by-day or just at the end of the job.)

Chargebacks

Chargebacks on a work order indicate that all or part of the costs should be charged to another party. For example, a rental management facility might charge tenants for all or part of the costs on some types of repairs.

One work order can include chargebacks to multiple parties. For example, if a job in a rental building affects several tenants, the work order could include a chargeback to each of the tenants involved.

Each chargeback record names a *requestor*: the person or organization who'll be charged for the work. In addition, the chargeback record has one or more *activity* records: labor or materials that should be charged for the requestor. For example, you might make one activity record to state materials charges and another for labor charges. Alternatively, you might make more detailed activity records, such as individual labor expense records for each person who worked on the job.

Chargeback amounts do not have to match actual expenses. This gives you the flexibility to deal with situations where you only charge customers a percentage of actual expenses, or where you charge customers a fixed amount regardless of actual expenses.

□ To record a chargeback on a work order:

1. Go to the **Chargebacks** section of the work order.

۲					Ed	it Wor	k Ordei	: WO 000000	02			-		×
De	tails	Assignments	Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary	Storage	Meters	Purchase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History			
	Code	^	Billable Requestor	Tot	al Cost									
	7	Apply Filte	er											
	New	O Chargeback	2 • M •										3	
Ne	w	Print Sa	ve & Next 💌 🏼 Pri	int & Close	Open •	Clos	e 🔻	Add Work Order	Comment					
											•) 📻 🔻 A	ctive 🔞	Help

2. Click **New Chargeback ①**. This opens a window where you can specify information about the chargeback.

New Chargeback	- 🗆 🗙
Details Chargeback Activities	
Work Order WO 000000 CHANGE LIGHTS - Delisioso Restaurant	tarea \cdots 💌
Code 🛛 🔁	•
Name Business Phone	Email
Billable Requestor 💿 🔍 🔍 🗲	
Total Cost \$0.00	
Comments	<u>^</u>
	\sim
Save ∝ Ivew Save ∝ Frint Save ~ Save & Close Close	e 💌
] 🔄 🔻 Active 🚷 Help

- 3. In "Code" ②, enter an identification code for this record (e.g. the invoice number that will be used when billing the client).
- 4. In "Billable Requestor" ⁽¹⁾, specify the requestor to whom the charges will be billed.
- 5. Click **Save 4** to save the information.

MB TV			Edit	Chargeback : Chargeback 1 : WO 00000002	- 🗆 ×
Details	Chargeback Ac	tivities			
Chargel	back Line	Cost	Correct		
	Apply Filter				
New C	6 harneback Act	tivity	Correct		a
INSW C	nargeodek Ac	uvity	Concor		2
New	Print Save	& Next	▼ Print	& Close	
					Active 🕜 Help

6. Go to the **Chargeback Activities 9** section:

7. Click **New Chargeback Activity ③**. This opens a window where you can enter information about one of the expenses being charged to the requestor.

a 4	New Cha	argeback Activity	- 🗆 ×
Entry Date	Monday, April 13, 2015 3:37:08.57	7 PM	
Effective Date	Monday, April 13, 2015 3:37:08.57	7 PM	
User Contact	jagardner		
Chargeback	WO 0000 Chargeback 1	Barry Field	\$0.00 🚥 💌
Chargeback Line Category	0		▼ … ▼ ♦
Comments			~
This Entry		As Corrected	*
This Entry		4	
Form Cost Costs		📡	
To Cost Center	ecourte Pecciushia Casta		
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save ▼	Save & Close		
			💌 🔄 🔻 Active 🚷 Help

- 8. In "Chargeback Line Category" *⊙*, specify the type of expense that is being charged to the requestor.
- 9. In "This Entry" ⁽³⁾, specify the cost of this particular expense.
- 10. If there are other expenses to be charged, click **Save & New** () to save your current information and start a new expense record. Otherwise, click **Save & Close** () to save the information and close the window.
- 11. When you return to the original chargeback record, click **Save & Close** to save the information and close the window.
- 12. When you return to the work order itself, click **Save** to save its current information.

Correcting Chargebacks: You cannot directly delete chargebacks—when you create a chargeback, MainBoss creates an accounting record which (for audit purposes) cannot

be deleted. If you wish to negate a chargeback, use **Correct** on the chargeback lines and set the charges to the correct amount.

Closing Information

Once a job is finished and you've recorded all pertinent information on the work order, you can close the work order. You do this using the work order's **Close Work Order** button.

Important: Don't confuse **Close Work Order** with the **Close** button (which just closes the window) or **Save & Close** (which saves the work order and closes the window, but does *not* close the work order).

Before you close a work order, you should record a unit's "**Downtime**": how long the unit was inoperative before and/or during the job. Tracking this information can tell you how effective planned maintenance is: does it actually reduce equipment downtime? It can also let you fine-tune your planned maintenance schedule; by examining unit downtime, you can see where you need to increase planned work.

Before closing the work order, you should also record a "**Closing Code**". Different organizations use this code for different purposes. For example, some organizations might choose to classify the type of work done (plumbing, electrical, renovation, etc.). Some might choose to classify the original cause of the problem (normal wear and tear, operator error, vandalism, etc.). Some might use these codes for other purposes. Whatever your organization does with the codes, an appropriate one must be specified when you close a work order.

Closing codes have no direct effect on a work order. However, they're useful in producing targeted reports. For example, if you use a closing code to identify work done in response to vandalism, you can then prepare reports that tell how much vandalism costs you. If you don't use closing codes to record such information, you can't obtain such reports.

Closing Options: There are three slightly different ways to close a work order:

Close Work Order button (on **Work Orders** table viewer or a work order editor): This button closes the work order immediately.

Close Work Order (With Comment) (on the drop-down list for the Close Work Order button in a Work Orders table viewer): This prepares to close the selected work order, but first opens a window where you can record closing information including the "Downtime", a "Closing Code", and a comment about the job. When you Save & Close the comment window, the work order will be closed.

Close Work Order (With Comment) (in the work order editor): This is similar to **Close Work Order (With Comment)** in the table viewer, but does not prompt you to enter "**Downtime**" or "**Closing Code**".

We recommend that you always record a downtime and closing code. The following instructions show one way to do this:

e ⁿ		Μ	ly MainBoss - M	ainBoss I	Maintenan	e Manager				×
Session View	Actions Help									
View Or	oen Work Orders								•	F -
_				_						
Number	Priority		Current State Histor	y Status		Subject				
WO 0000001	I: 5 DAYS					CHANGE LIC	GHT IN ELE	VATOR		^
WO 0000002	G: 24 HOUR G: 24 HOUR					CHANGE LIC SERVICE AL	GHTS - Deli LEANS AN	isioso Restaurant	area	_
14/0.0000057	G: 24 HOUR					SERVICE AI		ID FAN MOTORS		× •
	Apply Filter									
Details Assign	ments Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters P	urchase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History		
Number WO 0	0000024	-								
Subject SERV	ICE ALL FANS AND FAN M	IOTORS								
Effect	ive Date			State	Status					
Current Wedne	esday, March 25, 2015 3:53	3:29.88 PM		Open						
	End Date			Entry	y Date					
PM Generation	n Batch Wednesday, July 3	1, 2013		Wed	nesday, July 24	i, 2013 3:48:26.76	5 PM			
Na	me		Business Phone		Er	nail				
Requestor										
Un	iit FAN SUP FOOD @ MAX	MALL								
Work End Dat	te Wednesday, July 24, 201	3								
Work Categor	v ENG									
Access Cod	le FULL									
Priorit	ty G: 24 HOUR									
Expense Mode	el Default Expense Model									
Projec	ct									
Descriptio	IN SERVICE ALL FANS	AND MOTOR	lS .							^
C										- <u>`</u>
Comment	15									01
Downtim	e 0:00									
Close Cod	e PM									
	Select for Printing									
New Task from	Work Order	<u>C</u> los	e Work Order 💌	#4 -	Add Work Ord	er Comment				đ
									Active	2 Help

□ To record downtime and closing code before closing a work order:

 Go to the open work order viewer (Work Orders | Open Work Orders), click on the work order you want to close, then click I O. MainBoss opens a window where you can edit the work order:

e,			Edit Wor	k Orde	r : WO 000000	24			-	
Details Assignme	ents Service Contracts	Resources	Temporary Storage	Meters	Purchase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History		
Number WO 000	00024									
Subject SERVIC	E ALL FANS AND FAN M	MOTORS								
Effective	e Date		State				Statu	s		
Current Wedness	day, March 25, 2015 3:53	3:29.881 (Open							
PM Generation E	Batch 7/24/2013 3:48:26.	.76 PM			7/31/2013					•••• ▼
Name	e		Business	Phone		Email				
Requestor		T	▼							
Unit	👩 FAN SUP FOOD @	MAXMALL							-	•••• ▼
Work Start Date	Wednesday, July 24, 201	13								-
Work End Date	Wednesday, July 24, 201	13								-
Work Duration	1									
Work Category	ENG		E	ENGINE	ERING - MAINTENI	ENCE			•	•••• 🔻
	Use Access Code fro	om Unit								
Access Code	FULL		F	FULL AC	CESS, ACCESS AN	IYTIME			•	•••• ▼
Priority	G: 24 HOUR		2	24 HOUF	IS				Ŧ	•••• ▼
	Use Expense Model	from Unit								
Expense Model	Default Expense Mod	el		Default E	xpense Model				T	▼
Project									•	···· ▼
Description	SERVICE ALL FANS	AND MOTO	RS							
										~
Comments										A
										×
Downtime	2									
Close Code	B								-	•••• ▼
	Select for Printing	•								
Print Save	Print & Close Close	e Work Orde	er 💌 Close 💌	Add W	/ork Order Comme	nt				
								•	🛒 🔻 A	ctive 🔞 Hel

- 2. In "**Downtime**" **2**, record how long the associated unit was inoperative, if appropriate.
- 3. In "Closing Code" ^(a), specify a closing code for the work order.
- 4. Click Close Work Order ④.

As an alternative, you could select the work order in the table viewer, then click the drop-down button on **Close Work Order** and click **Close Work Order** (**With Comment**). This also gives you an opportunity to record the downtime and closing code.

Paying for Outside Labor with a Purchase Order

If you have licensed the **Purchasing** module, you can create purchase orders to deal with the cost of outside labor on work orders. MainBoss makes it easy to coordinate the labor demands on a work order with the corresponding costs appearing on a purchase order.

The first step in this process is to specify the work to be done. For example, suppose you need to hire a plumber to repair some faulty plumbing. You'd begin by creating a work order describing the job you want done. This would specify all the usual information (e.g. the unit that needs to be fixed, the description of the work to be done, the expected start and end dates, etc.).

Next, you would create a demand for the plumber's labor. To do this, go to the work order's **Resources** section, and then to the **Outside** subsection. This subsection deals with labor by outside contractors. Use **New Demand Hourly Outside** or **New Demand Per Job Outside** to create a demand for the plumber's expected labor.

Note: MainBoss doesn't "lock you in" to a specific outside contractor. For example, suppose you create an hourly outside demand saying that you intend to hire Plumber X. You can still hire some different plumber without changing the original demand; in other words, MainBoss lets you treat the demand as a suggestion rather than an absolute requirement.

Once you've created the demand for outside labor, click the **New PO Line** button. This opens a window where you can create a purchase order entry corresponding to the labor demand.

0 _n	New P	urchase Hourly	Outside	- 🗆 ×
Line Number				
Purchase Order				▼ … ▼ 🔶
Demand Hourly Outside	WO Hourly Ou	t DRAIN	PUMP	\$30.00 🚥 💌
Demanded	А	Iready Ordered	Remai	ning Demand
Hours 1:00	0:	00	1:00	
Demand Hour	ly Outside Hourly	Outside Cost \$30.0	0	
Demand Hourly Outside	Hourly Outside Or	der Line Text		
			se suggested text	
	Or	der Line Text		
		🗌 U:	se remaining deman	d as quantity to order
		Quantity		•
Hours		Hourly Rate		Total Cost
Calculated Cost				
🗌 Use	calculated cost			
Cost				
Save Save & Close	Close -			
			[🕶 🗾 👻 Active 🕜 Help

At this point, you can use the "…" button associated with "**Purchase Order**" to create a new purchase order for the plumber's services. (For information on creating purchase orders, see *Creating a New Purchase Order* on page 146.) Alternatively, you can add this labor expense to an existing purchase order, if appropriate.

Once you've created or chosen the purchase order, use the above window to enter information about the labor. Often, you'll just checkmark **Use suggested text**, **Use remaining demand as quantity to order** and **Use calculated cost** so that the purchase order reflects the same information as the demand.

After you've created the purchase order line item, the work order window will show the demand and the PO line:

e,						Edit Wo	ork Order	: V	VO 000000	24			-		<
Details	Assignmen	ts Se	rvice Contra	acts Resource	es Temp	orary Storag	e Meters	Pur	rchase Orders	Chargebacks	Requests	State History			
[Demand								Actual						
Total \$	187.50							\$	\$0.00						
Items	Inside 0	utside	Miscellan	eous Expenses											
Cod	e		Dema	Demanded	Order Q	. Act /	Actual Cost		Record Type	Purchase Hou	rly Outside				
E-4	S PUMP								- Burshass Or	l l					
	E-O Hou	rly O	1:00	\$30.00	1:00	0:00	\$0	.00	Number D						
	-w	URAI			1:00	0:00	\$0	.00	Summory P	U UUUUUUUU I					
									Vendor D	RAIN					
									Volidor D						
									Demand Hou	irly Outside					
									Wa	ork Order WO 0	0000024				
									Hourly Outs	ide Code Hourly	/ Out				
									Descend Have	alu Orași de Ura		C			
									Demand Hou	iny Outside Hol	Order Line	Cost \$30.00 Text Plumbing	Services		
									Users	Usual a Day		T.	Jervices		
		Filter							Cost 1:00	e20.00	e	60	nal Cost		
								_	Cost 1.00	\$30.00		\$3	0.00		
Nev	w Demand H	lourly (Dutside	New PO L	Line A	ctualize	2 - 2	×	#4 -					8	
Print	Save	Print &	Close	Close Work O	rder 🔻	Close -	Add We	ork (Order Comme	nt					
								_						Antina Ol	l.l.
												•		Active 🕜 F	heip

You'll also notice that the **Purchase Orders** section of the work order lists the associated purchase order.

You should *issue* the purchase order once you've prepared it. For more information, see *Issuing a Purchase Order* on page 155.

After the job is done, you can actualize the contractor's work. We recommend that you do this as follows:

- 1. Go to the **Resources** section of the work order.
- 2. Go to the **Outside** subsection.
- 3. Click on the line for the purchase order entry (not the original demand).
- 4. Click Actualize.

This opens a window where you can actualize the contractor's work and also edit the associated purchase order to indicate that the labor was received. (For more on receiving labor on a purchase order, see *Recording the Receipt of Services* on page 160.)

Other Work Order Sections

In addition to the sections already discussed, a work order has the following:

- □ Meters section: Lists meter readings for the unit associated with the work order. You can use this section to record meter readings during or after the job. (To record a new meter reading, click New Work Order Meter Reading.)
- □ **Requests** section: Lists any requests associated with this work order. For example, if the work order was created from a request, this section will list the original request. The section can also be used to create new requests. For example, during an oil change, a worker might notice that the vehicle has some other problem; the worker could create a work request reporting the problem and asking that it be fixed.

Multiple Work Orders, Multiple Requests

Requests often lead to work orders. However, there doesn't have to be a one-to-one correspondence.

For example, suppose that a toilet backs up and floods a washroom. Three different people send email to MainBoss Service reporting the problem. In response, the maintenance department creates four work orders: a short-term one (clean up the mess in the washroom and temporarily close off the toilet stall), a medium-term one (call a plumber), and two long-term ones (repair water damage to the washroom, and repair other damage caused by leaks into the floor below). This makes three requests and four work orders.

As a result of such possibilities, closing a work order doesn't necessarily mean that you've satisfied related requests. More work may be needed before a request is satisfied. Therefore, when you close a work order, MainBoss does *not* close related requests. You must close all requests separately.

To close the requests related to a work order, we recommend the following:

- □ When a request is related to a work order, make sure you link the request to the work order (either through the **Work Orders** section of the request or in the **Requests** section of the work order).
- □ Once you close a work order, go to the work order's **Requests** section. This will show you all the requests you have to close.
- \Box Click the first request in the list, then click \blacksquare or View. This opens the record that links the request and the work order.
- □ In the "**Number**" field of the linking record, click the "…" button. This opens a requests viewer with the appropriate request selected.
- □ In this requests viewer, you can use **Close Request** to close the request.
- \Box Repeat this process for each request linked to the work order.

If you turn on the **Requests are automatically set In Progress when linked to a work order, and are closed when work order closes** option, closing a work order automatically closes all linked requests, provided that the requests are only linked to this single work order. (If a request is linked to multiple work orders, you must close it manually—the request isn't closed automatically, even if you close all its linked work orders.) To turn on this option, go to **Requests** in the control panel, go to the **Defaults for Requests** section, and click **Edit Defaults**. Turning on this option also means that when you create a work order from a new request, the request is automatically put into the "in progress" state.

The **Edit Defaults** window also has a field labeled **Comment to requestor for requests that are automatically closed when their linked work order closes**. This field lets you enter a message that will automatically be emailed to requestors whenever one of their requests closes because a linked work order closed. For example, you might use this message to direct requestors to a web page that contains a user satisfaction survey. (Note that the message is only emailed out if you have licensed the **MainBoss Service** module.)

Units

MainBoss records information about the places and equipment on which you perform maintenance. These are called *units*.

The <u>Configuration</u> guide describes how to set up initial information about your units. This <u>Day-to-Day Operations</u> guide describes actions that you might do on an ongoing basis, e.g. recording meter readings for your units.

To begin with, here is some basic terminology.

Meter: A device that is associated with a unit and that measures information relevant to maintenance work.

Examples include mileage meters on vehicles or clocks indicating hours of use for pieces of equipment.

It is helpful to take regular meter readings and record them in MainBoss. For example, this lets you schedule planned maintenance according to meter readers (e.g. inspecting a piece of equipment every 500 hours of use).

The readings given by a meter are assumed to increase over time. This is not true in some cases (for example with meters that roll over at 99999). To handle this situation, MainBoss uses *meter offsets* as described in *Meter Offsets* on page 123.

Specification: Information that may be helpful in performing maintenance on a unit.

With a vehicle, for example, it may be useful to record engine type, gas tank size, tools required for servicing, and so on.

Attachment: An online file that contains useful information about a unit.

For example, you might have schematic diagrams available on your computer, or documents recording information that isn't in your MainBoss database.

Any kind of file can be specified as an attachment. For example, a rental management company might have online legal documents describing lease agreements with tenants. These documents could be attached to MainBoss records if they would be useful to personnel who want to know what kind of maintenance has been contractually guaranteed.

System: A collection of interrelated units.

For example, your equipment for heating and air-conditioning might be regarded as a single HVAC system.

Grouping your units into systems can make it easier for you to identify large-scale trends or to create more fine-tuned reports. For example, if you specify which units belong to the HVAC system, it becomes easy to provide management with a report listing all HVAC problems over a given period.

Relationship: A connection between units or between a unit and a person.

For example, a hot-water heater might supply hot water to several different bathrooms. If so, it's useful to record this information in your MainBoss unit records; then, if a bathroom isn't getting hot water, you can quickly identify the heater involved, even if it's a long way from the bathroom where the problem was reported.

Similarly, it may be that a piece of manufacturing equipment is usually operated by a particular person. If something goes wrong with that equipment, workers might find that it's helpful to talk to that person for more information about the problem.

Relationships are recorded in the **Related** section of unit records and contact records. This is worth checking whenever you work on a unit, in case it holds helpful information.

Units and locations may have associated map coordinates. If your database specifies map coordinates for a unit or location, you can use the **Show on Map** button to find out where the unit/location is. If you click **Show on Map**, MainBoss attempts to open Google Maps to a map that shows the geographic position of the unit/location. (In order for this to work, you need an active Internet connection and a suitable web browser.)

Meters

Meters can be used to schedule planned maintenance. For example, you might specify that a car needs an oil change every 3000 miles as measured by the car's odometer.

In order for the scheduling process to work, you have to record meter readings on a regular basis. Suppose, for example, you record mileage readings for a car every week. After a few readings, MainBoss can figure out the average distance the car travels every day and can then predict when the next oil change should be scheduled. Obviously, this is just an approximation, but the more readings you record, the better predictions MainBoss can make.

When you generate planned maintenance work orders, MainBoss checks its meter predictions to see if any meter-scheduled jobs are expected to come due in the given period. If so, MainBoss creates an appropriate work order for the required task. Depending on the options you set, MainBoss can also create planned work orders if it finds that a meter reading has unexpectedly gone past the point when work was supposed to be scheduled (e.g. if you drive a car much farther than usual in a particular week so that you unexpectedly go past the mileage reading where an oil change is due).

Recording Meter Readings

It is helpful to record meter readings on a regular basis, especially if you base planned maintenance on those readings. For example, suppose a piece of equipment needs maintenance every 500 hours of use. Then you should record the hours of use regularly so MainBoss can tell you when 500 hours have passed since the last maintenance.

□ To record a meter reading:

- 1. Select **Units** from the control panel.
- 2. In the list of units, select (click) the one that contains the meter whose reading you want to record.
- 3. Click \square to open the unit record.
- 4. In the Meters section of the unit, click the meter whose reading you want to record.
- 5. Click **New Meter Reading**. MainBoss opens a window where you can record the new reading.
- 6. In "**Effective Date**", specify the date/time when the meter reading was taken. (By default, the field shows the current date/time.)
- 7. In "**Reading**", enter the reading from the meter.
- 8. Click Save & Close to save the information and close the window.

Meter Offsets

Many meters wrap around when they reach a particular point. For example, a meter with only five digits will wrap around from 99999 to 00000. In this case, 00000 really means 100000 but the meter doesn't have enough digits to show the true measurement.

For measurement accuracy—especially if you are scheduling planned maintenance based on meter readings—it's important that MainBoss can interpret what a meter reading really means (e.g. that 00000 really means 100000). MainBoss solves this problem with *meter offsets*. A meter offset is a number that MainBoss adds to the reading you see on the meter in order to come up with the true value for the meter.

In our example of the five-digit meter, the meter offset is zero until the first time the meter wraps around. Then you should set the meter offset to 100000; this means that when the meter reads (for example) 00123, the real value is actually 100123. If and when the meter wraps around again, you should set the meter offset to 200000, and so on. In this way, workers can simply record the readings they see on the meter, but MainBoss can still calculate the true value associated with the meter.

Meter offsets may also be used when an old meter breaks and a new meter must be installed. For example, if the old meter breaks at 12345 and you install a new meter that starts at zero, you should specify a meter offset of 12345. This tells MainBoss to add 12345 to all readings from the new meter in order to determine the true value of what is being measured.

Important: You must change the meter offset every time a meter wraps around, every time you reset a meter to zero, and every time you replace an old meter with a new one. Otherwise, MainBoss will not be able to convert meter readings into true values and you will not be able to schedule planned maintenance by meter readings.

□ To specify the meter offset for a meter:

- 1. Go to Coding Definitions | Units | Meters. MainBoss displays a list of meters defined on your equipment.
- 2. Select the desired meter from this list, then click \square . MainBoss opens a window where you can enter a new offset:

🔛 Edit Mete	er : GAS METER_CUBIC M	I : A/C MECH @ E	30A - 🗆 ×
Details Meter Readings			
Meter Class GAS METER_C	UBIC M		▼ ▼
Unit 👩 A/C MECH @	BOA		▼ ▼
Meter Class UOM CUBIC M			
Reading Offset 0			
Entry Date	Effective Date	Reading	Effective Reading
Current Wednesday, November 26,	Wednesday, November 26, 2	0	0
Comments 2			<u>^</u>
Save & <u>N</u> ew <u>S</u> ave ▼ Save &	Close Cancel ▼ New !	Manual Meter Reading	
			💌 🛒 🔻 Active 🔞 Help

- 3. In "Offset" **①**, enter a new offset for the meter.
- 4. Optionally, in "Comments" ⁽²⁾, enter a comment explaining why the new offset was necessary.
- 5. Click Save & Close 🖲 to save the information and close the window.

Defective Meter Readings: If you record a meter reading that is lower than the last reading, MainBoss issues a message saying that the reading is defective. Either you mistyped the reading, or it's time to set the meter offset.

Planned Maintenance

This chapter is only relevant if you have licensed the **Planned Maintenance** module. If you do not have a license key for this module, the control panel will not contain entries related to planned maintenance.

This chapter introduces the basics of scheduling planned (preventive) maintenance (PM). Each PM job is represented by a work order, just as a repair job would be. However, PM work orders are created and scheduled by MainBoss itself; you do not make them up individually the way that you do with corrective jobs.

Here are some terms that MainBoss uses in connection with planned maintenance:

Task: A description of a particular planned maintenance operation.

For example, a task might describe everything that should be done during an oil change on a forklift truck. This could include inspecting engine belts, checking the filters, etc. in addition to the oil change itself.

Task descriptions are typically written up as checklists or step-by-step instructions for workers to follow.

Unit Maintenance Plan: A record giving a unit, a task, and timing for doing the task on the unit.

For example, the record might say that a particular vehicle (the unit) needs an oil change (the task) every three months (the timing).

The <u>Configuration</u> guide explains how to set up the plans for planned maintenance. This guide explains how to use your existing plans to create planned maintenance work orders.

Generating Planned Maintenance Work Orders

In order to schedule planned maintenance, you must explicitly tell MainBoss to generate appropriate work orders.

Important: PM work orders are not generated until you tell MainBoss to do so. You must explicitly tell MainBoss to generate the work orders.

PM work orders are always generated for a specific period. For example, every Friday you might generate work orders for the next week (up to and including the next Friday).

MainBoss will then check all the PM schedules and see which jobs come due in the specified period. MainBoss will also check all the meter readings that have been recorded and will determine which jobs will come due based on those readings.

You specify a time period by giving the last day of the period. MainBoss will generate work orders for all jobs up to and including that day. For example, suppose that the last time, you generated all work orders up to March 30. The next time you generated work orders, you might tell MainBoss to generate work orders up to April 15; then MainBoss will generate work orders for all PM jobs that come due from March 31 to April 15 (inclusive).

□ To generate PM work orders:

1. Select **Unit Maintenance Plans** | **Generate Planned Maintenance** from the control panel. MainBoss displays list of records for all previous times that you generated planned maintenance jobs.



2. Click **New Planned Maintenance Batch •**. MainBoss opens a window where you can begin the generation process.

R New Planne	ed Maintenance Batch		×
Details Generation Details Work Orders Errors			
User Contact jagardner			
Scheduling Parameters			
Entry Date Tuesday, April 14, 2015 4:22:05.46 PM			
End Date Tuesday, April 21, 2015 2			•
Unit Maintenance Plan 38 entries selected		•	•
Work Order Generation Parameters			
Single Purchase Orders			
Purchase Order Creation State			•
For Access Code	For Evnense Model	· · · ·	•
Prefer value from Task	Prefer value from Task		
Prefer value from Unit	Prefer value from Unit		
Only use value from Task	Only use value from Task		
	O Only use value from Onlt		
Comments			^
			×
Generate Save Save & Close ✓			
		📻 🔻 Active	Help

- 3. Check the date in "End Date" ② and make sure it's what you want. (MainBoss will generate all PM work orders up to and including the specified date.) Change the date if you want a different one.
- 4. Click Generate ⁽³⁾. MainBoss will generate an initial list of work orders for the planned maintenance tasks that are due. This list is displayed in the Generation Details section.



Examine the list to make sure it's what you expect. If it's acceptable, click
 Commit 4 to create the actual work orders.

Note: The **Errors** section of the record will report any errors that were found during the **Commit** process. For each entry in the **Errors** list, check the "**Disposition details**" field. This will tell you the source of the problem. Often, you'll find out that there's something that needs correcting in a task or a maintenance timing record.

You might be wondering why work order generation is a two-stage process: first **Generate**, then **Commit**. The answer is that the two-stage process gives you a chance to deal with mistakes.

For example, suppose that you mistype the year in "**End Date**"—you type January 1, 2009 rather than 2008. When you click **Generate**, you'll see that you've got a lot more potential work orders than you expected; you can check to see what's wrong and correct the error.

Similarly, if you made a mistake in setting up the maintenance schedule for a particular unit, you can see that something is wrong and fix the problem before making the actual work orders.

To fix any problems in planned maintenance generation, click **Change Scheduling Parameters**. This clears the **Generation Details** section and lets you edit previous fields in the record. Once you've made your correction, click **Generate** again.

Separating Generate and Commit gives you a chance to avoid the creation of incorrect work orders. You can check your work before actually committing to the final list of jobs. Once you Commit, however, you cannot uncommit—the work orders will be created and appear in your Work Orders table.

Adjusting Planned Maintenance Work Orders

After MainBoss has generated a set of PM work orders, you may adjust any of those work orders to reflect special circumstances. For example, suppose that a PM task description assigns a job to a particular worker, but that worker is sick or on vacation. In this case, you can adjust the generated work order to assign the job to someone else.

As another example, suppose a vehicle is scheduled for a routine oil change but you've also received a complaint about a slow leak in one of the vehicle's tires. You may choose to modify the oil change work order to tell workers to deal with the slow leak too.

You can adjust a work order at any time, but many organizations find it convenient to review PM work orders immediately after the work orders have been generated.

After you **Commit** to a set of work orders, the **Work Orders** section of the planned maintenance generation record will list the work orders that were generated. To edit any of the work orders, select the work order in the list, then click \square .

Standard (Boilerplate) Work Orders

Your organization may define standard work orders (also called *boilerplate* work orders). These are pre-existing *templates* that can be used to create work orders quickly. For example, a property management company might have a standard procedure for what should be done after a tenant moves out or before a new tenant moves in. Similarly, a company with a number of vehicles to maintain might have standard procedures for what should be done when changing a muffler or brake pads.

MainBoss lets you write up templates for such procedures ahead of time. You can then create actual work orders based on the templates, and adjust the work orders in any way

necessary (e.g. set specific times for the jobs to be done and assign the jobs to specific workers).

Using pre-existing templates can save you the effort of typing up instructions. Preexisting templates also make sure that you don't accidentally leave out important information (such as tools and materials that might be required or safety procedures that should be followed).

The <u>Configuration</u> guide explains how to create standard work order templates. In particular, it discusses the creation of unit maintenance plans designed specifically for direct use (as opposed to ones used to generate planned maintenance work orders). "Direct use" unit maintenance plans are "unscheduled" in the sense that they have special maintenance timing schedules that never come due on their own; such a plan only leads to a work order when you specifically ask to make a work order from the plan.

The instructions below show how to make a work order using a unit maintenance plan as a template, whether the plan has a normal schedule or not.

- □ To create a work order from an existing template:
 - 1. Select **Unit Maintenance Plans** from the control panel. MainBoss displays your existing maintenance plans:

្តថិ	My MainBoss - N	AainBoss Maintenance Mar	nager	- 🗆 ×				
Session View Actions	Help							
- ₽ View Unit Maint	enance Plans			- 🗐				
Task	Unit	Maintenance Timing	Current Scheduling Detail Next	Available D				
AIR COMP	ACOMP-CONTR @ MAXMALL	3 months10000	1/22/2015	^				
R COOL TWR	COOL TWR @ MAXMALL	6 months	1/22/2015					
- FAN BEARING	FAN SUP BOA 3 @ BOA	3 months	1/22/2015					
FAN BEARING	FAN SUP BOA MEC @ BOA	3 months	1/22/2015					
FANS	FAN RET M @ MAXMALL	3 months	1/22/2015	~				
Apply Filter								
Details Generation Details	Work Orders Errors							
Record Type Unit I	Maintenance Plan							
Task AIR C	OMP							
Unit ACON	MP-CONTR @ MAXMALL							
Unit	Maintenance Plan Enabled							
Maintenance Timing 3 mon	nths10000							
Timing Basis Sche	duled Date							
-Current Scheduling Detail								
Details Work Order								
	A Work Order has been created							
PM Generation B	Batch Wednesday, January 21, 2015 3:39:	51.69 PM						
Schedule	Schedule Date Tuesday, November 4, 2014							
Schedule Rea	ading							
Provisional Work Start	Date Wednesday, January 21, 2015							
Provisional Work End	Date Wednesday, January 21, 2015							
	2							
New Unit Maintenance Plan	New Unplanned Maintenance Work	c Order 📝 👻 🛃	Change Schedule Basis	M - 3				
User jagardner (SQL Administra	tor) Organization My MainBoss (MB35Test	: Database 'MB35Test' on server 'SC	RINIUM\.SQLEXPRESS')	Active 🕜 Help				

- 2. In the list of unit maintenance plans **①**, select the one that you want to use. (Make sure that it applies to the unit you want to service.)
- 3. Click **New Unplanned Maintenance Work Order 2**. MainBoss opens a window where you can specify more information:

ه New Unplanned	d Maintenance Work Order 🛛 🗕 🗖 🗙
Unit Maintenance Plan	ACOMP-CONTR @ MAXM 3 months 10000 1/ V
Work Order Creation State	
Prefer value from Task Prefer value from Unit Only use value from Task Only use value from Task Only use value from Unit	Prefer value from Task Only use value from Task Only use value from Unit Only use value from Unit
Comments	↓ ↓
Save & Close	
	▼ F Active O Help

- 4. Adjust any of the options as appropriate.
- 5. Click Save & Close S to create the work order and close the window.

You can also create boiler-plate work orders from tasks (**Unit Maintenance Plans** | **Tasks**). The process is similar: you go to the task list, select the one you want, and click **New Work Order from Task**. From that point, the procedure is straightforward.

Forecast Reports

MainBoss offers several reports that predict maintenance activities during an upcoming period:

Unit Maintenance Plans | **Reports** | **Labor Forecast** Forecasts labor use over the specified period.

- **Unit Maintenance Plans** | **Reports** | **Material Forecast** Forecasts materials that will be used over the specified period.
- **Unit Maintenance Plans** | **Reports** | **Maintenance Forecast** Forecasts work orders that will be carried out during the specified period.

In all cases, the desired period is specified in the Filters section of the report window.

General Inventory Control

This chapter outlines how MainBoss helps you keep track of your materials inventory. In particular, the chapter examines how to record information about changes in your inventory, such as transfers from one storeroom to another or recording inventory numbers after a physical count.

As inventory materials are used, MainBoss automatically adjusts its database according to the information recorded when you close a work order. For example, if a particular work order states that you put a new tire on a forklift truck, MainBoss automatically reduces the count of tires in your inventory (as of the date of issue as stated on the work order).

You may also make manual adjustments to inventory totals. This lets you account for breakage, transfers from one storeroom to another, and other factors that influence your inventory.

The **MainBoss** module lets you track the inventory you use on work orders. This means you can create records describing inventory items, including price information and the quantities used on jobs.

The **Inventory** module adds the ability to keep track of where items are stored. In particular, you can describe which items each storeroom contains, as well as the maximum and minimum quantities of each item that you want to keep in each storeroom.

Inventory Details

This section discusses precise details of certain aspects of inventory control.

On Hand: When MainBoss tells you the quantity of an item that is currently *on hand*, that is the quantity that is expected to be present in a particular storeroom or in all storerooms combined.

On Reserve: When you create a work order, you can reserve inventory materials for use in the work order. These materials are said to be *on reserve*. You put materials on reserve when you use **New Demand Item** in the **Resources** section of an open work order. More precisely, the materials are put on reserve when you **Save** the demand.

Materials can be removed from reserve in several ways:

□ You can Void (cancel) the work order. In this case, all materials that were on reserve become available for use again.

- □ You can use × in the **Resources** section of the work order to delete demands from the list. Deleting a demand makes reserved materials available once more.
- □ You can use Actualize to state that reserved materials have actually been used. For example, suppose you use New Demand Item to reserve 10 quarts of oil for a job, then use Actualize to say that the job actually used 8 quarts. MainBoss will update its records to say that you now have only 2 quarts on reserve, since you used 8 of the original 10 quarts. (MainBoss will also update its records to say that you have 8 quarts less on hand.)
- □ When you close a work order, MainBoss removes all outstanding reservations for materials on that work order. For example, suppose you reserved 10 quarts of oil but only used 8 quarts. This leaves 2 quarts still on reserve. However, when you close the work order, MainBoss removes those 2 quarts from the reserve. Since the work order has been closed, the job is finished and the extra 2 quarts obviously weren't needed. (If you reopen the work order after closing it, the extra 2 quarts will *not* be put back on reserve.)

The total quantity of an item on reserve is the sum of all *on reserve* quantities from *open* work orders. For example, if one work order calls for 10 quarts of oil and another calls for 20, you have a total of 30 quarts on reserve.

On Order: As soon as you add an item to a purchase order, the given quantity is considered *on order*. Note that the purchase order does *not* have to be issued; items are on order even if the purchase order is only in the draft state. For more on purchase orders, see *Purchasing and Receiving* on page 143.

Stock Available: When MainBoss tells you the total quantity of an item *available* (either in a single storeroom or in all storerooms combined), the quantity is calculated as

```
Stock Available = OnHand + OnOrder - OnReserve
```

When MainBoss needs to determine whether stock should be restocked, it looks at the *available* quantity, not at the quantity on hand.

Closed and Voided Work Orders: After a work order has been closed or voided, the use of **New Demand Item** does *not* put materials on reserve. Since the job is already finished or cancelled, there is no point in putting materials on reserve. (The only reason you would use **New Demand Item** would be to correct your records after the fact. MainBoss doesn't put the item on order, but does reduce the quantity on hand.)

Inventory Operations

The purpose of MainBoss inventory control is to let you keep track of what materials you have on hand. If a particular job needs an item, you can use MainBoss to determine the storeroom locations where that item is currently available. In order for MainBoss to be effective, you must make sure that your MainBoss records match what's actually in your storeroom. This means that you must keep track of actions that affect your inventory. In most cases, MainBoss does this automatically; for example, when a work order records that an item was used in a job, MainBoss automatically updates the records about that item.

However, there are a few situations where you must tell MainBoss directly that your inventory has changed. For example, if you move items from one storeroom to another, you must tell MainBoss about the transfer. Similarly, if items are removed or added for some unusual reason (for example, something gets broken), you should tell MainBoss so that inventory records remain accurate. Finally, if you take a physical count of your inventory, you should modify MainBoss's records whenever the actual count differs from what MainBoss expects.

The following sections describe some day-to-day situations related to inventory control and how you can handle them with MainBoss.

Finding Which Storeroom Contains a Particular Item

Suppose you need a particular item. You want to know which storerooms contain that item and how much each storeroom contains.

Go to **Items** in the control panel. Click on the item in the list. In the **Storeroom Assignments** area below the list, you'll see locations where the item is stored. Clicking on any entry in the area will show you the quantity of the item in the selected location.

Recording Price Quotes

You can record price quotes on an item using the item record.

□ To record a price quote on an item:

1. In the control panel, select **Items** and click on the item for which you want to record a price quote.

e,	My N	/ainBoss - MainBoss Mainte	nance Manager			- 🗆 ×
Session View Actions Help	0					
Siew Items						
Code	Description	Category		On Hand	Unit Cost	Total Cost
BALLAST 1F40	BALLAST 347 1F40			44	\$83.9682	\$3,694.60 🔺
BALLAST 2F40	BALLAST 347 2 F40			72	\$36.5869	\$2,634.26
BEARING	6203 2Z BEARING	BEARING		10	\$45.8000	\$458.00
Apply Filter						
Details Storeroom Assignments	Temporary Storage Assignments	Task Temporary Storage Assignments	Pricing Purchasing	Receiving Usa	ge Maintenance	
Record Type Item						
Code 100W						
Description 100W						
UOM EA						
Category LIGHT						
 Totals for this item over all location 	ns					
Quantity	Unit Cost		Co	st		
On Hand 35	\$0.6857		\$24	.00		
On Order 1						
On Reserve 0						
Available 36						
Comments						^
New Item		et-Database 'MB25Tast' on server 'SC'		c1		

2. Click 🗹 **0**. MainBoss opens a window showing the item record.



3. In the **Pricing 2** section, click **New Item Pricing 3**. MainBoss opens a window where you can record the price quote.

" New Item Pricing	- 🗆 ×
Effective Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 2:19:18.58 PM	
Item 🕞 BALLAST 2F40	••• 💌
Vendor 👩	▼ … ▼ 🔶
Quantity Unit Cost Cost	
Quoted Pricing 🕤 🔶	
Order Line Text	
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save & Close Close V	
	💌 🛒 💌 Active 🕜 Help

- 4. In "Vendor" ④, select the supplier who provided the price quote.
- 5. Under "Quantity" **⑤**, specify the quantity given in the price quote.
- 6. Specify the cost **③** given in the price quote. (If you fill in "**Unit Cost**" with the price per unit, MainBoss will automatically fill in "**Cost**" with the total cost...and vice versa.)
- 7. Click Save & Close to save the information and close the window.

You can record different price quotes for different vendors. The **Pricing** section of the item record lists all the price quotes you've recorded.

Taking Physical Inventory

Keeping an accurate inventory is notoriously difficult, even with computerized recordkeeping. For this reason, most organizations periodically take a physical count of their stock.

There are several common approaches to taking a physical count of your stock:

- □ Periodic inventory: Closing down all your maintenance operations for a time and doing a complete count in all your storerooms
- □ Perpetual inventory: Every time you issue or receive a particular item, you take a count of the quantity of that item in the same location
- □ Cycle audit: Periodically selecting a type of inventory item and counting your complete stock of that item

□ Cyclical inventory: Progressively counting parts of your stock until you have counted everything; for example, you might take inventory in one storeroom a month until you have covered all your storerooms. Once you have finished, you start the cycle again at the beginning.

After taking inventory by any of the above methods, you should compare the numbers from the physical count to the numbers in MainBoss's records. If there is a disagreement, you should update MainBoss's records to reflect the actual numbers.

In order to do a physical count, print off a report using **Items** | **Reports** | **Location and Status**. This displays which items are expected to be in which locations.

After you have taken inventory, you should adjust MainBoss's records to reflect any differences between the real count and the expected quantities.

□ To adjust MainBoss's records after taking inventory:

1. In the control panel, select **Items** | **Storeroom Assignments**. MainBoss displays a list of storeroom locations and what items they contain:

MB	My M	ainBoss - MainBo	oss Maintenance M	anager -	- 🗆 >	<	
Session Vie	w Actions Help						
View Sto	reroom Assignme	nts			• 5	-	
Code	~		Description		Available		
	SUPPLIES		BANK OF A SUPPLY/S1	IGRICULTURE TORAGE SPACE		^	
T -e	⊋ 100W		100W		5		
	BALLAST 2F40		BALLAST 34	47 2 F40	72		
	BELT A60		A-60		0		
	CYLINDER M		1 1/8 F MO	RTISE CYLINDER 519	2		
	INCAND IS W		15W INCAN	IDESCENT BULB	68	~	
1	Apply Filter						
Details Item	Activity						
Record	Type Storeroom Assignme	nt					
	Code BELT A60 @ B-SUPP	LIES @ BOA					
	Item BELT A60						
Item Descr	ription A-60						
Item	UOM EA						
Externa	al Tag						
Loc	cation B-SUPPLIES @ BOA						
Min	iimum 2						
Max	timum 5						
Item Price V	endor (
	Quantity	Unit Cost		Cost			
Preferred Pri	icing						
On H	Hand 0			\$0.00			
On O)rder 0						
On Res	erve 0						
Avail	lable 0						
Cost Center	Default Item Costs						
New Storero	om Assignment 🛛 👻 👻	× 🖪 🗈 -	- 64		;	3	
User jagardner (SQL Administrator) Organization My MainBoss (MB35Test: Database "MB35Test' on server 'SCRINIUM\SQL Active 🔞 Help							

2. In the list of records, find the storeroom that contains the item whose count should be changed, then click on the line for the item.

3. Click 🗹 **0**. MainBoss opens a window that lets you edit the existing information.

<u>_</u>		Edit Stor	eroom Assi	gnment : B	ELT A60 : B-SUPPLIES @ BOA		×
Details Item Activity							
Item Activity	Effective Date	Quantity	Unit Cost	Cost			
Apply Filter							
New Physical Count	<u>C</u> orrect	ew Item Issue	• 🛛 •	\$\$ -		2	
<u>N</u> ew Save & Next ▼	Save & Close	Close 🔻					
					- I - I - I - I - I - I - I - I - I - I	Active 🕜	He

 In the Item Activity 2 section of the record, click New Physical Count 3. MainBoss opens a window where you can specify the physical count for the item in this particular storeroom.

æ	New Physical Count	- 🗆 🗙					
Entry Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 2:40:56.08 PM							
Effective Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 2:40:56.08 PM							
User Contact jagardner							
Storage Assignment	Storage Assignment 😨 BELT A60 @ B-SUPPLIES @ BOA						
Adjustment Code	4	▼ … ▼ 🔶					
Voiding Voided Physical Count Entry Date							
Voiding Voided Physical Count		••• ▼					
Quantity	9	•					
Item Pricing and Purchasing History							
Do not include Purchasing History							
		▼ … ▼					
Quantity	Unit Cost Total Cost						
On Hand 4	\$10.0000 \$40.00						
Pricing Basis							
Calculated Item Price Cost	6						
Use calculat	ted item price cost						
Cost	8	•					
From Cost Center Default Item Costs							
To Cost Center							
Save & <u>N</u> ew <u>S</u> ave ▼ Save & C <u>l</u> ose	Close -						
	Active 😢 Help						
- 5. In "Adjustment Code" ④, select a code indicating the reason for the change. (Typically, this will be your organization's code for "physical count".)
- 6. In "Quantity" **9**, enter the actual quantity of the item that was found in the storeroom.
- 7. If the cost of the item is the same as the costs given in the "Calculated Item Price Cost" G line, click Use calculated item price cost 7. Otherwise, enter the different cost in "Cost" 3. (If you fill in the "Unit Cost" column, MainBoss will automatically fill in "Total Cost" and vice versa.)
- 8. Click Save & Close O to save your information and return to the previous window.

Other Inventory Operations

A number of other inventory operations are available through storeroom assignment records (discussed in the previous sections):

New Item Adjustment (found on the drop-down list for **New Physical Count**): May be used for any non-standard adjustment to item quantities recorded in your records. For example, if an item accidentally gets broken, you should record what happened by creating an adjustment record.

When you record an adjustment, you specify an adjustment code. Possible adjustment codes are set up by your MainBoss administrator. For more on such codes, see the MainBoss <u>Configuration</u> guide.

New Item Issue:

Used in situations in which materials are issued from inventory, other than in connection with a work order. For example, a rental management company might issue a supply of light bulbs to tenants so that tenants can change their own bulbs rather than calling in maintenance personnel.

When you record an issue, you specify an issue code. Possible issue codes are set up by your MainBoss administrator. For more on such codes, see the MainBoss <u>Configuration</u> guide.

Item Transfer To and Item Transfer From (found on the drop-down list for New Item Issue):

Lets you record when you move materials from one storeroom to another. **Item Transfer From** is used if you start with the record for the storeroom where the items were kept originally. **Item Transfer To** is used if you start with the record for the storeroom where the items are going.

Restocking

Items | **Item Restocking** lists all inventoried items that need to be re-ordered. To determine whether an item needs to be restocked, MainBoss looks at your current on-hand stock of that item, minus the quantity that has been put on reserve for work orders, plus the quantity that has already been put on order in issued purchase orders. In other words, MainBoss looks at the quantity

OnHand + OnOrder - OnReserve

If this is less than the minimum stock level for an item, MainBoss indicates that the item should be restocked. MainBoss suggests that you re-order a quantity that will put the above calculation up to the maximum stock level for the item.

Restocking is analyzed on a storeroom by storeroom basis. If an item is below its minimum level in a particular storeroom, the Restocking Report says the item should be re-ordered, even if other storerooms contain enough of the item to make up the difference.

Restocking Report: You can also get restocking information in report form by clicking the restocking button in **Items** | **Item Restocking**. Either way, the restocking report lists all items that need to be restocked. Accompanying each item is a list of the storerooms where restocking is required.

Purchasing and Receiving

This chapter is only relevant if you have licensed the **Purchasing** module. If you do not have a license key for this module, the control panel will not contain entries related to purchase orders.

MainBoss has detailed facilities for reporting which inventory items need to be restocked, for creating purchase orders, and for tracking the shipments you receive. This chapter outlines the usual sequence of events for purchasing and receiving. For more detailed information, see the online help.

Draft Purchase Order: A draft purchase order is a preliminary version of a purchase order.

For example, if you need authorization before sending a purchase order to a supplier, you would usually create a draft purchase order and print it out, then submit that PO for management approval.

You can edit a drift purchase order whenever necessary. For example, if management does not approve some of the requested items, you can delete those items before issuing the purchase order to the vendor.

Issued Purchase Order: You issue a purchase order when the PO is ready to be submitted to the supplier. From that point on, the PO is an issued purchase order.

A purchase order becomes an issued purchase order when you have obtained all the required authorizations and have marked the PO as ready to submit. After you issue a PO, you print it off and send it to the supplier.

MainBoss won't let you edit an issued purchase order, since you presumably want to preserve what the purchase order said at the time you sent it to the vendor. However, you can *withdraw* an issued purchase order, putting it back into the draft state. The purchase order can then be edited like any other purchase order.

Closed Purchase Order: You close a purchase order when you have received all the goods and services covered by the PO, or have canceled any goods and services that have not already been received.

In other words, you close a purchase order when it's been filled or when you've canceled any unreceived portion of the order.

You can *re-activate* a closed purchase order. This puts it back into the issued state.

Waybill: A waybill number identifies a shipment received in response to a purchase order.

Each shipment has a unique waybill number, chosen by you. Many organizations use whatever identification number the vendor assigned to the shipment.

The Purchasing/Receiving Process

The following shows the usual steps of the purchasing/receiving cycle.

- 1. Print a report of what materials need to be re-ordered (see *Restocking* on page 142).
- 2. Decide which materials will be purchased from which suppliers.
- 3. Create a purchase order for each supplier, listing the materials you want to purchase (see *Creating a New Purchase Order* on page 146).
- 4. Obtain any authorizations needed for the purchase.
- 5. Issue each purchase order and send it to the vendor (see *Issuing a Purchase Order* on page 155).
- 6. Each time a shipment is received in response to the purchase order, assign the shipment a waybill number and record which items were received (see *Recording Item Receipts* on page 157).
- 7. When all the ordered items have been received, close the PO (see *Closing a Purchase Order* on page 160).



Typical Purchasing/Receiving Cycle

The steps given above are only one approach to purchasing/receiving. A common alternative is to depend on a small number of suppliers and to prepare regular purchase orders for each. For example, you might ask, "What do we need to buy from Supplier X this week?" In this case, you might prepare your purchase orders for your regular suppliers first, then print a restocking report to see if there was anything else you needed to order.

Note: Purchase orders may be issued for services as well as for goods. For example, if you hire an outside contractor to do three weeks of work, you could issue a purchase order to cover the costs of that work. Labor costs would be regarded as "extras" on the purchase order.

Purchase Order Status Codes: Like requests and work orders, purchase orders may be assigned status codes. Typically, a status code indicates that the purchase order needs someone's personal attention. For example, your organization may have a status code like Waiting for approval to indicate that a purchase order is waiting for management authorization. Once the issue has been resolved, the status code may be removed and the purchase order may resume normal processing.

Your organization can create any type of status codes that make sense for the way you purchase. To see what codes have been defined by your organization, see **Coding Definitions** | **Purchase Orders** | **Purchase Order Statuses**.

You assign status codes to a purchase order by clicking **Add Purchase Order Comment** in a purchase order or in a purchase order table viewer. This opens a window where you can specify a status. You use the same process to remove an existing status. Any existing status code is also removed when you issue or close the purchase order.

Note that status codes can be a useful form of communication between users. For example, suppose that a worker has the PurchaseOrderReceive security role (meaning that the worker can record the receipt of purchase order line items) but does not have the PurchaseOrderClose security role (which is needed to close a purchase order). The worker could give the purchase order a status like Ready to Close, indicating that all appropriate information has been recorded. A supervisor with PurchaseOrderClose permission could regularly check all open purchase orders to see if any are Ready to Close; if so, the supervisor can review those purchase orders and close them as appropriate (removing the status code in the process).

Remember that a status code is intended to bring a purchase order to someone's attention. You can therefore use status codes as signals for other users.

Creating a New Purchase Order

In MainBoss, the purchase order window records information about the PO itself and the shipments received in response to the PO.

□ To create a new purchase order:

1. Go to **Purchase Orders** in the control panel and click **New Purchase Order**. MainBoss opens a purchase order form:

۵	New Purchase Order	- 🗆 🗙			
Details Line Items Assign	nments Receiving Receipts Work Orders State History				
Number PO 00000003					
Summary	D				
Effective Date	State Status				
Current					
Required By Date	3	▼			
Vendor	9				
	Use payment terms from vendor 4				
Payment Term	3				
Shipping Mode	<u>9</u>				
Comment To Vendor	3	\sim			
Comments		~			
		×			
✓ Select for Printing					
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save & <u>P</u> r	rint <u>Save</u> ▼ Save & Close Issue ▼ Close ▼ Add Purchase Order	r Comment			
		🛒 🔻 Active 🔞 Help			

- 2. In "Summary" enter a brief description of this purchase order.
- 3. In "**Required By Date**" **2**, specify the date by which you need this order to be filled.
- 4. In "Vendor" ⁽³⁾, specify the vendor who will fill the order.
- Either checkmark Use payment terms from vendor ④ (to use the vendor's default payment terms), or else use "Payment Terms" ⑤ to specify any payment terms for the order.
- 6. In "Shipping Mode" **③**, specify how the goods should be shipped.

- 7. In "**Deliver to Location**" **②**, specify the location where the goods should be delivered.
- 8. In "**Comments to Vendor**" ③, enter any comments to the vendor that you want to put on the purchase order.
- 9. Fill out the Line Items section as described in *Purchase Order Line Items* on page 148.
- 10. Click Save & Close to save the information and close the window.

You can print the purchase order by following the instructions in *Printing One or More Purchase Orders* on page 155.

Purchase Order Line Items

The **Line Items** section of a purchase order specifies the items you want to purchase. It can also specify labor (e.g. if this purchase order is paying for the services of an outside contractor). Finally, the section can include miscellaneous items (e.g. paying surcharges for express delivery).

- □ To add a new item to a purchase order:
 - 1. Click **New Purchase Item O**. This opens a window where you can add an item to the purchase order.



2. Click **New Purchase Item •**. This opens a window where you can add an item to the purchase order.

" New Purchase Item -	×
Line Number	
Purchase Order PO 00000003 BATTERIES	•••• 🔻
Storage Assignment	
Storage Assignment filtering based on Pricing and Purchasing History	
Only include Storage Assignments which have a preferred Price Quote associated with them Only include Storage Assignments for items which have a Price Quote associated with them	
Only include Storage Assignments for items which have previously been received	
O Do not filter Storage Assignments based on Pricing or Purchasing History	
Use Pricing or Purchasing history only for the Purchase Order's Vendor	
Storage Assignment filtering based on Available quantity	
Only include Storage Assignments which are below minimum and cannot be replenished using transfers	
O Only include Storage Assignments which are below minimum	fers
Only include Storage Assignments which are below maximum	
O Do not filter Storage Assignments based on quantity available	
2	··· • •
Available Minimum Maximum To Order	
Quantity	
Item Pricing and Purchasing History	
Do not include Purchasing History	
 ■ Do not metado Farendanig rilatory ■ 	··· 🔻
Suggested Text	
Use suggested text	
Order Line Text	
I Use To Order quantity	
Quantity	•
Storage Assignment Item UOM	
Quantity Unit Cost Total Cost	
Pricing Basis	
Calculated Cost	
Use calculated cost	
Cost	
Save & <u>N</u> ew <u>Save</u> ▼ Save & Close ▼	
🔽 📻 💌 Ac	tive 🔞 Help

3. In the drop-down list under "Storage Assignment" ②, specify an appropriate item location assignment, naming the item you want to order and the storeroom where the item will be stored once it's delivered. (The options preceding the drop-down list

can reduce the number of items in the list. For example, if you checkmark Use **Pricing or Purchasing history only for the Purchase Order's Vendor**, the dropdown list will only show items you have previously purchased from the vendor, plus ones for which you have a price quote from the vendor.)

- 4. In the drop-down list under "Item Pricing and Purchase History" ④, specify price information for this item from this vendor. (Once you specify a price, MainBoss will fill in "Suggested Text" with a description of the item from the price quote, if the quote contains such text.)
- 5. If you checkmark Use suggested text ④, MainBoss will fill in "Order Line Text" ⑤ with the contents of "Suggested Text". Otherwise, fill in "Order Line Text" with whatever text you want to appear on the purchase order. This should be the vendor's name for the item you want to purchase, possibly including the vendor's catalog number for the item.
- 6. The "Quantity" line contains a number of read-only fields stating the quantity of the given item in the chosen storeroom. The final field, "To Order", gives the quantity required to restock the storeroom up to its specified "Maximum" stock level. If you wish to order this amount, checkmark Use To Order Quantity ⑤. Otherwise, fill in "Quantity" ⑦ with the quantity you want to order.
- The "Calculated Cost" line contains read-only fields stating the cost of the quantity given in "Quantity". If this cost is correct, checkmark Use Calculated Cost ③. Otherwise, enter the real cost in "Cost" ④. If you enter the unit cost, MainBoss automatically calculates the total cost, and vice versa.
- 8. Click **Save & Close** to save the information and close the window. When you return to the previous screen, you'll see the item entered in the purchase order's **Line Items** list.

To add more items, you repeat the same process. If you want to order the same item for two different storerooms, you specify a separate line item record for each storeroom.

The process of adding an entry to pay for services is similar. The following example will use labor paid by the hour ("Hourly Outside" but a similar process can be used for labor paid by the job ("Per Job Outside").

□ To add labor services to a purchase order:

1. In the Line Items section of a purchase order, drop the arrow on New Purchase Item and click New Purchase Hourly Outside. This opens a window where you can add labor costs to the purchase order.

0,	New Purchase Hourly Out	tside – 🗆 🗙					
Line Number							
Purchase Order 🛞 PO	00000003 BATTERIES	••• 💌					
Demand Hourly Outside							
 Only include Demand Only include Demand Do not filter Demands 	 Only include Demands for work specifically from this Purchase Order's Vendor Only include Demands for work that this Purchase Order's Vendor could perform Do not filter Demands based on the Vendor associated with the work 						
Only include demands	s for work previously performed by this ven	dor					
Only include demands	s where quantity demanded exceeds quanti	ty currently ordered					
0		▼ … ▼ €					
Demanded	Already Ordered	Remaining Demand					
Hours							
Demand Hourl	y Outside Hourly Outside Cost						
Demand Hourly Outside H	Hourly Outside Order Line Text 🛛 🛛 🛛						
	🕄 🗌 Use sug	ggested text					
	Order Line Text						
	S Use ren	naining demand as quantity to order					
	Quantity 3	e					
Hours	Hourly Rate	Total Cost					
Calculated Cost							
🕤 🗌 Use d	calculated cost						
Cost		8					
Save & <u>N</u> ew Save	✓ Save & Close ✓						
		💌 🛒 🔻 Active 🖓 Help					

- 2. In "Hourly Outside Demand" ●, specify an appropriate "hourly outside" record, naming the contractor you want to pay and the hourly rate for the contractor's services. (The options preceding the drop-down list can reduce the number of items in the list. For example, if you checkmark Only include demands for work previously performed by this vendor, the drop-down list will only show hourly outside demands that have been used for previous work by this vendor.)
- Once you specify an "Hourly Outside Demand", MainBoss fills in "Demand Hourly Outside Hourly Outside Order Line Text"
 vith any "order line text" in the hourly outside record. If you wish this text to appear on the purchase order,

checkmark Use suggested text ③. Otherwise, fill in "Order Line Text" ④ with the text you want to appear on the purchase order.

- 4. If you want the time specified on the purchase order to be the time given in "Remaining Demand", checkmark Use remaining demand as quantity to order ⑤. Otherwise, fill in "Quantity" ⑥ with the time that you expect the contractor to spend on the work.
- If you want the cost of the work to be the amount that appears in "Calculated Cost", checkmark Use calculated cost ②. Otherwise, fill in "Cost" ③ with the desired cost. (If you fill in "Hourly Cost", MainBoss automatically fills in "Total Cost", and vice versa.)
- 6. Click **Save & Close** to save the information and close the window. When you return to the previous screen, you'll see the work entered in the purchase order's **Line Items** list.

You can also add "miscellaneous" items to a purchase order. For example, you can add sales tax or surcharges for special service. Such costs are represented by "Miscellaneous Items" records.

For some types of costs, you may already have an appropriate Miscellaneous Items record (e.g. if you frequently pay a particular vendor's surcharge for express delivery). Often, however, you have to make up a new record; the cost of sales tax, for example, is likely to be different on every purchase order, so you have to create a new miscellaneous line item each time you add sales tax to a PO.

□ To add miscellaneous costs to a purchase order:

1. In the Line Items section of a purchase order, drop the arrow on New Purchase Item and click New Purchase Miscellaneous Item. This opens a window where you can add miscellaneous costs to the purchase order.

Oa	New Purchase Miscellaneous Item	- 🗆 ×
Line Number Purchase Order (6) PC	00000003 BATTERIES	•••• ▼
Only include Miscel	laneous items previously provided by this vendor	▼ … ▼ €
Miscellaneou Miscellaneous Order Lir	is Cost 2 ne Text 3	
Order Lir Q	ne Text S	+
Quanti Calculated Cost 2 🗍 Use	ty Unit Cost To	otal Cost
Cost Save & <u>N</u> ew Save	 ✓ Save & Close ✓ Close 	
		▼ Active ⊘Help

- 2. In "Miscellaneous" ①, specify an appropriate "miscellaneous item" record that gives the appropriate charge. (If there isn't an existing record for the charge, click the "..." button and create one.) "Miscellaneous Cost" ② and "Order Line Text"
 ③ will be filled in with information from the selected miscellaneous item record.
- If you wish the text in "Order LineText" to appear on the purchase order, checkmark Use suggested text ④. Otherwise, fill in "Order Line Text" ⑤ with the text you want to appear on the purchase order.
- 4. In "Quantity" ^(G), enter the quantity of the miscellaneous item that should appear on the purchase order.
- 5. If you want the cost of the work to be the amount that appears in "Calculated Cost", checkmark Use calculated cost ②. Otherwise, fill in "Cost" ③ with the desired cost. (If you fill in "Unit Cost", MainBoss automatically fills in "Total Cost", and vice versa.)
- 6. Click **Save & Close** to save the information and close the window. When you return to the previous screen, you'll see the charge entered in the purchase order's **Line Items** list.

Printing One or More Purchase Orders

You may print a purchase order at any time. For example, you might print the PO when you complete an initial draft and wish to get authorization from management. You will also print the PO when you are ready to send it to the supplier.

Printing a purchase order is very much like printing a work order. In particular, you can use **Select for Printing** to print a batch of new purchase orders, or you can explicitly specify the numbers of the purchase orders you want to print.

Issuing a Purchase Order

When you are ready to send a purchase order to the supplier, you *issue* the PO. This "locks down" information on the purchase order, to indicate that the purchase order has been finalized and shouldn't be changed anymore.

If you want to change a purchase order after it's been issued, you must *withdraw* it first. In the **Purchase Orders** | **Issued Purchase Orders** viewer, click the purchase order you want to withdraw, click the drop-down arrow on **Close Purchase Order**, then click **Withdraw Purchase Order**.

Details Line Items Assignments Receipts Work Orders State History Number PO 00000001 Summary Plumbing fix Effective Date State Status Current Wednesday, November 26, Draft Required By Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 Image: Comparison of the compar	e Edit Purchase Order : PO 00000001 – 🗖	×
Number P0 00000001 Summary Plumbing fix Effective Date State Current Wednesday, November 26. Draft Required By Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 Vendor Image: DRAIN Property Plumbers Inc. Image: DRAIN Payment Term ASAP IMMEDIATE Image: Draft Shipping Mode Image: Draft Ship To Location Image: Draft Comment To Vendor Image: Draft Comments Image: Draft Image: Draft Image: Draft	Details Line Items Assignments Receiving Receipts Work Orders State History	
Summary Plumbing fix Effective Date State Status Current Wednesday, November 26. Draft Required By Date Wednesday. April 15, 2015 Vendor DRAIN Property Plumbers Inc. VIII VIII VIIII VIIII VIIII VIIII VIIII VIIII VIIII VIIIII VIIII VIIIII VIIII VIIII VIIII VIIIII	Number PO 00000001	
Effective Date State Status Current Wednesday, November 26, Draft Required By Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 Image: Constraint of the status Vendor Image: DRAIN Property Plumbers Inc. Image: Constraint of the status Vendor Image: DRAIN Property Plumbers Inc. Image: Constraint of the status Payment Term ASAP IMMEDIATE Image: Constraint of the status Shipping Mode Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Comments Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Comments Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Comments Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status Image: Constraint of the status I	Summary Plumbing fix	
Current Wednesday, November 26, Draft Required By Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 Vendor DRAIN Property Plumbers Inc. Use payment terms from vendor Payment Term ASAP IMMEDIATE Vendor Shipping Mode Ship To Location Comment To Vendor Comments Select for Printing	Effective Date State Status	
Required By Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015 Vendor Image: Comments Image: Comments Image: Comments Comments Image: Comments Image: Comments Image: Comments	Current Wednesday, November 26, Draft	
Vendor DRAIN Property Plumbers Inc.	Required By Date Wednesday, April 15, 2015	
Use payment terms from vendor Payment Term ASAP Shipping Mode Ship To Location Comment To Vendor Comments V Select for Printing	Vendor DRAIN Property Plumbers Inc.	
Payment Term ASAP IMMEDIATE	Use payment terms from vendor	
Shipping Mode Ship To Location Comment To Vendor	Payment Term ASAP IMMEDIATE	
Comments Select for Printing	Ship To Location	
Comments	Comment To Vendor	
Comments		
Comments	×	
Select for Printing	Comments	
	Select for Printing	
<u>N</u> ew <u>P</u> rint <u>Save</u> ▼ Print & Close <u>Issue</u> ▼ Close ▼ Add Purchase Order Comment	New Print Save Print & Close Issue Add Purchase Order Comme	ent
▼ Image: Ima	▼ Image: Contract of the second s	Help

- \Box To issue a purchase order:
 - 1. Open the purchase order (for example, by starting in the **Purchase Orders** | **Draft Purchase Orders** table viewer, then double-clicking on the entry for the PO).
 - 2. Click **Issue O**.

Recording Item Receipts

When you receive items from a vendor, you should record what you have received. If the vendor's shipment contains items in response to several purchase orders, you create a receipt record for each original purchase order.

□ To record the items in a shipment:

- 1. In the control panel, go to **Purchase Orders** | **Receipts**.
- 2. Click **New Receipt**. MainBoss opens a window where you can record what goods were received:

a ^{ll}	New Receipt	-		×
Details Receipt Activity				
Entry Date	Wednesday, April 15, 2015 4:02:53.26 PM		[•
Purchase Order	0	*	••••	- •
Purchase Order Vendor				
Waybill	0			•
Reference	Θ			
Description	4			
Comments				^
				~
Save & <u>N</u> ew <u>S</u> ave	▼ Save & Close ▼			
		- /	Active	🕜 Help

3. In "**Purchase Order**" **•**, specify the purchase order in which the items were originally ordered.

- 4. In "Waybill" ②, specify an identifier for this receipt. (This is your own internal identifier. It should be unique from all other receipt identifiers.)
- 5. In "**Reference**" **③**, specify any reference code that might be associated with the shipment. (This is typically the identification code specified by the vendor. Different receipts may have the same reference code.)
- 6. In "Description" **4**, provide a description of the shipment.
- 7. Click **Save** to save the record (without closing the window).
- 8. Go to the **Receipt Activity** section of the record. It will show the items specified in the original purchase order:

"D	Edit Recei	pt : Monday, December 1	, 2014 3:03:08.	67 PM : PO 000000	02 – 🗆 🗙
Details Receipt Activity					
Total Receive \$106.00					
Purchase Line Order Line Text	Quan	UOM Cost	Record Type Pu	rchase Item	
	3	EA \$9.00	Line Number		
l L a	2	\$6.00	- Purchase Order -		
Ø	4:00	\$200.00	Number PO 00	000002	
Į.	2	\$132.00	Summary Gener	ating new receipt	
	1	\$100.00	Vendor ELEV		
	1	\$100.00			
			Storage Assignme	ent	
			Item 100W	/	
			Item UOM EA		
			Location B-SU	PPLIES @ BOA	
			Order Line Text		
			Quantity	Unit Cost	Total Cost
The Apply Filter			Cost 3	\$3.0000	\$9.00
	AA				
	999				8
New Save & Next - Save	& Close	ose 💌			
					💌 🛒 🔻 Active 🚷 He

 Click one of the items that was on the original purchase order, then click Receive ③. MainBoss opens a window where you can record information about what was received:

ф ⁹	New Recei	ve Item (with PO)	- 🗆 🗙
Entry Date Wednesday, April 1	5, 2015 4:09:44.82 PM			
Effective Date Wednesday, April 1	5, 2015 4:09:44.82 PM			•
User Contact jagardner				
Purchase Item				
	PO 0000002	100W		••• 🔻
Purchase Order I	PO 0000002			
Purchase Order Vendor	ELEV			
Order Line Text				
Storage Assignment Item	100W			
Storage Assignment Item UOM I	EA			
Storage Assignment Location	B-SUPPLIES @ BOA			
Receipt 12/1/2014	PO 000 ELEV	342		\$106.00 👓 🔻
Storage Assignment 🙆 100W @	B-SUPPLIES @ BOA		0	▼ … ▼
Quantity	Unit Cost		Total C	ost
Ordered 3	\$3.0000		\$9.00	
Already Received 2	\$3.0000		\$6.00	
Order Remaining 1	\$3.0000		\$3.00	
Use order remaining quantity	0			
This Entry		As Correcte	ed	
Quantity 🕑		•		
	Quantity		Unit Cost	Total Cost
Calculated Remaining Order Cost	t			4
Use calculated remaining order cost				
This Entry	r] 6 🦳 🗧 🗧
As Corrected	ł			
From Cost Center Default Account	ts Payable Costs			
To Cost Center Default Item Co	sts			
Save Save & Close Close	•			
				🛒 🔻 Active 🔞 Help

- 10. Check "Storage Assignment" to make sure it specifies where you want the item to be stored. If it doesn't, specify the storage location. (MainBoss initially sets "Storage Assignment" using the storage assignment specified in the original purchase order.)
- 11. The center of the window contains a number of read-only fields which MainBoss fills with information. In particular, the "**Order Remaining**" line displays the quantity originally ordered, minus any quantity of the item that has already been

received. If the value in the "Quantity" column is correct, checkmark Use order remaining quantity 2. Otherwise, fill in "Quantity" 3 with the correct quantity.

- 12. "Calculated Remaining Order Cost" ⁽¹⁾ contains the expected cost of the given quantity of items (based on previous price information). If this is correct, checkmark Use calculated remaining order cost ⁽⁵⁾. Otherwise, fill in "This Entry" ⁽⁶⁾ with the correct cost. (If you fill in "Unit Cost", MainBoss automatically fills in "Total Cost" and vice versa.)
- 13. Click Save & Close to save the information.
- 14. Repeat this process for every item received in the shipment.

Recording the Receipt of Services

Purchase orders can cover labor as well as materials. Whenever you hire an outside contractor to perform services, you should record the cost with a purchase order so that MainBoss retains accurate overall figures on your maintenance expenses.

You record the receipt of services in the same way as you record the receipt of items. Just follow the steps given previously. Some windows will be slightly different—for example, you may be asked to record the amount of time received rather than the quantity—but the processes are still quite similar.

Closing a Purchase Order

You close a purchase order once you have received all the goods originally ordered (or when you have given up on receiving some of the goods and have cancelled any outstanding part of the order). (Note that you can only close an issued purchase order; if the purchase order hasn't been issued yet, you can't close it.)

□ To close an issued purchase order:

- 1. Open the purchase order and review it, making sure all items have been received.
- 2. Click Close Purchase Order.

Appendix A: MainBoss Support from Thinkage Ltd.

When you purchase MainBoss, you receive 30 days of free support, including toll-free phone calls and on-line support via the Internet. We also offer an Annual Support Plan that provides ongoing phone and on-line support. Support Plan Subscribers also receive free updates and one free upgrade per year containing enhancements and new features.

You can contact Thinkage Ltd. at:

Telephone:

1-800-563-0894 (U.S. and Canada) 1-519-895-1860 (outside Canada and the U.S.)

Fax:

1-519-895-1864

Address:

Thinkage Ltd. 85 McIntyre Drive Kitchener, ON N2R 1H6, Canada

Email:

support@mainboss.com

World Wide Web: http://www.mainboss.com

Support through the web site is available on the Services page. This page offers software updates and the most up-to-date list of answers to frequently asked questions, plus a form where you can request online support.

If you have suggestions for improvements to MainBoss, please email us at: suggestions@mainboss.com

INDEX

access codes, 62, 79 Acrobat PDF, 35 active, 14 active filter, 17 actual expenses, 106 actuals, 80 adjusting work orders, 129 adjustment codes, 141 adjustments, 133 physical count, 137 administration accounting, 42 company information, 17, 46 security role, 42 all, 14 assignee, 47 assignment overview, 48 assignments, 7, 47 overview. 48 work orders, 94 attachments, 120 available, 134 bar charts, 38 bar codes, 45 border. 25 buttons, 1 change active filter, 10 change scheduling parameters, 129 chargebacks, 108 activity, 108 deleting, 112 requestors, 108 charts, 38 clear select for printing, 36 closed purchase orders, 144 closed requests, 62

closed work orders, 73 codes, 11 coding definitions, 11 access codes, 62 purchase orders purchase order statuses, 146 requests request priorities, 62 request statuses, 67 requestors, 61 units meters, 123 work orders work order assignees, 95 work order statuses, 74 columns reports, 37 commit, 128 concurrency errors, 29 contacts, 58 control panel, 8 conventions, 1 corrections, 42 costs, 43 customized table settings, 19 cycle audit, 137 cyclical inventory, 138

database, 5 defaults, 12 defective meter readings, 124 deleted records, 14 demand item, 85 demanded cost, 84 demands, 80 details panel, 14 direct requestors, 64 downtime, 113 draft purchase orders, 143

draft work orders, 73 drop-down lists, 26 editors, 24 drop-down lists, 26 errors, 28 Excel, 35, 38 exiting MainBoss, 51 expense categories, 6, 40 expense mappings, 40 expense models, 6, 40 export, 35 export data, 33, 37 exporting data, 35, 38 exporting form customizations, 23 field selection, 31 fields, 1 filtering location, 33 units. 33 filters active, 10, 17 reports, 31 tables, 17 forecasts, 132 form customization, 10, 21 form customizations export, 23 publish, 22 generate, 128 generating PM work orders, 125 help, 49 help menu, 49 index, 49 table of contents, 49 hourly inside, 81 hourly outside, 81 purchase orders, 151 identifier codes, 2

in progress requests, 62 interrelated records, 38 inventory adjustments, 133 cycle audit, 137 cyclical inventory, 138 operations, 134 periodic, 137 perpetual, 137 price quotes, 135 purchasing and receiving, 143 taking inventory, 137 transfers, 142 inventory control, 133 issue codes, 141 issued purchase orders, 143 issues, 141 items, 4, 135 adjustments, 141 issues, 141 price quotes, 135 purchase orders, 149 reports location and status, 138 storeroom assignments, 138 storerooms, 135 keyboard keys, 1 labor forecast, 132 licensed modules, 8 licenses, 8 linked records, 38 locations, 52, 58 filtering, 33 sub locations, 57 MainBoss Service, 71, 119 maintenance forecast, 132 maintenance organizations, 5, 50 maintenance timing, 5 margins, 37 material forecast, 132

materials, 4 menus help, 49 session, 50 meter offsets. 123 meter readings, 122 meters, 120, 121 defective readings, 124 meter offsets, 123 readings, 122 Microsoft Excel, 35, 38 Microsoft Word, 35 miscellaneous items, 153 purchase orders, 153 modules, 8 mouse, 1 new requests, 62 notifications, 7 offsets meters. 123 on hand, 133 on order, 134 on reserve, 85, 133 on-line support, 161 open in new window, 9 open work orders, 73, 98 outside labor, 115 overdue work orders, 74 page setup, 35 paper-size, 37 PDF, 35 per job inside, 81 per job outside, 81 periodic inventory, 137 perpetual inventory, 137 physical counts, 137 planned maintenance, 125 adjusting work orders, 129 generating work orders, 125 postal addresses, 53

preventive maintenance, 125 preview, 33, 34 price quotes, 135 print, 35 work orders. 36 print layout, 35 printers, 37 publish customizations, 22 purchase orders, 6, 47, 48, 147 assignments, 47 bar codes, 45 closed, 144 closing, 160 creating, 146 draft, 143 hourly outside, 151 issued, 143 issuing, 155 items, 149 labor, 151, 160 line items, 148 miscellaneous items, 153 outside contractors, 160 printing, 155 receipts, 157 status codes, 146 withdrawal, 155 work orders, 115 purchasing, 143 quitting MainBoss, 51 re-activate purchase order, 144 receipts, 6, 157 labor, 160 receiving, 143 records, 38 re-draft, 74 reopen, 74 reports, 30 advanced, 32 columns, 37 field selection, 31

filters, 31 item restocking, 142 labor forecast, 132 maintenance forecast, 132 material forecast, 132 planned maintenance, 132 preview, 33, 34 requests, 70 sections, 30 request priorities, 62 requestors, 61 chargebacks, 108 direct, 64 requests, 3, 47, 48, 61, 118 access codes, 62 assignments, 47 bar codes, 45 charts average request duration by grouping, 71 close. 65 closed, 62 codes, 62 creating, 63 edit, 65 in progress, 62, 65, 66, 72, 76 life cycle, 66 new, 62, 66, 76 print, 65 printing, 67 priorities, 62 reports, 70 request history, 70 request state history summary, 71 states, 62 status codes, 67 void, 66 voided, 62 reserve materials, 85 resources, 80 actuals, 80 demands, 80 hourly inside, 81

hourly outside, 81 labor. 81 per job inside, 81 per job outside, 81 restore. 16 security roles, 7, 42 cost-related, 43 select all editable, 13 select for printing, 36 select view, 11 sessions, 50 show compact browsers, 10 show report in columns, 37 specifications, 120 status codes purchase orders, 146 requests, 67 work orders, 74 stock available, 134 storeroom assignments, 5 bar codes, 45 storerooms, 5, 135 bar codes. 45 sub locations, 54, 57 sub-units, 3 summaries, 32 support, 161 suspend, 74 systems, 121 table viewers, 12 sections, 12 selection, 13 tables, 2, 12 customization, 19 filters, 17 multi-select, 23 tasks, 4, 125, 132 temporary storage, 88 temporary storage assignments, 91 timing, 5 tooltip, 49

transfers, 142 unit, 2 unit maintenance plan, 125 unit maintenance plans, 5, 130 generate planned maintenance, 126 tasks, 132 units, 120, 122 bar codes, 45 filtering, 33 meters, 121 void requests, 62 void work orders, 73 W/R, 61 waybills, 144 withdraw purchase order, 143, 155 work orders, 4, 47, 48 actual expenses, 106 actuals, 80 adjusting, 129 assignments, 47, 94 bar codes, 45 basic information, 78 boilerplate, 129 cancelling, 100 chargebacks, 108 closed, 73 closing, 105, 113

closing code, 113 demands, 80, 106 downtime, 113 draft, 73, 97, 99, 100 hourly inside, 81 hourly outside, 81 labor, 80, 81 materials, 85 modifying, 97 open, 73, 74, 98 outside labor, 115 overdue work orders, 74 per job inside, 81 per job outside, 81 personnel, 80 printing, 101 purchase orders, 115 reopen, 74 resources, 80 standard, 129 states, 73 status codes, 74 suspend, 74 temporary storage, 88 temporary storage assignments, 91 transfer to, 93 void, 73 work requests, 3, 61

zoom in on view, 9